University of Sussex

A University of Sussex DPhil thesis

Available online via Sussex Research Online:

http://sro.sussex.ac.uk/

This thesis is protected by copyright which belongs to the author.

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Please visit Sussex Research Online for more information and further details

Investigations into the Biochemical and Cellular Biology of a Cytoplasmic Dynein Mutation, Abnormal Rear Leg (*Arl*)

By

Amelia Philpott (BSc Hons)

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy University of Sussex

September 2010

I hereby declare that this thesis has not been submitted in whole or part to another university for any other degree.

This work is my own, except where stated otherwise.

Amelia Philpott

September 2010

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr Majid Hafezparast for all his support and guidance during this project. I am grateful to Drs Ali Morsi El-Kadi, Wenhan Deng and Violetta Soura for their invaluable help. I am extremely grateful to Professor Viki Allan, who kindly gave me much of her time and expertise during my learning and optimisation of the dynein purification protocol and MT gliding assay. I am also indebted to Professor Rob Cross for generously allowing me to use his VE-DIC microscopy equipment and also offering invaluable advice and guidance. I am also tremendously grateful to all of his lab group for their help, particularly Kase (Dr Kuniyoshi Kaseda) for kindly giving his time to help with the MT gliding assay. I am appreciative of the help and explanations provided to me by Professor Tony Pullen which have helped me to better analyse TEM micrographs and learn new fixation techniques, and to Dr Julian Thorpe for patiently teaching me to use the TEM. I am grateful to Professor Tony Moore for his help with the mitochondrial assays and for allowing me to use his equipment for the assays and mitochondrial preparations. I would like to thank the University of Sussex for providing me with the studentship to allow me to undertake this project. Finally, I would like to thank my family, particularly my parents and David Whitner for all their support and encouragement.

Contents

List of figures and tables Abbreviations Abstract

Chapter I - Introduction

I.1	Motor proteins	1
I.2	Dyneins	1
I.2.1	Cytoplasmic dynein	2
I.2.1.1	Dynein heavy chain	2
I.2.1.2	Dynein accessory chains	7
I.2.2	Dynein in neurons	9
I.3	Dynein regulators and adaptors	11
I.3.1	Dynactin	11
I.3.2	Lis1, NudE and NudEL	16
I.4	Dynein cargos	19
I.4.1	Golgi	19
I.4.2	Mitochondria	20
I.4.3	Endosomes	22
I.4.3.1	Receptor mediated endocytosis	23
I.4.3.1.1	EGF/EGFR endocytosis	24
I.5	Dynein mutations	24
I.5.1	Legs at odd angles (Loa) and Cramping 1 (Cra1)	25
I.5.2	Sprawling (Swl)	28
I.5.3	Motor neuron disease and SOD1	30
I.5.4	Dynein mutations and SOD1	32
I.5.5	Abnormal rear leg (Arl)	35
I.5.6	Arl and SOD1	38
I.5.7	Axonemal dynein mutation	38
I.6	Aims of project	40

Chapter II - Materials and methods

II.1	Buffers and media	41
II.2.1	Genotyping	44
II.2.2	SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting	45
II.2.3	Dynein quantification in brain tissue	46
II.2.4	Dynein quantification in spinal cord tissue	46
II.2.5	Sucrose density gradient analysis	47
II.2.6	Dynein purification	47
II.2.7	Tubulin polymerisation	49
II.2.8	MT gliding assay	49
II.2.9	MT dependent ATPase assay	50
II.2.10	MT binding assay	50
II.3.1	Collection and culture of MEFs	50
II.3.2	Golgi reassembly	51
II.3.3	Endosomal trafficking	51
II.3.4	Endosomal trafficking in live cells	52
II.3.5	Tracking mitochondria in live cells	53
II.3.6	Culturing of motor neurons	54
II.4.1	Perfusion fixation	55
II.4.2	Preparation of mitochondria and O ₂ assay	55

<u>Chapter III - Investigating the effect of the Arl mutation on dynein heavy chain</u> <u>protein</u>

III.1	Introduction	57
III.2	Effect of the mutation on mice	57
III.3	Dynein heavy chain protein	58
III.4	Integrity of the dynein complex	59
III.5	Purifying the dynein complex for analysis of its	60
	function	
III.6	MT gliding assay	62
III.7	MT dependent ATPase assay	63
III.8	MT binding assay	64
III.9	Discussion	65

Chapter IV - Investigating the effect of the *Arl* **mutation on cargo transport**

IV.1	Introduction	70
IV.2	In vitro cell system	71
IV.3	Golgi reassembly	72
IV.4	EGF trafficking in fixed cells	73
IV.5	EGF trafficking in live cells	74
IV.6	Transport of Mitochondria	75
IV.7	Transport of cargo in motor neurons	76
IV.8	Discussion	76

<u>Chapter V - Investigating the effect of the *Arl* mutation on the Golgi apparatus and mitochondria using transmission electron microscopy</u>

V.1	Introduction	78
V. 2	Ultrastructural analysis of Golgi	78
V.3	Ultrastructural analysis of mitochondria	80
V.4	Measuring rates of respiration	81
V.5	Discussion	82

Chapter VI - Final Discussion

VI.1	Summary of data	88
VI.2	Significance of results and conclusions	89
VI.3	Future directions	93

Bibliography	95

Publications	
--------------	--

105

Figures and Tables

<u>Chapter I</u>		
Tables:		
Table 1	Comparisons between Loa and Cra1	28
Figures:		
Figure 1 Figure 2	Schematic of cytoplasmic dynein Diagram showing the arrangement of domains of C- terminus of the heavy chain	2 4
Figure 3	Schematic demonstrating the model for a linker domain in the dynein powerstroke	6
Figure 4 Figure 5	Schematic showing structure of dynactin Schematic of cytoplasmic dynein showing sites of interaction with regulators and adaptors	12 17
<u>Chapter II</u>		
Tables:		
Table 2	Antibodies	44
<u>Chapter III</u>		
Tables:		
Table 3	Motility assay conditions	62
Figures:		
Figure 6	Genotypes of a selection of mice used in this project	58
Figure 7 A and B	Quantification of DHC in brain and spinal cord tissue from WT and <i>Arl</i> /+ mice	59
Figure 8	Western blot of sucrose density gradient	60
Figure 9	Western blots of WT and <i>Arl/</i> + dynein complex from dynein isolation	60
Figure 10	Coomassie gels of WT and <i>Arl/</i> + dynein complex from dynein isolation	61
Figure 11 A and B	Graphs showing average motility speeds from MT gliding assays	62
Figure 12	Summary of ATP/NADH coupled assay	64

Figure 13 A and B	Binding of dynein to MTs in WT and <i>Arl/+</i> , western blot and graph	65
<u>Chapter IV</u>		
Figures:		
Figure 14	Golgi reassembly after disruption with NZ in WT, <i>Loa/+</i> , <i>Arl/+</i> and <i>Arl/Loa</i> MEFs	72
Figure 15 A and B	Quantification of Golgi reassembly after disruption with NZ in WT, <i>Loa/+</i> , <i>Arl/+</i> and <i>Arl/Loa</i> MEFs, graph and table	73
Figure 16	Endosomal trafficking chase of Alexa Fluor 555 conjugated EGF in WT, <i>Loa/+</i> , <i>Arl/+</i> and <i>Arl/Loa</i> MEFs	73
Figure 17	Graph showing number of EGF positive vesicles remaining in WT, <i>Loa/+</i> , <i>Arl/+</i> and <i>Arl/Loa</i> MEFs after indicated timepoints	74
Figure 18 A and B	Endosomal trafficking chase of Alexa Fluor 555 conjugated EGF in WT, and <i>Arl/</i> + MEFs, and trajectories	75
Figure 19	Quantification of speed of endosome movement in WT and <i>Arl</i> /+ MEFs	75
Figure 20	Still frames from movies showing movement of mitochondria in WT and <i>Arl</i> /+ MEFs	75
Figure 21	Graph showing mean mitochondrial speeds in WT and <i>Arl/</i> + MEFs	76
<u>Chapter V</u>		
Figures:		
Figure 22	TEM micrographs showing Golgi structure in WT and $Arl/+$ cells	79
Figure 23	Graph of quantification of number of mitochondria in cell body of WT and <i>Arl/</i> + neuronal cells	80
Figure 24	Graph showing average neuron soma diameter in WT and <i>Arl</i> /+ spinal cord neurons	80
Figure 25	TEM micrographs of mitochondria in WT and <i>Arl/</i> + neuronal cells	81
Figure 26	Graph showing O_2 consumption of WT and $Arl/+$ mitochondria	82

Chapter VI

Figures:

Figure 27	Flow chart of suggested effects of mutation on dynein structure and function	90
Figure 28	Diagram showing suggested effects of mutation on dynein structure	91

Abbreviations

AAA	ATPase associated with various cellular activities
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AMP.PNP	Adenylyl-imidodiphosphate, tetralithium salt
AP	Adaptor protein
Arl	Abnormal rear leg
Arp	Actin related protein
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BDNF	Brain derived neurotrophic factor
BFP	Blue fluorescent protein
BICD	Bicaudal D
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAP-Gly	Cytoskeleton-associated protein, Glycine rich
CC1	Coiled-coil chain 1 of dynein stalk
CC2	Coiled-coil chain 2 of dynein stalk
ССР	Clathrin coated pit
CHAPS	3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate
CLIP-170	CAP-Gly domain containing linker protein 170
Cral	Cramping 1
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DHC	Dynein heavy chain 1
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagles medium
Dnah11	Axonemal dynein heavy chain 11
DRG	Dorsal root ganglion
Drp1	Dynamin related protein
DTT	Dithiothreitol
Dync1h1	Dynein heavy chain gene 1
E13	Embryonic age day 13
EB1	MT end binding protein 1
EDL	Extensor digitorum longus muscle
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetracetic acid
EEA1	Early endosomal antigen 1
Eg5	Kinesin 5 family member
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	EGF receptor
EGTA	Ethyleneglycol tetracetic acid
EM	Electron microscopy
ENU	N-ethyl-N-nitrosurea
ETC	Electron transport chain
GARS	Glycyl-tRNA synthetase
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate

HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HSP	Hereditary spastic paraplegia
IC	Dynein intermediate chain
IFT	Intraflagella transport
iv	situs inversus viscerum
LC	Dynein light chain
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LIC	Dynein light intermediate chain
Lis1	Lissencephaly 1
Loa	Legs at odd angle
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
MFN	Mitofusin
MND	Motor neuron disease
MOM	Mitochondrial outer membrane
MOPS	3-(N-morpholino)propanesulfonic acid
MT	Microtubule
MTBD	Microtubule binding domain
MVB	Multivesicular body
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NCV	Nerve conductance velocity
NF	Neurofilament
NudE	Nuclear distribution protein E
NudEL	NudE-like
NZ	Nocodazole
OPA1	Optic atrophy 1
p150 ^{Glued}	Dynactin subunit
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PBSG	PBS containing gelatin from coldwater fish skin
PCD	Primary ciliary diskinesia
PEP	Phosphoenolpyruvate
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PIPES	piperazine-N,N'-bis(2-ethanesulfonic acid)
РК	Pyruvate kinase
RILP	Rab interacting lysosomal protein
SB	Sample buffer
SBMA	Spinal bulbar muscular atrophy
SDH	Succinate dehydrogenase
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SDS-PAGE	SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SMA	Spinal muscular atrophy
SOD1	Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase 1
SOD1 ^{G93A}	Mutant SOD1
Swl	Sprawling
ТА	Tibialis anterior muscle

TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TfR	Transferrin receptor
TGN	Trans-Golgi network
TMPD	N,N,N',N'-tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine
Tris	Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane
Trk	Tropomyosin-receptor kinase
VDAC	Voltage dependent anion selective channel
VE-DIC	Video enhanced differential interference contrast microscopy
vi	Vanadate
WD repeat	Tryptophan-aspartate repeat
WT	Wildtype
βΙΙΙ	Golgi specific spectrin isoform
$\Delta \psi$	Membrane potential

University of Sussex

Amelia Philpott

DPhil

Investigations into the Biochemical and Cellular Biology of a Cytoplasmic Dynein Mutation, *Abnormal Rear Leg (Arl)*

Abstract

The aim of this project was to investigate the effects of a novel mouse cytoplasmic dynein mutation; Abnormal rear leg (Arl). Cytoplasmic dynein is a microtubule (MT) based motor protein important for diverse cellular processes including Golgi maintenance and retrograde transport of organelles. Arl is a mouse point mutation in the heavy chain subunit of dynein (Dync1h1). Homozygous Dync1h1^{Arl/Arl} die at embryonic day 10. $Dync1h1^{Arl/+}$ heterozygotes have a normal life span, but exhibit abnormal gait and hindlimb clasping during tail suspension, typical of neuronal dysfunction. Protein purification from wildtype and heterozygous brain tissue showed increased MT binding in *Dync1h1*^{Arl/+} compared to wildtype. Delayed endosomal trafficking was observed in EGF stimulated Dync1h1^{Arl/+} mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) compared to wildtype, in both fixed cells and using live cell imaging. Similarly, a delay in the reassembly of the Golgi complex after disruption with a MT depolymerisation agent, nocodazole, was observed in Dync1h1^{Arl/+} MEFs compared to wildtype. In addition, the Golgi complex was observed as being structurally perturbed in *Dync1h1*^{*Arl*/+} lumbar spinal cord neurons using transmission electron microscopy (TEM) compared to the wildtype. TEM also revealed that the mitochondria were structurally perturbed in Dync1h1^{Arl/+} lumbar spinal cord neurons compared to wildtype, and O₂ consumption assays investigating their function showed the $Dync1h1^{Arl/+}$ mitochondria to have increased respiration rates compared to wildtype. Thus, these data highlight the Arl mouse as an invaluable model for studying the mechanism of dynein function and the subsequent outcomes when they are compromised.

CHAPTER I

Chapter I

INTRODUCTION

I.1 Motor Proteins

The often large size and complex organisation of eukaryotic cells requires a system of efficient directed transport. This transport is provided by motor proteins that power the movements of subcellular components such as organelles and chromosomes. Movement is along the two polarised cytoskeletal fibres - actin filaments and microtubules.

There are three families of motor proteins; myosins, kinesins and dyneins. Kinesins and dyneins move along MTs, with kinesins mainly moving towards the plus ends (anterograde transport) and the majority of dyneins moving towards the minus end (retrograde transport). Most myosins move along actin filaments towards the barbed, plus end.

I.2 Dyneins

There are two classes of dyneins - axonemal dyneins are responsible for the movements of cilia and flagella, while cytoplasmic dyneins are involved in a number of processes, for example, transport of organelles, nuclear migration and mitosis.

Cytoplasmic dynein has two forms, designated as cytoplasmic dynein 1 and 2. Cytoplasmic dynein 2 is involved in retrograde intraflagella transport (IFT), a process required for assembly and maintenance of lower eukaryotic cilium/flagellum, first identified in *Chlamydomonas* (Pazour, Dickert et al. 1999; Porter, Bower et al. 1999). It is now also well established in the generation and maintenance of mammalian cilia (Grissom, Vaisberg et al. 2002; Mikami, Tynan et al. 2002; Perrone, Tritschler et al. 2003). Cytoplasmic dynein 1 is the more abundant of the two complexes and is responsible for multiple activities such as transport of organelles, chromosome segregation and positioning of Golgi apparatus.

<u>I.2.1 Cytoplasmic dynein</u> <u>I.2.1.1 Dynein Heavy Chain</u>

Dyneins are members of the AAA family (<u>A</u>TPase <u>a</u>ssociated with various cellular <u>a</u>ctivities) of ATPases (Neuwald, Aravind et al. 1999). They consist of extremely large heavy chains of more than 500kDa each. The C terminal 380kDa fragment contains the motor domain with the C terminal 2350 residues forming 6 linked AAA modules (AAA1-AAA6) each 35-40kDa in a ring structure. There is also thought to be a seventh domain, C terminal to AAA6 which is not an AAA module. When a truncated motor domain was engineered without the C terminal sequence, the overall motor domain structure under EM was mainly unchanged and no gap was left in the ring, which would be expected if it were a heptameric ring structure (Roberts, Numata et al. 2009). The ring consisting of the six AAA modules forms the globular head of dynein. Between the AAA4 and AAA5 modules, the dynein heavy chain forms a rod-like loop with a small, globular, ATP-sensitive microtubule-binding site at the tip. The stalk, or the stem, is formed by an anti-parallel coil of the folded back heavy chain and can be up to 15nm in length (Gee, Heuser et al. 1997).



Figure 1. Schematic of cytoplasmic dynein.

Schematic diagram of cytoplasmic dynein showing dimerised heavy chains and sites of accessory chain binding. Adapted from (Vale 2003). LIC refers to light intermediate chain, IC refers to intermediate chain and LC refers to light chain of the dynein complex.

The N terminal 1800 residues form a tail that interacts with accessory chains and cargo. Modules 1 to 4 bind ATP, but only AAA1, nearest the N terminus, hydrolyses ATP during the interactions with microtubules that generate movement (Gibbons, Lee-Eiford et al. 1987; Ogawa 1991; Gee, Heuser et al. 1997). The other domains may regulate the ATPase cycle at AAA1. These four modules contain a highly conserved Walker A motif, also called a P loop, and a Walker B motif.

Walker motifs are 3 different, non-contiguous stretches of sequence known as Walker A, B and C that bind phosphates and are found in a number of ATP- and GTP-binding proteins. Walker A defines the binding site for the triphosphate and is important in the removal of the γ -phosphate of ATP during hydrolysis, and the B and C motifs interact with the base of the nucleotide (Gee, Heuser et al. 1997; Petsko and Ringe 2004). Evidence of a functional role for the first P loop came from molecular dissection of cytoplasmic dyneins in which mutation of the P loop caused loss of their motor activities (Silvanovich, Li et al. 2003). Dyneins have a high affinity for ADP bound to vanadate (vi), which can absorb light in the UV region. Illumination of dynein bound to ADP-vi causes a break in the heavy chain near the AAA1 domain (Vallee and Hook 2006). When the AAA1 was destroyed through UV photocleavage, most of the ATPase activity of the dynein was lost (Gibbons, Lee-Eiford et al. 1987). It is thought that the other P loops have a regulatory role binding either ATP or ADP. Removal of the extreme C-terminal portion of the heavy chain eliminates the AAA1 photocleavage by vanadate, suggesting the AAA ring needs to be intact to function fully (Gee, Heuser et al. 1997).

More recently, Reck-Peterson and Vale have used systematic mutagenesis of nucleotide binding sites in the non-essential *DYN1* gene of budding yeast to elucidate the functions of the individual AAA nucleotide binding sites. They showed that AAA2 and AAA4 can be made hydrolysis-incompetent without affecting function, but ATP hydrolysis is required in AAA1 and AAA3 for dynein function. Nucleotide binding at AAA2 and AAA4 is needed for maximal levels of MT binding *in vitro* (Reck-Peterson and Vale 2004).

In cytoplasmic dynein the MT binding domain at the end of the stalk is far away from the site of ATP hydrolysis in the AAA ring. This is in contrast to both myosins and kinesins, where the nucleotide binding site and filament binding site are relatively close together, allowing direct communication. In dynein this may be dealt with by the ATPase activity affecting the MT binding through conformational changes in adjacent AAA domains that are passed around the ring structure.



Figure 2. Diagram showing arrangement of domains of C terminal of the heavy chain. Diagram showing the arrangement of the AAA domains, stalk and MTBD in the C-terminus of DHC. From (Roberts, Numata et al. 2009).

Another suggestion of how MT-binding affinity could be affected by ATP-hydrolysis and/or the powerstroke which occurs from the stem, comes from axonemal dyneins. In the axoneme, the globular heads appear to rotate during the mechanochemical cycle (Goodenough and Heuser 1984). Thus, if the powerstroke of cytoplasmic dynein contained a rotary and linear component, the rigid MT-binding stalk would dramatically change its orientation in relation to the MT axis. This could disrupt the interaction with the MT and cause a significant change in the affinity of the dynein stalk for the MT (King 2000).

Gibbons et al (Gibbons, Garbarino et al. 2005) have suggested that the alignment of the two strands of the coiled-coil, CC1 and CC2, directly affects the affinity of the MT binding domain (MTBD) for MTs. In using a number of expressed fragments that contained different lengths of the coiled-coils, which placed them out of alignment, the authors were able to show that only one conformation gave maximum MT binding, one

other gave intermediate binding, whilst all others showed greatly reduced affinity. A model for how the coiled-coil stalk mediates "communication" between the ATP binding site and the MTBD proposes a small sliding movement between CC1 and CC2, changing the alignment and therefore the MTBD affinity for MTs.

The "powerstroke mechanism" has become the generally accepted model for force generation in cytoplasmic dynein. Using EM analysis of axonemal dynein, it has been proposed that the dynein tail assumes two different positions relative to the head - the prestroke or primed and poststroke or unprimed positions - depending on the binding of the nucleotides at the head (Imamula, Kon et al. 2007; Roberts, Numata et al. 2009). Burgess et al (Burgess, Walker et al. 2003) have shown that the stem and stalk are closer together in dynein-apo (136°) than dynein-ADP-vi molecules (160°). As there was negligible change in the length of either the stalk or stem, it appeared the change in their relative distances must be due to translational movement between the two domains. The tail therefore acts as a lever arm for the powerstroke due to conformational changes originating in the head. Movement of the stalk in cytoplasmic dynein has also been seen to be nucleotide dependent, with a shift of 5nm in a clockwise direction upon nucleotide binding (Roberts, Numata et al. 2009).

Whilst using a rare, long-stemmed form of axonemal dynein, termed dynein-c, it was noticed that there was often a sharp, approximately 90° bend in the stem which corresponded to the position of the bend normally seen in typical molecules. A previously unnoticed structure was seen between the bend and the head, of approximately 10nm in length and a width similar to the neck of 2 nm (Burgess, Walker et al. 2003). This structure was termed the linker and suggested to undergo a swinging movement across the head, depending on nucleotide binding, thus facilitating the powerstroke.

Evidence for a linker domain in cytoplasmic dynein has recently been proposed. To determine if a linker exists in cytoplasmic dynein, the function of the top of the stem was investigated. A truncation construct of *Dictyostelium discoideum* that lacks 542 residues N terminal to the AAA1 (Δ N) was engineered. This region is known to be essential for motor activity. Using negative stain EM, removal of the N terminal sequence changed the shape of the ring structure of the head, causing it to become more

symmetrical in shape with well defined "wedge-shaped" domains (Roberts, Numata et al. 2009). Fusion proteins were also constructed, in which GFP and BFP were inserted at specific locations in the motor domain sequence, including the N terminal region at residue 1383, allowing the location of the N terminal to be mapped by EM. In unprimed motor the N terminal region tag was consistently found close to the periphery of the head near the base of the stalk at AAA4, which is close to the tail-linker junction in axonemal dynein-c, suggesting that a similar linker exists in cytoplasmic dynein. When ATP and vanadate were added to form the primed conformation, the N terminal tag shifted towards AAA2 by a distance of approximately 16-18 nm. Based on this, a model is proposed where the linker portion of the N terminal is closest to AAA2 when ATP is bound to the motor (prestroke or primed conformation) then, during the powerstroke the linker swings across the head towards AAA4 pulling cytoplasmic dynein forwards, resulting in the post-stroke conformation (Roberts, Numata et al. 2009).



Figure 3. Schematic demonstrating the model for a linker domain in dynein powerstroke.

The 6 AAA domains form a ring, with a 7th non-AAA domain, here shown in shaded black. The purple domain represents the linker which is positioned across the motor head from AAA1 (blue) to AAA4 (yellow) when in the unprimed position. This linker domain moves down across the ring towards AAA2 (light blue) in the primed conformation, thus causing the N-terminus of DHC to move by ~17 nm [From (Roberts, Numata et al. 2009)].

To investigate step size, Mallik et al (Mallik, Carter et al. 2004), used purified dynein bound to beads. The beads allowed the position of the motor head to be tracked during the experiment. An optical trap was used to determine the force exerted by dynein based on the distance moved at different stiffness of the trap. It was found that the size of the step taken by dynein is dependent on the cargo load. At low load, dynein took steps of 24 - 32 nm. However, under high load (>0.8 pN) the step size measured was 8 nm. This suggests that dynein can act as a molecular gear where nucleotide binding at AAA1-AAA4 leads to a "tighter" conformation of the AAA ring, which results in a smaller, but stronger dynein step. Kinesin takes 8 nm steps, so under low load, the 32 nm steps taken by dynein suggest that dynein can be four times more efficient, in terms of ATP usage, at transporting cargo, compared to kinesin (Mallik, Carter et al. 2004).

I.2.1.2 Dynein Accessory Chains

At the N-terminal base of the heavy chain stems there are a number of accessory chains. These comprise a number of intermediate, light intermediate and light chains. At least 10 genes are known to encode the components of the dynein complex (King, Bonilla et al. 2002).

The intermediate chains are 70-74kDa polypeptides that are encoded by 2 genes, *Dync1i1* (encoding DYNC1I1, from this point onwards referred to as IC1) and *Dync1i2* (encoding DYNC1I2, from this point onward represented as IC2), which undergo much splicing and phosphorylation to produce a number of structural isoforms. Nurminsky et al have shown, using Drosophila, that there are at least 10 structural isoforms of IC produced by alternative splicing from one IC gene, and that the splicing is tissue specific. The variation in structure of the isoforms is specific to the N-terminus of the IC, where it interacts with dynactin, the dynein activator, suggesting differences in the dynactin-mediated organelle binding by IC isoforms (Nurminsky, Nurminskaya et al. 1998).

More recently, Kuta (Kuta, Deng et al. 2010), have reported new splice isoforms for both IC genes and detailed the expression of isoforms in a range of mouse embryonic and adult tissues. Their data corroborates the theory that alternative splicing of the N- terminus of ICs is important for dynein function. Neural specific isoforms identified indicate that specialised regulation may occur in neurons.

The conserved N-terminus of IC interacts with dynactin (King, Bonilla et al. 2002) while the C-terminus contains multiple WD repeats that are thought to fold into a β -propeller structure. This predicted domain is conserved between all ICs (cytoplasmic and axonemal) and is thought to play a part in subunit-subunit interactions with the dynein molecule (Paschal, Mikami et al. 1992; King, Bonilla et al. 2002).

The light intermediate chains are 52-61 kDa polypeptides with 2 genes *Dync1li1* (encoding DYNC1LI1, referred to from now as LIC1) and *Dync1li2* (encoding DYNC1LI2, referred to now as LIC2), which through alternative splicing give rise to at least seven isoforms. The LIC chains bind directly to the heavy chain and are thought to interact with cargos, as LIC1 chains have been shown to directly interact with pericentrin, a centrosomal protein. This suggests LICs may have a cargo targeting function (Tynan, Gee et al. 2000).

Studies performed in COS7 cells have demonstrated that LICs bind directly to the N-terminus of the HCs, adjacent to and overlapping with the IC binding site. No direct interaction has been seen, but both ICs and LICs are present in the same complexes, suggesting that LICs and ICs need to be independently located on DHC to allow necessary interactions with other proteins, but without sterically interfering with each other (Tynan, Gee et al. 2000).

The light chains (referred to from now as LC) are 10-13 kDa polypeptides, thought to be encoded by three gene families and currently accepted to contain 6 different genes (See refs included in (Banks, Bros-Facer et al. 2009). The gene families are, Tctex1 (t), Roadblock (rb) and LC8 (l). Current evidence suggests that LCs are common to cytoplasmic and some axonemal dyneins (King, Bonilla et al. 2002), therefore they are designated as: *Dynlt1* (referred to as Tctex1), *Dynlt3* (rp3), *Dynlrb1* (Robl1), *Dynrb2* (Robl2), *Dynll1* (LC8-1) and *Dynll2* (LC8-2) (Pfister, Fisher et al. 2005). However, some variation in nomenclature still exists.

Both Tctex-1 and LC8 have very similar structures and are homodimers in solution (King, Bonilla et al. 2002). They both bind ICs at non-overlapping sites that have sequence homology. Tctex-1 has some role in cargo binding as it has been shown to directly interact with retinal opsin and is needed for correct opsin localisation (Tai et al 2001). LC8 interacts with a number of other polypeptides, but these have not yet been confirmed as definite cargos of dynein.

Different isoforms of the dynein complex may exist, as components of the complex are differentially expressed in different tissues. This suggests that dynein complexes consisting of different combinations of subunits may exist (Vaughan and Vallee 1995; Vaisberg, Grissom et al. 1996; King, Barbarese et al. 1998). The variety in composition of dynein sub-complexes may allow for the large range of cargos that it binds and transports.

I.2.2 Dynein in neurons

Co-ordinated active transport systems are extremely important in neurons due to their enormous size in comparison to other somatic cells. Neurons are numerous in size and shape, but can have tremendously long axons and the neuronal cytoskeleton is exceptionally important in maintaining the specialised and polarised morphology necessary for their proper functioning.

The neuronal cytoskeleton is comprised of networks similar to those in non-neuronal cells, such as actin filaments and MTs, but also contains specialised intermediate filaments known as neurofilaments. The actin filaments are important during development for axonal outgrowth and cell motility, and in mature neurons for integrity of the cell. Actin filaments can also provide tracks for short range movement by myosins for distribution of vesicles and organelles. The MTs are essential to maintain the processes that extend from the cell and to provide polarity, distinguishing axonal and dendritic areas of the neuron, as well as providing tracks for kinesins and dynein to move along. Neurofilaments (NFs) are necessary for resistance to stress and cell integrity and accumulate as the neuron matures (Levy and Holzbaur 2006).

In neurons anterograde movement, mainly by kinesins, transports newly synthesised synaptic vesicles and proteins, and organelles from the cell body along the axon to areas where they are needed, such as the synapse. Retrograde transport, predominantly by dynein, is responsible for translocating cargo from the cell periphery and distal axon back to the cell centre, often for degradation and recycling.

Retrograde signaling in neurons is very important and the dynein/dynactin complex plays a key role in transporting neurotrophic factors from the synapse to the cell body. Neurotrophins are a family of small molecules, such as nerve growth factor (NGF), brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and neurotrophin-4 (NF-4), that are secreted by target tissues, then bind to receptor tyrosine kinases (Trk receptors) on the surface of the neuron. The neurotrophin/Trk receptor complex is then internalized and transported by dynein to the cell centre, beginning signalling cascades that regulate growth and survival (Levy and Holzbaur 2006). When dynein function was blocked in cultured sensory neurons, the transport of activated Trk receptors was inhibited, demonstrating dynein is required (Heerssen, Pazyra et al. 2004).

Degradation and recycling of misfolded or degraded proteins is particularly important in neurons as many neurodegenerative diseases have been linked to defective accumulation of protein aggregates. Dynein has been established as the motor responsible for transporting proteins back to the cell body for lysosomal degradation or autophagy (Burkhardt, Echeverri et al. 1997; Levy and Holzbaur 2006).

Because of the unique size and morphology of neurons, anterograde and retrograde transport systems are extremely important. This makes neurons acutely sensitive to defects in, or disruption to, motor proteins, but particularly dynein as the predominant retrograde motor.

I.3 Dynein regulators and adaptors I.3.1 Dynactin

Dynactin is a multisubunit complex, required for most, if not all, types of cytoplasmic dynein activity in eukaryotes (Schroer 2004). It binds dynein and allows the motor to move long distances along the MTs.

The dynactin complex consists of 11 different polypeptide subunits, some of which are present in more than one copy, resulting in a 1.2 MDa, 20S complex with more than 20 polypeptide chains (Schroer 2004). It consists of 2 morphologically distinct domains - a rod shaped domain that binds cargo, and an extended arm projection that binds MTs and dynein (Kim, Ling et al. 2007).

The rod part of the dynactin molecule is a $\sim 10x40$ nm rod that resembles a short actin filament. It is an octameric polymer of Arp1 - the actin related protein. Arp1 filaments are very stable, short and of uniform length, meaning they are far less dynamic than conventional actin. On one end of the Arp1 rod is the conventional actin capping protein, CapZ, and on the other end is another actin related protein, Arp11, and the dynactin subunit p62 (Schroer 2004).

P62 primary sequence predicts a 53 kDa protein with a zinc-binding motif near the N-terminus. These motifs usually allow protein-protein interactions, so the N-terminus of p62 may be involved in binding to Arp1, Arp11, other dynactin subunits, or to other subcellular structures. Its loss from the complex does not, however, affect the stability of dynactin (Lee, Kumar et al. 2001). P62 and Arp11 associate with the two smallest dynactin subunits, p25 and p27, forming a heterotetrameric complex that is positioned at the end of the Arp1 rod, opposite CapZ (Schroer 2004).

The components of the rod - Arp1, Arp11, p62, p25, p27, and CapZ are more highly conserved, in comparison to the arm projection of dynactin, and therefore may have important structural roles (Schroer 2004).

The arm structure that projects from the Arp rod is both flexible and extendable and consists of 3 subunits: $p150^{Glued}$, dynamitin (p50) and p24/22, with each dynactin

molecule containing 4 copies of dynamitin and 2 copies each of $p150^{Glued}$ and p24/22 (Schroer 2004). Based on the sequences, all three polypeptides are predicted to form α -helices with coiled-coils responsible for the interactions between the subunits.





Schematic illustration of dynactin showing the arrangement and structure of the subunits in the complex. The structure and arrangement of dynactin have been inferred from EM studies and results combined from published results [From (Schroer 2004)].

Of all the dynactin subunits, p150^{Glued} is the largest and is thought to form an elongated dimer containing 2 central coiled-coils (~50 and ~20nm long respectively), with regions of unknown structure in between. At the tip of the dynactin arm are 2 globular heads which contain a conserved CAP-Gly (cytoskeleton-associated protein, glycine rich) domain, which is at the far N-terminus (aa1-110) (Schroer 2004).

The CAP-Gly motif is important for MT binding, which is necessary for dynactin to enhance the processivity of dynein. This is demonstrated through the use of antibodies against the CAP-Gly domain which have been shown to abolish dynactin's ability to increase the run length of dynein coated beads (King and Schroer 2000). Truncation of p150 polypeptides have also been used to demonstrate that only fragments containing the CAP-Gly domain are able to bind to MTs (Culver-Hanlon, Lex et al. 2006).

Dynactin enhancement of dynein transport over long distances is necessary for proper neuronal function, indicating the importance of dynactin.

Apart from MTs, the CAP-Gly domain also binds proteins such as the MT plus-end binding proteins EB1 and CLIP-170. It is currently not known if p150^{Glued} binds both MTs and associated binding proteins at the same time, or only one at a time, which could suggest that the binding of associated proteins offers some form of regulation of dynactin. This could be through either the promotion of enhancement of processivity, or binding of plus ends possibly to anchor the MTs (Schroer 2004).

Another form of regulation may come from phosphorylation. $p150^{Glued}$ affinity for MTs is reduced by phosphorylation of $p150^{Glued}$ at S19, suggesting that protein kinases can associate with and affect the activity of the CAP-Gly domain (Vaughan, Miura et al. 2002).

The N-terminal third of $p150^{Glued}$, past the CAP-Gly motif (aa~220-550), is predicted to form an α -helical coiled-coil of approx. 50 nm length. As the well defined arm of dynactin is known to be 24 nm in length, it suggests that the C-terminal half (aa~380-550) of the arm is involved in the flexible shoulder located on top of the Arp rod (Schroer 2004).

The middle part of $p150^{Glued}$ is involved with binding dynein, as an antibody to the $p150^{Glued}$ subunit blocks binding of dynein to dynactin, demonstrating that this region is important for binding (Waterman-Storer, Karki et al. 1997). Also, a 123 aa fragment of DIC has been shown to bind a recombinant fragment of $p150^{Glued}$ (aa 150-811) (Vaughan and Vallee 1995). Vaughan et al found a serine residue (S84) in DIC that is thought to regulate, via phosphorylation, the ability of DIC to bind to $p150^{Glued}$ (Vaughan, Leszyk et al. 2001).

 $p150^{Glued}$ has been shown to interact with members of the kinesin family - $p150^{Glued}$ aa 410-811 binds Eg5 and aa 600-811 binds kinesin II, suggesting $p150^{Glued}$ may allow dynactin to interact with multiple MT based motors.

The C-terminal third of $p150^{Glued}$ (aa ~900-1300) is less well defined than the Nterminal region, but seems to allow a number of protein-protein interactions. It is also proposed to play a role in linking the arm to the rod of dynactin, as it contains a conserved actin-binding motif which has been suggested to bind to the Arp1 filament. In addition, a mutation in Drosophila of the Glued gene product (which has sequence homology and functional similarities with $p150^{Glued}$) in a region that corresponds with the C-terminal third of $p150^{Glued}$ results in it not binding to the complex (McGrail, Gepner et al. 1995). This suggests that the C-terminal region of $p150^{Glued}$ is important for attachment of the arm projection to the Arp rod in dynactin.

Also important for linking the arm to the Arp rod is dynamitin (p50). In each dynactin molecule there are four subunits of dynamitin which are thought to tightly associate with each other and p24/22 via 3 coiled coils, forming the shoulder of dynactin. P24/22 is one of the smallest subunits of dynactin at only 21 kDa and is thought to be α -helical in structure (Karki, LaMonte et al. 1998). The dynamitin-p24 complex interacts with p150^{Glued} and components of the Arp rod to hold the complex together (Maier, Godfrey et al. 2008). Free dynamitin disrupts the structure, displacing p150^{Glued} and p24/22 from dynactin and leaving the remaining structure non-functional (Echeverri, Paschal et al. 1996). This demonstrates that dynamitin is essential in maintaining the structure of dynactin.

There are a number of theories suggesting how dynactin might aid the function of dynein. A number of studies have shown dynactin is involved in binding to some cargos, such as Arp1 binding to β III, a Golgi specific spectrin isoform (Holleran, Ligon et al. 2001). Bicaudal D (BICD) is a protein involved in Golgi-ER transport and has binding sites for both dynein and dynamitin. Also, the BICD binding partner, Rab6 binds to p150^{Glued} (Short, Preisinger et al. 2002) suggesting Rab6 may function as a tethering or specificity factor controlling the recruitment of dynactin to membranes. Rab7 and its effector protein Rab interacting lysosomal protein, RILP, recruit the dynein/dynactin complex to late endosomes and lysosomes, allowing their transport to the –end of MTs. When this interaction is blocked, it results in late endosomes being transported towards the cell periphery by kinesin. A direct interaction between dynein/dynactin and Rab7 or RILP has not been identified, but it suggests the existence

of a linker protein that mediates the association of the two complexes with each other (Jordens, Marsman et al. 2005).

Another proposed function of dynactin is in increasing the processivity of dynein along MTs. It has been shown that dynactin does increase the processivity of dynein, through increasing the run length of coated beads, but without affecting the velocity or ATPase kinetics of dynein (King and Schroer 2000). The MT binding activity of dynactin is required for the increased processivity which indicates that dynactin aids processivity by providing an extra contact with MTs, reducing the risk of detachment from the MT (King and Schroer 2000).

Further investigations into dynactin's MT binding found that there are two MT binding domains in p150^{Glued}- the CAP-Gly domain and a previously unknown basic region in the N-terminus. This basic region binds to MTs, even in the absence of the CAP-Gly domain and is sufficient to increase processivity of dynein by demonstrating a "skating" behaviour along MTs (Culver-Hanlon, Lex et al. 2006). This suggests that the two different MT binding domains in p150^{Glued} may play different roles in aiding dynein's movement, with the basic domain maintaining contact between dynein, cargo and MTs, and the CAP-Gly domain allowing stable biding of MTs at the plus end to allow loading of cargo (Culver-Hanlon, Lex et al. 2006).

A recent study by Ross et al (Ross, Wallace et al. 2006) has suggested that dynactin may play a role in the directionality of dynein. The movement of GFP tagged dynein/dynactin complexes along MTs was tracked by single-molecule fluorescent microscopy. The data suggests that dynactin may allow reversals in dynein's movement as significant plus-end directed motion was detected in addition to the expected minus-end directed movement (Ross, Wallace et al. 2006). However, a more recent study by Kardon et al, using yeast, suggests that although the dynein/dynactin complex is more processive than dynein alone, it does not increase the plus-end directed movement (Kardon, Reck-Peterson et al. 2009). These differences may result from dynactin having different roles depending on its cargo, or simply from differences between mammalian and yeast dynactin.

I.3.2 Lis1, NudE and NudEL

A number of proteins have been found to interact with dynein, and studies have shown them to be necessary for its proper functioning, suggesting them to be adaptors or regulators of dynein. Lissencephaly 1 (Lis1) is a protein that directly interacts with dynein. Mutations in the *Lis1* gene are linked to the disease lissencephaly 1 which causes severe malformation of the cortex of the brain due to defective neuronal migration (Reiner, Carrozzo et al. 1993). Nuclear distribution protein E (NudE) is involved in kinetochore function and along with the homologous protein NudE-like (NudEL) function with Lis1, interacting with dynein.

Studies have shown that Lis1, NudE and NudEL are extremely important for a number of dynein functions, including organelle transport, kinetochore activity, and nuclear and spindle positioning (Liang, Yu et al. 2004). Loss of function mutations in all three proteins result in very similar phenotypes affecting dynein function, which suggests they act as important co-factors. They directly interact with dynein and have been shown to be involved in dynein mediated transport of kinetochore proteins (Howell, McEwen et al. 2001). However, their exact mechanisms are not currently well understood.

NudE and NudEL mutants defective for Lis1 or DHC binding cause phenotypes similar to those seen from dynein disruption, such as Golgi fragmentation and reduced vesicle trafficking. Studies have also shown that in the absence of NudE/NudEL, dynein is still able to bind to MTs and cargo, but movement is impaired (Liang, Yu et al. 2004), suggesting that the interaction of Lis1, NudE, NudEL with dynein is important in regulating a number of dynein functions.

Complete inhibition of NudE and NudEL function prevents dynein, dynactin and Lis1 from localising to kinetochores, which leads to cell arrest at metaphase and misorientation of the kinetochores (Stehman, Chen et al. 2007). This suggests that NudE and NudEL are important for recruiting dynein/dynactin and Lis1 to kinetochores.

In neural progenitor cells, Lis1, NudE and dynein are responsible for the proper positioning of nuclei and spindles for cell division. The resulting neurons require Lis1, NudEL and dynein for the movement of the centrosome and nucleus during migration [Refs in (Kardon and Vale 2009)].

A unique feature of Lis1 is that it binds directly to the motor domain of dynein. Lis1 comprises an N-terminal coiled-coil attached to seven WD40 repeats (40 amino acids with a C-terminal Trp-Asp dipeptide), which dimerises at the coiled-coil. The WD40 repeat binds to the AAA1 domain of the dynein motor. Lis1 interacts with both NudE and NudEL, but exact sites of interaction have yet to be identified (Sasaki, Shionoya et al. 2000).



Figure 5. Schematic of cytoplasmic dynein showing sites of interaction with regulators and adaptors. The dimerised dynein heavy chain is shown in blue. The sites of interaction with the dynein regulators dynactin, Lis1, NudE and NudEL are shown, as well as other proteins proposed to regulate and adapt dynein function [From (Kardon and Vale 2009)].

NudE and NudEL are highly homologous, both containing an N-terminal coiled-coil, which is important for dimerisation, as well as Lis1 binding. The C-terminus is

unstructured, but binds to the AAA1 domain of dynein. This region also interacts with the light chain, LC8 and DIC (Sasaki, Shionoya et al. 2000), as well as kinetochore proteins, centromere protein F (CENPF) and ZW10. ZW10 also interacts with dynamitin in dynactin (Starr, Williams et al. 1998). Lis1 has been shown to be necessary for dynein to localise to MT plus ends (Markus, Punch et al. 2009).

Recent studies have indicated that Lis1 may be involved in regulating the ATPase activity of dynein, however, there are conflicting results from the different studies. Mesngon et al (Mesngon, Tarricone et al. 2006), showed that in using native brain dynein and recombinant Lis1, the two proteins bind and Lis1 significantly increases the MT stimulated ATPase activity of dynein. Their data showed that Lis1 must be dimerised for this ATPase regulation to occur, as a C-terminal fragment lacking the dimerisation domain, but retaining the dynein interaction site was unable to alter ATPase activity.

However, the Hirotsune group showed that Lis1 suppressed the motility of native dynein (purified from porcine brain tissue) along MTs and it is NudEL that releases this effect by blocking Lis1 suppression. Lis1 increased ATPase activity at concentrations that inhibit motility, suggesting Lis1 separates the mechanical-chemical coupling of dynein. NudEL reduced by ~60% the MT stimulated ATPase activity, which is in keeping with data showing NudEL is involved in dissociating dynein from MTs (Yamada, Toba et al. 2008).

It appears that Lis1, in conjunction with NudE and/or NudEL, is involved in regulating ATPase function in the dynein motor, but further work is needed to determine the exact mechanism of this regulation.

It has been proposed that Lis1 and NudE or NudEL complexes may affect the conformation of dynein. As Lis1/NudE and Lis1/NudEL are dimers, they could possibly bridge across two AAA1 domains, bringing them into closer proximity. Another possibility is that the motor and tail domains of dynein could be brought together into a folded conformation, as the C-terminus of NudE and NudEL is able to bind LC8 and Lis1 binds the motor (Kardon and Vale 2009), although if this occurs, and how it might affect regulation remains to be determined.

I.4 Dynein Cargos

As the main retrograde motor in cells, cytoplasmic dynein is responsible for the transport and localisation of an enormous range of cargos. These include large membrane organelles such as the Golgi, mitochondria and nuclei; small vesicles and tubular intermediates in the endocytic and secretory pathways; and cytoskeletal filaments such as MTs and actin filaments.

I.4.1 Golgi

The Golgi apparatus consists of a network of flattened membrane cisternae that are interconnected and associated with tubules and vesicles. The Golgi is responsible for the post-translational modifications of proteins and macromolecules transported from the rER which are then packaged for transport to the plasma membrane (e.g. for exocytosis) or the secretory or endocytic pathways.

The Golgi maintains a perinuclear position, often close to the MT organising centre (MTOC). MTs are known to have an important role in maintaining the location and integrity of the Golgi as disruption of MTs using depolymerising drugs causes the Golgi to fragment and disperse throughout the cell. Upon removal of the depolymerising drug, the MTs are able to repolymerise and the Golgi fragments move along the MTs towards the centrosome to re-form the membrane network.

Dynein was proposed to be the MT motor responsible for maintaining the structure of Golgi and repositioning it after disruption, and a number of studies have confirmed this. Burkhardt et al overexpressed the dynactin subunit, dynamitin, which caused fragmentation of the Golgi, despite the MT complex remaining intact. Also, the microinjection of function blocking DIC antibodies resulted in the same Golgi fragmentation and dispersal (Burkhardt, Echeverri et al. 1997). A similar phenotype was also identified in blastocysts cultured from DHC knockout mice (Harada, Takei et al. 1998), confirming that dynein is the motor responsible for maintaining integrity and localisation of Golgi.

There appear to be a number of factors that play a role in the recruitment of dynein/dynactin to Golgi membranes. Arp1 of dynactin has been shown to directly bind a Golgi specific isoform of spectrin, β III (Holleran, Ligon et al. 2001). Spectrins are cytoskeletal proteins that provide structure and integrity to many membranes. There are two Arp1 binding sites in β III spectrin, one of which overlaps with the well conserved actin binding site (Holleran, Ligon et al. 2001). The interaction between β III spectrin and Arp1 provides a direct link between the dynein/dynactin complex and its Golgi cargo.

I.4.2 Mitochondria

The correct distribution of mitochondria throughout a cell is essential for proper cell functioning and survival. Mitochondria have a number of crucial roles in the cellenergy production, cell signalling, calcium homeostasis and apoptosis. Different types of cells have different requirements, and thus the distribution of mitochondria is specific to the energy needs of that cell. For example, in neurons, high energy demands at the synapse mean more mitochondria are required at this location (Hollenbeck and Saxton 2005).

Dynein and kinesin motors play important roles in the transport of mitochondria and are essential for proper distribution throughout the cell. Mitochondria are synthesised in the cell body and must be transported to the location of energy requirement. In neurons they need to be distributed along the axon, which occurs through a combination of transport, at velocities of 0.3-2.0µm.s⁻¹, and stopping as over half of mitochondria are stationery [Refs in (Miller and Sheetz 2004)]. Disruption of axonal transport leads to non-uniform distribution of organelles, including mitochondria, along the axon.

Mitochondrial potential drives the production of ATP. The potential is generated by oxidative phosphorylation through the electron transport chain (ETC) and varies in response to changes in metabolic demand. Using the potential-sensitive dye JC-1 Miller and Sheetz have shown that ~90% of mitochondria with a high potential move anterogradely towards the growth cone in neurons, while ~80% of low potential mitochondria move retrogradely towards the cell body (Miller and Sheetz 2004). Depolarised mitochondria are retrogradely transported to lysosomes to be recycled by

autophagy. Aged mitochondria become, on average, more depolarised and so retrograde transport by dynein is essential to ensure that non-functioning mitochondria are removed from cells.

Tctex-1 can interact with the voltage dependent anion-selective channel (VDAC1) in the mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM). This interaction could regulate the binding of dynein when the mitochondrial membrane potential is decreased, and may contribute to increased retrograde transport (Boldogh and Pon 2007).

Mitochondria are highly dynamic organelles that constantly alter their morphology using fission and fusion in response to a range of signals (Santel and Frank 2008). The main factors required for fusion of mammalian mitochondria are the large mitochondrial GTPases, mitofusin (MFN) 1 and 2, and optic atrophy 1 (OPA1). The protein mainly responsible for fission is dynamin related protein 1 (DRP1), also a large GTPase (Santel and Frank 2008).

MFN 1 and 2 localise to the mitochondrial outer membrane, while OPA1 is located at the inner membrane, suggesting that MFN1 and 2 are involved with outer membrane fusion and OPA1 is involved with fusion of the inner membrane. MFN1 and 2 contain coiled-coil regions that project from the outer membrane allowing tethering of two mitochondria together (Suen, Norris et al. 2008) ultimately resulting in fusion.

Mitochondrial fission consists of a number of steps. Drp1 is recruited to the outer membrane, where multimerisation of the protein occurs, which finally results in fission of the membrane bilayers. A neuronal isoform, Drp1p, is important for the correct distribution of mitochondria to the synapse. In HeLa cells it has been shown that disruption of dynein via DIC, or dynactin through dynamitin, results in the repositioning of Drp1 from the mitochondria to other cytoplasmic membranes. Also seen is the transport of mitochondria from the cell cortex to a perinuclear region (Varadi, Johnson-Cadwell et al. 2004). This suggests that dynein might contribute to the targeting of Drp1 to mitochondria in addition to its more established roles (Boldogh and Pon 2007).
I.4.3 Endosomes

Endosomes are transport vesicles formed during the process of endocytosis. This is the uptake of material into a cell by invagination of the plasma membrane and its internalisation in a membrane bound vesicle (Alberts, Johnson et al. 2002).

Mammalian cells contain many complex intracellular structures, which means diffusion can only occur at slow rates. Cells have therefore developed active intracellular transport systems to move and target macromolecules to their correct destinations. This can either result in transport to the lysosomes for degradation of the contents of the vesicle, or recycling of the vesicle back to the cell membrane.

Endocytosis encompasses various forms of uptake of extracellular material by cells, including phagocytosis, the uptake of large particles, usually carried out by specialist cells (such as macrophages), and pinocytosis, the internalisation of fluids. It also includes uptake into membrane pits which can either be coated, as with clathrindependent and caveolin-dependent endocytosis, or uncoated, as with clathrinindependent and caveolin-independent endocytosis (Mukherjee, Ghosh et al. 1997).

Clathrin and caveolin are coat proteins that cause curvature of the membrane to form vesicles (Parkar, Akpa et al. 2009). Clathrin forms the structural backbone of clathrincoated pits (CCPs), but adaptor proteins (APs) are required that can attach to both the pit and the cargo. It is currently unclear as to whether existing vesicles trap and internalise cargo, or the presence of cargo causes vesicle formation. In clathrindependent endocytosis it appears to depend on the cargo. EGF receptor stimulates the formation of new CCPs, but transferrin receptor (TfR) stabilises existing CCPs and is then internalised into them (Benmerah and Lamaze 2007). Caveolae are mainly preexisting vesicles, but need to be stimulated for internalisation of cargo to occur. There are a number of different isoforms of caveolin that are important for the proper formation of caveolae.

Once the pits have formed, dynamin, a large GTPase, is involved in scission of the pits into vesicles. Once the vesicles are released from the membrane, the clathrin coat is released and recycled back to the plasma membrane. Caveolae do not strip caveolin

upon internalisation, but fuse with existing endosomes and release their contents, before recycling back to the cell surface.

I.4.3.1 Receptor mediated endocytosis

Receptors that use existing CCPs are thought to internalise by constitutive endocytosis, regardless of whether they are bound to their ligands. However, in receptor-mediated endocytosis, the ligand binding to its receptor stimulates the formation of the clathrin-coated vesicle and the internalisation of the ligand-receptor complex (Benmerah and Lamaze 2007).

A large range of receptors are internalised in clathrin-coated vesicles (CCVs), for example, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), transferrin receptor (TfR), low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDL-R), β_2 adrenergic receptors and insulin receptor. By controlling cell-surface receptors such as these, CCPs can regulate cell signalling (Parkar, Akpa et al. 2009). CCVs also play a role in protein sorting and are found at the trans-Golgi network (TGN).

Once the CCV is internalised and pinched off from the membrane by dynamin, the clathrin coat recycles back to the plasma membrane and the CCVs fuse to form early endosomes. Fusion of these early endosomes gives rise to multi-vesicular bodies (MVBs), and it is from these that proteins either recycle back to the cell surface, or continue in the degradative pathway to the lysosomes.

Rab proteins are involved in regulating fusion and fission of vesicles and are involved in sorting cargo in vesicles by creating subdomains (Jordens, Marsman et al. 2005). Rab5 has been shown to be present on early endosomes and through its interaction with its effector protein, early endosome antigen (EEA1), it is involved in endosomal fusion (Woodman 2000). Rab5 is also important for the transport of early endosomes as it interacts with DIC and may be involved in tethering early endosomes to the dynein complex for transport. Once vesicular sorting has occurred, early endosomes or MVBs fuse together to form late endosomes. This is coupled to the loss of Rab5 and the gain of Rab7. Rab7 and its effector protein, Rab7-interacting lysosomal protein (RILP), recruit the dynein/dynactin complex to late endosomes for transport and fusion to the lysosomes for degradation (Jordens, Marsman et al. 2005).

I.4.3.1.1 EGF/EGFR endocytosis

The epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor (EGFR) is a widely expressed transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase. It is activated via binding of a number of ligands, such as EGF, which promotes receptor dimerisation and autophosphorylation. EGF receptor-ligand binding can activate signalling of a wide variety of pathways that can lead to cell proliferation, differentiation, motility or survival, depending on the ligand and cell involved.

Once activated, EGFR is endocytosed into clathrin-coated pits. EGFRs remain active after internalisation and remains so until they reach the lysosome for degradation. Transport to the lysosomes is dynein dependent as disruption of the dynein complex in HeLa cells inhibits retrograde movement of EGF-positive endosomes (Driskell, Mironov et al. 2007). Delay in reaching the lysosomes for degradation has been shown to result in prolonged EGFR signalling, that in turn leads to sustained activation of downstream targets (Taub, Teis et al. 2007).

I.5 Dynein mutations

The importance of dynein in cellular function is well documented, but its exact mechanism of function and interaction with other proteins is not fully understood. To provide a better understanding of the functional interplay between dynein and cellular mechanisms in organisms, mutagenesis of dynein in model organisms has provided invaluable information about the downstream effects of disrupted dynein. Many of these mutations in animal models have resulted in phenotypes that mimic, or are similar to human diseases, providing insight into the importance of the protein and the many cellular functions it participates in. This can also provide information about possible mechanisms of disease that may involve dynein.

I.5.1 Legs at odd angles (Loa) and Cramping 1 (Cra1)

Hafezparast et al (2003) described two new DHC mutations in mice that help provide further information about the functioning of dynein, as well as how defects in dynein can lead to phenotypes that are similar to human disease.

Two independent ENU mutagenesis programmes resulted in two mouse mutants that exhibited a similar, unusual twisting and clenching of the hindlimbs when suspended by the tail. Due to their phenotypes they were named Legs at odd angles (*Loa*) and Cramping1 (*Cra1*). Both mutations are autosomal dominant traits that in heterozygotes cause progressive loss of muscle tone and locomotor ability, but without significant reduction in lifespan. The homozygotes are much more severely affected with inability to move or feed properly and die within 24 hours of birth (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003).

Both mutations were confirmed as being due to single amino acid substitutions in *Dync1h1*. *Loa* results from a T-A transversion in *Dync1h1* changing a phenylalanine to tyrosine at residue 580. *Cra1* is due to a change of A-G in *Dync1h1* resulting in tyrosine to cysteine at residue 1055. The two mutations were found to be allelic, as when crossed together, they produced compound heterozygotes with the same phenotypes as the homozygotes and all died within 48 hours of birth (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003).

The *Loa* mutation occurs within the highly conserved region thought to be the binding site for *Dync1i1* chains and the site for homodimerisation, and the *Cra1* mutation is in a potential area of homodimerisation.

No differences were identified in the amounts of DHC and DIC protein between *Loa* and *Cra1* homozygous, heterozygous and WT mice, and the localisation of DHC and DIC was not affected by the mutations. This suggests that the phenotypes caused by the *Loa* and *Cra1* mutations are not due to changes in the amount of protein or its location in the cell (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003).

As the hindlimb clenching is typical of a neuromuscular defect, and progressive motor impairment is seen, the motor neurons were checked. The number of α -motor neurons (the large calibre neurons that innervate muscle), in the spinal cord anterior horn were compared between heterozygote and wildtype littermates at 3 months and then at 19 months in *Loa* and 16 months in *Cra1*. A significant decrease was detected in both sets of mice over these timeframes (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003).

The anterior horn cells (AHCs) of *Loa* and *Cra1* homozygous embryos, at embryonic age E18.5, and wildtype littermates were compared, with the *Loa/Loa* embryos showing 50% fewer AHCs compared to WT, while the *Cra1/Cra1* embryos showed an 80% decrease. The AHCs in these homozygous mutants also had increased rates of apoptosis and the surviving neurons contained intracellular inclusions. These inclusions were found to contain ubiquitin, SOD1, CDK5 and NFs, similar to the inclusions that are characteristic of human amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003).

Dupuis et al (Dupuis, Fergani et al. 2009) also investigated neuronal degeneration in Cra1/+ mice to fully characterise the motor defect. Motor neurons in adult spinal cord anterior horns were counted to establish cell loss, however, none was established, even in aged mice. Corticalspinal motor neurons from 14 month old Cra1/+ mice were also checked and did not show any difference in number compared to WT littermates. These data suggest that Cra1/+ mice do not in fact display typical motor neuron disease.

The hindlimb grip strength in Loa/+ has been shown to be reduced by 52%, but forelimb grip strength is unaffected, compared to WT littermates (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007). In agreement with this, cervical dorsal root ganglion (DRG) neurons are not affected, but lumbar DRG neurons are reduced by 42% in Loa/+ compared to WT. Muscle spindles are central to the proprioceptive sensory system, allowing perception of the positioning of limbs. In 13 week old Loa/+ mice, muscle spindles were seen to be reduced by 86% in the hindlimbs compared to WT. Together these data suggest that Loa/+ mice exhibit a proprioceptive sensory defect (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007).

To determine the exact timing of the motor axon degeneration identified by Hafezparast et al (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003), lumbar motor roots in young *Loa/+* mice were

examined (from 1.5 months – 22 months). At 1.5 months, *Loa/+* mice exhibited loss of motor axons compared to WT, however, no reduction in α -motor axons (>3.5 µm diameter) was observed, but a 55% loss of γ -motor neurons (which innervate muscle spindles) was identified (Ilieva, Yamanaka et al. 2008). No further loss was identified up to 22 months of age.

Despite α -motor neuron loss not being detected in older mice in this study (Ilieva, Yamanaka et al. 2008), significant loss of sensory neurons was identified in 1.5 month old mice, continuing through to 22 month old mice. No effect on nociception was identified in *Loa/+* mice, so the significant loss of sensory neurons suggests that proprioception may be affected. To confirm this, proprioceptive axonal function was tested by examining the stretch reflex in adult *Loa/+* mice. The expected H wave was entirely absent from all *Loa/+* mice tested, but present in WT, confirming the presence of a defect in proprioception in *Loa/+* mice.

In *Loa* mice, the effect of the mutation on Golgi was investigated. Normal positioning and morphology of Golgi was identified in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), however, the ability of dynein to re-position Golgi after disruption was impaired. MTs were depolymerised with the drug, nocodazole, fragmenting the Golgi throughout the cell. Once the nocodazole was removed, the MTs repolymerised and in WT cells the Golgi was reassembled into its perinuclear position by dynein. However, in *Loa/Loa* cells this was significantly impaired. The authors suggest that normal Golgi positioning and morphology, but impaired reassembly after disruption, shows that the *Loa* mutation reduces dynein function only during cellular stress (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003).

Fragmented Golgi complex, similar to that seen in nocodazole treated cells, is a feature of both human ALS and the mutant SOD1 transgenic mice that model ALS. Disrupted Golgi is also seen in embryos from dynein knockout mice (Harada, Takei et al. 1998).

Dynein has a number of roles that are specific to neurons, including neuronal migration and axonal transport of organelles. The effects of the *Loa* mutation on these roles were investigated by analysing the formation of cranial and spinal nerves in E10.5 *Loa/Loa* and WT littermates. Although there was no difference in motor neuron differentiation in the neural tube, a difference was seen in the migration of motor neuron cell bodies

from the face to hindbrain in *Loa* homozygous embryos. This is similar to the facial weakness caused by impaired lower motor neurons in the brainstem of spinal bulbar muscular atrophy (SBMA) patients, and some bulbar subtypes of ALS (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003).

Investigations into retrograde axonal transport using a fluorescent fragment of the tetanus toxin (TeNT H_c) showed that although retrograde transport was not abolished in *Loa/Loa* neurons, there was a significant reduction in the frequency of high speed carriers and an increase in stationary pauses. This suggests that the *Loa* mutation impairs dynein's ability to maintain fast retrograde transport (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003).

The range of different studies carried out on *Loa* and *Cra1* mice suggests that the similar phenotypes observed in both are due to sensory defects, with accompanying motor defects that vary in severity and require further investigation.

I.5.2 Sprawling mouse (Swl)

The sprawling mouse (*Swl*) is a radiation induced, autosomal dominant mutation, first identified due to its hindlimb clenching when suspended by the tail, as well as an unsteady, jerky gait (Duchen 1974). It has been shown to be caused by a 9 base pair deletion in *Dync1h1* that changes 4 residues at position 1040-1043 to a single alanine (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007).

The hindlimb clenching is similar to that seen in *Loa* and *Cra1* heterozygotes, but Swl/+ mice also develop an abnormal gait, characterised by a jerky, wobbly movement. When stationary the hindlimbs are splayed outwards and forwards, and the hindlimbs have reduced grip strength. The Swl/+ mice have a normal lifespan and no obvious progression of the phenotype with age has been identified (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007).

Due to the hindlimb clenching, and abnormal gait phenotypes, the limbs of Swl/+ mice are clearly affected. Motor function and grip strength were investigated using motor nerve conductance velocity (NCV) tests on Swl/+ and WT littermates, which showed

Loa	Cra1
Autosomal dominant mutation – due to single amino acid substitution	Autosomal dominant mutation – due to single amino acid substitution
in Dync1h1.	in Dync1h1.
Progressive loss of locomotor ability, but no significant reduction in	V. mild effect on gait, no significant reduction in lifespan.
lifespan.	
Mutation located in region of DHC involved in DLIC binding and	Mutation located in region of DHC thought to be involved in
homodimerisation.	homodimerisation.
Significant loss of anterior horn cells (AHCs) in <i>Arl/+</i> compared to	Conflicting data – reduction in AHCs seen by Hafezparast et al, but
WT. Loss of γ -motor neurons, not α -MNs, identified by Ilieva et al.	none seen by Dupuis et al.
Reduction in lumbar dorsal root neurons	Loss of neurons in dorsal root
Phenotype suggested to be due to proprioceptive defects with	Phenotype thought to be due to proprioceptive sensory defects, with
accompanying motor defects	lack of motor defects.
Rescue of SOD1 ^{G93A} phenotype identified	Rescue of SOD1 ^{G93A} phenotype identified, although less significant
	than with <i>Loa</i> .

 Table 1. Comparisons between Loa and Cra1 mice and phenotypes.

 Table comparing major features of the Loa and Cra1 mice as detailed in studies conducted by Hafezparast et al., Ilieva et al. and Dupuis et al. (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003; Ilieva, Yamanaka et al. 2008; Dupuis, Fergani et al. 2009)

forelimb grip strength was unaffected, but a 50% decrease was identified in hindlimbs. Normal peripheral motor nerve function was detected through measuring the velocity and amplification of the compound muscle action potential (M wave). The morphology and number of α -motor neurons was unaffected, suggesting the reduced hindlimb grip strength is not due to defects in the anterior horn of the lumbar spinal cord (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007).

Previously, *Swl* mice have been characterised as having thin peripheral nerves and sensory roots, a reduced number of DRG neurons, small dorsal columns of the spinal cord, and a marked reduction in the number of sensory neurons (Duchen 1974). To determine whether specific subpopulations of sensory ganglion neurons are affected, tail flick tests were used to investigate nociceptive sensory function. These showed that nociception was unaffected in *Swl/+* mice compared to WT, and this is backed up by the lack of limb amputations seen in *Swl/+* mice. Sensory NCV, measured to assess sensory nerve function, showed no difference between *Swl/+* and WT, however, the amplitude of the sensory nerve action potential was reduced by 32% (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007). These data suggest that the *Swl* mutation does not affect the nociceptive or motor function of these mice, but rather some other sensory aspect.

Consequently, the proprioceptive function was assessed using the H reflex in tibial nerves. The H reflex measures the afferent Ia fibres and the efferent α -motor fibres across the reflex arc, which provides a measure of proprioceptive function. The H reflex was completely absent from the hindlimbs of all the *Swl/+* mice tested, but present in all WT mice. This together with normal motor nerve function suggests that the proprioceptive function of the *Swl* sensory system is affected. In keeping with this data, the number of proprioceptive sensory receptors was significantly reduced in *Swl/+* compared to WT (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007).

The neuron loss in DRGs was further investigated and the reduction was found to be greater in lumbar segments than cervical segments in Swl/+. This is consistent with the hindlimbs being much more affected than the forelimbs in Swl/+ mice. In these sections the number of proprioceptive sensory neurons is greatly reduced in Swl, much more so than for nociceptive sensory neurons. These data suggest that the subpopulation of proprioceptive sensory neurons is much more severely affected than

the subpopulation of nociceptive sensory neurons in *Swl*/+ lumbar DRGs (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007).

Degeneration of muscle spindles during late embryonic development, between E15.5 and P0.5, was identified and found to accompany the loss of lumbar proprioceptive neurons in Swl/+ mice (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007).

Taken together, this data suggests that *Swl* is due to an early onset proprioceptive sensory defect and it is this, rather than motor neuron loss, that is probably the cause of the phenotype seen. This indicates that a mutation in DHC can lead to sensory neuron defects. Proprioceptive sensory neurons are a subpopulation of DRG neurons characterised by medium and large soma areas, and like α -motor neurons, they require a large supply of energy and significant trafficking; this may cause them to be particularly vulnerable to vesicular and axonal transport defects, particularly as previous studies have shown large motor and sensory neurons are more vulnerable to diseased conditions than small sized neurons (McIIwain 1991). As dynein transports vesicles and organelles from nerve terminals to cell bodies, neurons with longer axons are more likely to be affected by *Swl* mutation which may explain why hindlimbs, but not forelimbs are affected.

I.5.3 Motor neuron disease and SOD1

Motor neuron diseases (MND) encompass several adult and juvenile onset neurodegenerative disorders, including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), spinal bulbar muscular atrophy (SBMA) and hereditary spastic paraplegias (HSP).

ALS is the most common adult-onset motor neuron disease and leads to selective dysfunction and death of neurons in the cortex, brainstem, and spinal cord, with the large diameter α -motor neurons in the spinal anterior horns mainly targeted. It is progressive and terminal, causing muscle weakness, atrophy and spasticity, leading to eventual paralysis and death within 2-5 years of onset (Julien and Kriz 2006). ALS generally occurs in middle to late age with a lifetime risk of ~1 in 2000 (Bruijn, Miller et al. 2004).

There are no effective treatments to delay or cure the disease and the causes for the majority of cases are unknown. Clinically they can be highly variable, suggesting that many factors may contribute to the disease mechanism. These are classed as sporadic ALS (SALS) and account for ~90% of cases. The remaining 10% of ALS cases are familial (FALS), and of these, 20-25% are mapped to the Cu/Zn-SOD1 gene on chromosome 21. More than 100 different mutations have been identified (Rosen, Siddique et al. 1993; Gaudette, Hirano et al. 2000).

Superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) is a ubiquitously expressed cytosolic metalloenzyme that catalyses the formation of hydrogen peroxide and oxygen via dismutation of superoxide anions. It is thought that this action protects against cellular damage induced by oxygen radicals (Shaw 2001).

Transgenic mice expressing various forms of mutant SOD1 have been generated and mice over-expressing mutant SOD1 develop ALS; with SOD1^{G93A}, SOD1^{G37R} and SOD1^{G85R} the most studied forms, developing many pathological phenotypes seen in human ALS (Turner and Talbot 2008).

The main characteristics of the SOD1^{G93A} mice are hindlimb tremor and weakness which develop at around 3 months. This progresses to paralysis and death after approximately 4 months. SOD1^{G37R} and SOD1^{G85R} show similar phenotypes, but they present at later timepoints, with disease onset visible at 4-6 months and 8-14 months respectively [Reviewed in (Turner and Talbot 2008)].

The mutations in SOD1 are not due to loss of function, as SOD1 knockout mice do not develop motor neuron disease (Reaume, Elliott et al. 1996). Also, expression of a dismutase inactive mutant did not affect onset of disease or survival, and increased levels of WT-SOD1 had no effect, or even accelerated the disease (Bruijn, Houseweart et al. 1998; Jaarsma, Rognoni et al. 2001). This suggests the SOD1 mutations cause a toxic gain of function, and as a common feature of affected mice is the presence of large aggregates and cellular inclusions, it is most likely from the formation of aggregates and misfolded protein. However, the exact mechanism through which SOD1 results in motor neuron degeneration is currently unclear.

To better understand how mutant SOD1 interacts with motor neurons to induce degeneration, the pathology of neuronal cells in SOD1 mice was investigated. A common feature among mutant SOD1 mice is the presence of neuronal and astrocytic inclusions and aggregates highly immunoreactive for SOD1. These inclusions are similar to SOD1-containing aggregates seen in some human sporadic and familial ALS cases (Bruijn, Houseweart et al. 1998).

Defects in axonal transport have been identified in SOD1 mice, with a slowing in tubulin and NF transport occurring just before disease onset and one of the earliest pathologies detected (Williamson and Cleveland 1999).

SOD1 is ubiquitously expressed, but it has been shown that motor neurons from mutant SOD1 mice can avoid degeneration if some surrounding non-neuronal cells are unaffected. Conversely, affected non-neuronal cells expressing mutant SOD1 are able to translate the damage to motor neurons that they surround, suggesting non-cell autonomous excitotoxicity is involved (Ilieva, Yamanaka et al. 2008).

I.5.4 Dynein mutations and SOD1

Although mutations in dynein have not been found in ALS patients (Ahmad-Annuar, Shah et al. 2003; Shah, Ahmad-Annuar et al. 2006), mutations in dynactin have been identified in patients with slow progressing forms of ALS (Puls, Jonnakuty et al. 2003), highlighting the relevance of mutations in the dynein complex in ALS. As dynein is the major retrograde motor in neurons and *Loa* and *Cra1* have been shown to cause degeneration of motor neurons, and with motor neuron degeneration and axonal transport defects seen in SOD1 mice, a possible link between dynein and mutant SOD1 was investigated.

Loa mice were crossed with SOD1^{G93A} mice to investigate whether the interaction between the dynein mutation and mutant SOD1 had any effect on disease progression and lifespan in double heterozygote (*Loa*/SOD1^{G93A}) mice (Kieran, Hafezparast et al. 2005). Surprisingly, the double heterozygotes showed an improvement over SOD1^{G93A} littermates, showing that *Loa* rescues the SOD1 phenotype.

As previously mentioned, Loa/+ mice have a normal lifespan (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003), while SOD1^{G93A} mice have a reduced lifespan of only 125 days. The $Loa/SOD1^{G93A}$ mice showed a significant increase in their lifespan of 28% to 160 days, also with significant delay in the onset of the disease (Kieran, Hafezparast et al. 2005).

Axonal transport defects in E13 motor neurons were completely rescued in *Loa*/SOD1^{G93A} mice compared to SOD1 mice. There was also a significant increase in motor neuron survival in the spinal cord of *Loa*/SOD1^{G93A} adult mice (Kieran, Hafezparast et al. 2005).

The results suggest that defects in axonal transport contribute to motor neuron degeneration in SOD1^{G93A} mice and that rescuing these defects can have a favourable effect on both disease progression and lifespan (Kieran, Hafezparast et al. 2005).

To determine if the rescue of the phenotype in SOD1 mice is confined to the *Loa* mutation, or whether other dynein mutations could have the same effect, *Cra1* mice were crossed with SOD1^{G93A} mice. The resulting double heterozygote (*Cra1*/SOD1^{G93A}) mice showed a significantly improved lifespan over SOD1 littermates, as well as delayed disease progression. However, neuropathalogical examination of cervical and lumbar spinal cords at end stage showed both *Cra1*/SOD1^{G93A} and SOD1^{G93A} exhibited striking degeneration of motor neurons. This indicates that further experiments are needed to check motor neuron loss in each genotype group at specific timepoints prior to end stage to identify differences in the degree of motor neuron loss (Teuchert, Fischer et al. 2006).

The data demonstrates that mutations in dynein lead to a decrease in motor neuron death in SOD1^{G93A} mice, but that the rescue of the SOD1 phenotype in $Cra1/SOD1^{G93A}$ mice by the Cra1 mutation is less dramatic than with $Loa/SOD1^{G93A}$ mice. This difference could be due to the difference in locations of the mutations on dynein heavy chain, or due to genetic backgrounds as different strains carry the *Loa* and *Cra1* mutations (Teuchert, Fischer et al. 2006).

Establishing that two different DHC mutations, both of which cause axonal trafficking defects, can rescue the phenotype of a SOD1 model of ALS, suggests the importance of axonal transport in understanding the degeneration of motor neurons.

Both *Loa* and *Cra1* predominantly affect motor neurons and were demonstrated to rescue the SOD1 phenotype, however, the *Swl* mutation predominantly affects sensory neurons. Chen et al. (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007), used *Swl* to see if a dynein mutation that is also located in DHC, but affects sensory rather than motor neurons, is also able to rescue the SOD1^{G93A} phenotype. They crossed *Swl* with SOD1^{G93A} and assessed disease progression and lifespan of the resulting *Swl*/SOD1^{G93A} double heterozygote progeny.

Unlike *Loa* and *Cra1*, *Swl*/SOD1^{G93A} mice showed no difference in average survival time compared to SOD1 mice. Similarly, there was no difference in body weight between *Swl*/SOD1^{G93A} and SOD1, indicating no delay in disease progression (Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007). Together, this data indicates that the *Swl* mutation does not rescue the SOD1 phenotype and suggests that a mutation in dynein may only be capable of rescuing the SOD1 phenotype if it causes a defect in motor neurons; a mutation causing a sensory neuronal defect is not sufficient.

Interestingly, mutations in dynein are not unique in being able to rescue the SOD1 phenotype. Human mutations in the essential enzyme, glycyl-tRNA synthetase (GARS), cause motor and sensory axon loss in the peripheral neuron system, leading to a range of phenotypes such as Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy to a severe infantile form of spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) (Banks, Bros-Facer et al. 2009).

A mouse model of this contains a point mutation resulting in a change of cysteine to arginine at residue 201, *Gars*^{C201R}. Heterozygous *Gars*^{C201R} mice show reduced grip strength, disrupted fine motor control and reduced axon diameter in peripheral nerves. Interestingly, when crossed with SOD1^{G93A} mice the double heterozygotes (SOD1^{G93A}/*Gars*^{C201R}) show a similar rescue of the SOD1 phenotype as seen in *Loa*, with a significantly increased lifespan of approximately 29%. The SOD1^{G93A}/*Gars*^{C201R} also demonstrates a significant delay in disease progression (Banks, Bros-Facer et al. 2009).

GARS is vital for translation to occur in all cells, and in neurons is active in the periphery as well as the cell body. It is therefore essential for numerous functions of neuronal development and maintenance, such as axon guidance, cell migration and cell polarity (Banks, Bros-Facer et al. 2009). It could therefore be one of these many functions that is defective in $Gars^{C201R}$ that results in the rescue of the SOD1 phenotype.

This data suggests that a function that is defective in *Loa*, *Cra1* and *Gars*^{C201R}, but not in *Swl* is likely to play a major role in ameliorating the effect of the SOD1 mutation.

I.5.5 Abnormal rear leg (Arl)

A separate ENU mutagenesis programme conducted at the Centre for Modelling Human Disease (CMHD) in Toronto, Canada, resulted in another mouse that exhibited a similar phenotype to *Loa* and *Cra1*. Male C57BL/6 male mice were treated with ENU and mated with C3H/HeJ females. A resulting female was identified with twisting and clenching of the hindlimbs when suspended by the tail, and due to the appearance of the phenotype the mutation was named Abnormal rear leg (*Arl*). This mouse was crossed with a WT C3H/HeJ male and the resulting offspring were also affected, confirming this was an autosomal dominant trait.

To map this mutation 85 polymorphic markers were used by the CMHD to genotype 11 affected and 10 unaffected mice. The mutation was mapped to the distal region of Mmu12 between D12Mit167 (47cM; 100.6Mb) and the telomere (116Mb).

Due to the similarity of this mutation to *Loa* and *Cra1* it was sent to the Fisher group at UCL for further positional cloning, where much work on *Loa* had previously been conducted. As both *Loa* and *Cra1* arise from mutations in *Dync1h1* in the 55cM region of Mmu12 (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003) – the same region as this new mutation – it seemed that *Dync1h1* was a likely candidate gene for this mutation. This gene was sequenced in mutant and WT littermates and a $3616T \rightarrow C$ transition mutation was identified, causing a change of tryptophan to arginine at residue 1206 (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation).

Arl appears to be more severe than either *Loa* or *Cra1* as no homozygous mutants (*Arl/Arl*) have been born. Tests have not identified any *Arl/Arl* embryos after E10.5, whereas in both *Loa* and *Cra1* homozygous mutant are born, but die within 24 and 48 hours respectively.

As the twisting and clenching phenotype is typical of a neuromuscular defect and occurs in the hindlimbs, the muscle force of two hindlimb muscles were examined; the EDL and TA muscles. At 90 and 100 days no differences were seen in Arl/+ compared to WT, but 1 year old Arl/+ mice exhibited significant reduction in muscle force of TA muscles compared to WT. No significant difference in EDL muscles was identified (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation).

The fact that a decrease in maximum force is not detected in TA muscles in Arl/+ mice until they are aged 1 year may suggest that a subtle disease phenotype is starting to exhibit in the Arl/+ mice. Therefore more aged mice need to be used to repeat these experiments.

EDL muscles in 1 year old mice were also checked for functional motor units, which showed no difference in number comparing Arl/+ and WT. The muscle contraction profiles of these EDL muscles were also investigated. EDL muscles are mainly composed of fast fibres which rapidly fatigue when stimulated repeatedly. In Arl/+ mice these muscles showed a similar phenotype to WT, with rapid fatigue after repeated stimulation, resulting in Fatigue Index (FI) values that are not significantly different for each genotype (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation).

Due to the reduction in TA muscle force in Arl/+ mice, the oxidative capacity of TA muscle fibres was tested by staining with the oxidative enzyme, succinate dehydrogenase (SDH). This showed that in Arl/+ the TA muscles had a normal pattern of staining, indicating a low oxidative capacity, similar to the TA muscles in WT (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation).

A significantly greater number of motor units innervate the TA muscles making measurements of motor unit number unreliable. Although this meant a comparison could not be made between Arl/+ and WT, a difference seemed unlikely as motor

neuron survival assays have shown no significant motor neuron loss in Arl/+ mice compared to WT littermates.

Motor neuron survival in 1 year old Arl/+ mice was compared against WT mice in lumbar spinal cord sections. Nissl staining showed no significant difference in the number of motor neurons, however, a significant difference was identified in the area of the motor neuron soma which were ~ 20% smaller in Arl/+ neurons compared to WT. Overall, a greater number of smaller motor neurons were identified in Arl/+ compared to WT (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation).

Consequently, the cross-sectioned area of sciatic nerves from 1 year old Arl/+ and WT littermates were analysed and compared. Cross sections immunolabelled for NFs showed a 50% reduction in sciatic nerve area in Arl/+ compared to WT (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation). However, because mice younger than 1 year did not show any deficit in muscle physiology, they were not further tested. Therefore, it is currently not established whether this smaller cross sectional area in sciatic nerve develops over 1 year, or if it presents at developmental stages.

The decrease in sciatic nerve area is likely to be due to the increase in motor neurons with smaller soma areas, however, the reason for the decrease in motor neuron soma area is unclear. Further studies are required to establish the cause of the reduction in motor neuron soma and sciatic nerve areas seen in Arl/+ mice. Also, more aged mice should be used to repeat these experiments to identify if any motor neuron loss is exhibited at later stages and whether the sciatic nerve area shows any change in size in Arl/+ compared to WT at later stages.

Peripheral nerve excitability was measured in 14 week and 1 year old Arl/+ and WT mice, using the caudal nerve of the tail. Arl/+ mice exhibited abnormal excitability properties compared to WT mice, particularly at 1 year. The difference between the Arl/+ and WT became more significant with age, as WT excitability recordings change over time, but the Arl/+ recordings remained mainly the same. This apparent lack of normal development could be related to the smaller cell bodies of motor neurons and reduced cross-sectional area of the sciatic nerves in Arl/+ compared to WT, but the

exact nature of the phenotype is currently unclear (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation).

As with the other dynein mutations, *Loa* and *Swl*, the retrograde axonal transport was investigated using the fluorescent fragment of tetanus toxin (TeNT H_c). Using motor neurons cultured from E13 *Arl*/+ and WT embryos, the analysis showed similar speeds in both genotypes (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation).

I.5.6 Arl and SOD1

To determine whether *Arl* was similar to *Loa* and *Cra1* in attenuating disease in $SOD1^{G93A}$ mice, or whether it was similar to *Swl* in being unable to delay disease, the *Arl* was crossed with $SOD1^{G93A}$.

Assessment of muscle force and motor neuron units was used to determine whether $Arl/SOD1^{G93A}$ double heterozygotes were able to rescue the SOD1 phenotype. The muscle force was compared between $Arl/SOD1^{G93A}$ and SOD1 in both TA and EDL muscle. Despite a trend in improvement of muscle performance of $Arl/SOD1^{G93A}$ mice compared to SOD1, it is not significant. Similarly, the number of motor units and the fatigue profiles of $Arl/SOD1^{G93A}$ mice show a similar trend in improved performance compared to SOD1, but it is not significant (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation).

This data suggests that *Arl* is similar to *Swl* in being unable to rescue SOD1 disease progression.

I.5.7 Axonemal dynein mutation

Recently, it has been reported that the *Arl* mice contain a mutation in axonemal dynein, in addition to that in cytoplasmic dynein (Golding, unpublished data). The mutation is a point mutation in *Dnah11* (also known as left-right dynein, lrd) which is involved in establishing the left-right axis in developing embryos and is expressed in the embryonic node, essential for development of left-right asymmetry (Supp, Brueckner et al. 1999).

The situs inversus viscerum (*iv*) mouse is due to a mutation in *Dnah11*. Adult *iv/iv* mice show an incidence of approximately 50% of inverted visceral organ positioning, suggesting that Dnah11 is involved in normal organ positioning. Without it, the process occurs randomly (Layton 1976).

This mouse model is similar to the human autosomal recessive condition, situs inverus, which causes the position of the visceral organs to be reversed in the body. 25% of situs inversus individuals also have a condition called primary ciliary dyskinesia (PCD), a dysfunction of the cilia during embryonic development. Normally, cilia are involved in determining the position of internal organs during development, so dysfunction of the cilia can lead to situs inversus (~50% of PCD patients also have situs inversus). Individuals suffering from both conditions are said to have Kartagener syndrome, which results in recurrent upper respiratory tract infections, and in males, infertility due to non-functioning cilia in spermatozoa (Afzelius 1976; Splitt, Burn et al. 1996).

The presence of an axonemal mutation in *Arl* mice was initially identified as abnormal cilia were noticed in the embryonic node of *Arl* embryos. Consequently, *Arl/iv* double heterozygotes were produced to check axonemal dynein function and were found to suffer from randomised situs inversus. Thus suggesting that *Arl* mice have impairment of axonemal dynein function that may result in a phenotype similar to that of *iv* mice. A point mutation of A6239T in *Dnah11* was identified, resulting in a change of aspartate to valine (Golding, unpublished data).

I.6 Aims of the project

Previous investigations have shown that mutations in the heavy chain of cytoplasmic dynein can lead to a range of similar phenotypes in the mouse (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003; Chen, Levedakou et al. 2007; Dupuis, Fergani et al. 2009). *Arl* is a novel mutation in the heavy chain of cytoplasmic dynein, but unlike the other dynein mutations, *Arl* is located close to the motor domain so motor function of the protein may be impaired.

To investigate what effect the mutation has on the function of dynein, cell extracts from homogenised tissue have been used to determine whether protein levels are affected. Sucrose density gradient centrifugation has been used to establish if the integrity of the dynein complex is disrupted. Dynein protein has been isolated through a process of MT binding and release, then further purified on a continuous sucrose density gradient. This purified protein has been analysed to verify its purity and confirm that all subunits were present.

The purified dynein samples have been used in MT gliding assays to look for differences in MT movement between WT and Arl/+. In addition to this ATPase assays looked for an effect on the hydrolysis of ATP. Finally, MT binding assays investigated whether the mutation affects the binding of MTs by the dynein complex.

In addition to this, mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) isolated from WT and *Arl/+* embryos have been used as an *in vitro* model system to investigate the effects of the *Arl* mutation on cargo transport. A range of dynein cargos have been tested, including the reassembly of Golgi after disruption, and the transport of endosomes using the internalisation of fluorescently tagged epidermal growth factor (EGF). Furthermore, the transport of mitochondria have been analysed to establish whether the mutation affected their cellular transport.

Moreover, transmission electron microscopy was used to ascertain the effects of *Arl* on neuronal cells from lumbar spinal cord of adult mice. Golgi and mitochondria morphology was investigated. Consequently, the function of mitochondria isolated from lumbar spinal cord tissue was also tested.

CHAPTER II

<u>Chapter II</u>

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All chemicals are from Sigma-Aldrich, unless otherwise stated. All cell biology media are from Invitrogen, unless otherwise stated.

II.1 Buffers and media

•	Lysis buffer	0.1 M Tris
		0.2% (w/v) SDS
		0.2 M NaCl
		0.5 mM EDTA
•	2D lysis buffer	7 M Urea
		2 M Thiourea
		4% (v/v) CHAPS
		65 mM DTT
•	Sample buffer	0.125 M Tris-Cl
		4% (w/v) SDS
		20% (v/v) Glycerol
		0.2 M DTT
		0.02% Bromophenol blue
•	PBS	Phosphate buffered saline without Mg ²⁺ or Ca ²⁺
•	Homogenisation buffer	рН 6.8
		80 mM KPIPES
		1 mM EGTA
		2 mM MgSO ₄

•	BRB80 buffer	рН 6.8		
		80 mM KPIPES		
		2 mM MgCl ₂		
		0.5 mM EGTA		
•	Motility buffer	рН 6.7		
		20 mM KPIPES		
		10 mM K-acetate		
		4 mM MgSO ₄		
•	ATPase assay buffer	рН 7.5		
		2 mM MgCl ₂		
		1 mM DTT		
		1 mM ATP		
		3 mM Phosphoenol pyruvate		
		0.2 mM NADH		
		50 mM Tris-acetate		
		1.75% (v/v) Pyruvate kinase/lactate dehydrogenase		
٠	Complete DMEM	DMEM (Dulbecco's modified eagles medium)		
		1% (v/v) Penicillin/streptomycin		
		1% (v/v) L-glutamine		
		15% (v/v) Foetal calf serum (Hyclone)		
•	CO ₂ Independent	CO ₂ independent medium		
	medium	1% (v/v) Penicillin/streptomycin		
		1% (v/v) L-glutamine		
•	Complete L-15	L-15 medium		
	medium	5% (w/v) Glucose		
		1% (v/v) Penicillin/streptomycin		
		20 nM Progesterone		

2% (v/v) Horse serum
5 μg/ml Insulin
10 mM Putrescine
10 μg/ml Coalbumin
30 nM Sodium selenite

- Motor neuron mediumNeurobasal medium2% (v/v) B27 supplement2% (v/v) B27 supplement $25 \mu M \beta$ -mercaptoethanol2% Horse serum $25 \mu M$ Glutamine0.1% (v/v) Fungizone1% (v/v) Penicillin/streptomycin
- Tissue homogenisation pH 7.5
 buffer 0.3 M Manitol
 20 mM MOPS
 2 mM EDTA
- O₂ Electrode buffer pH 7.4
 0.2 M Manitol
 1 mM K-Phosphate
 50 mM KCl
 1 mM MgCl₂
 10 mM MOPS

•

Primary Antibody	Company	Order code	Concentration used
anti-Dynein heavy chain, rabbit polyclonal IgG	Santa Cruz Biotech	SC-9115	1/200 – Western blot
anti-Dynein intermediate chain, 74.1kDa mouse	Dr Kevin Pfister	/	1/1000 – Western blot
monoclonal			
anti-P150 ^{Glued} , mouse polyclonal IgG	BD Transduction Labs	610473	1/500 – Western blot
anti-α-tubulin, DM1A mouse monoclonal IgG	Upstate	05-829	0.5µg/ml – Western blot
anti-Giantin, rabbit polyclonal	Covance	PRB-114C	1/1000 - Immunofluorescence
Secondary Antibody			
Goat anti-rabbit IgG, Alkaline phosphatase (AP)	Sigma	A3812	1/10,000 – Western blot
linked			
Goat anti-mouse IgG, AP linked	Sigma	A3562	1/10,000 – Western blot
Rabbit anti-mouse polyclonal IgG, HRP linked	Dako Cytomation	P0260	1/30,000 – Western blot
Donkey anti-rabbit IgG, HRP linked	GE Healthcare	NA934	1/30,000 – Western blot
Fluorescent Antibody			
EGF-Alexa Fluor 555 streptavidin complex	Invitrogen	E35350	10ng/ml – Immunofluorescence
Alexa Fluor 488 conjugate goat anti-mouse IgG	Molecular Probes	A11029	1/200 – Immunofluorescence
Alexa Fluor 546 conjugate goat anti-rabbit IgG	Molecular Probes	A11035	1/200 - Immunofluorescence

Table 2. Antibodies

Table giving details of antibodies used during experiments and optimised concentrations. AP = alkaline phosphatase linked secondary antibody, HRP = horseradish peroxidise linked secondary antibody. AP-linked antibodies were used with the CDP-STAR chemiluminescence system (Sigma) to detect proteins, HRP-linked antibodies were used with the Supersignal West Dura substrate (Pierce) to detect proteins.

II.2.1 Genotyping

For genotyping, adult tail biopsies were digested using tail lysis buffer and proteinase K overnight at 55°C. Samples were centrifuged to pellet undigested tissue. The supernatant containing genomic DNA was collected and diluted 50X in PCR grade water.

PCR used 1X Hotstart Taq Mastermix (Qiagen) and 0.5 μM each of forward and reverse primer (Arl-F: 5'-CAC TCC AGA TGC ACA GTG CTC TCC AAC CAC -3'; Arl-R: 5'- CCC ACT CAC CCT CGA TGT TGT CAA TGT AAA CCC -3').

After the initial denaturation of 95°C for 15 min, thirty five cycles of PCR were performed. Denaturation was at 94°C for 30 sec, primer specific annealing temperature of 63°C for 30 sec was used, and then extension of 72°C for 1 min. A final extension of 72°C for 10 min was then performed. 5 μ l of PCR product was analysed on 1% agarose gel to check for amplification.

PCR products were digested for 1.5 hr at 37°C with AvaI (New England Biolabs) restriction enzyme and run on a 3% agarose gel. An AvaI restriction site is present in the mutant sequence only, allowing the mutant PCR product to be distinguished from wildtype PCR product after digestion. The wildtype genotype produces one band of 270 bp, heterozygotes produce three bands of 270 bp, 235 bp and 35 bp, while homozygous mutants produce two bands of 235 bp and 35 bp.

PCR to genotype for the axonemal dynein mutation used 1X Hotstart Taq Mastermix (Qiagen) and 0.5µM each of two forward (WT and mutant) and one common reverse primer (Axo-F Mut: 5'-TCA TGA GAG CAT TGA GGG A-3'; Axo-F WT: 5'-TCA TGA GAG CAT TGA GGG CAT TGA GGG T-3' and Axo-R: 5'-TGA CTA TCG TAC AAA ATG CTT-3')

After the initial denaturation of 95°C for 15 min, thirty five cycles of PCR were performed. Denaturation was at 94°C for 30 sec, primer specific annealing temperature of 55°C for 30 sec was used, and then extension of 72°C for 1 min. A final extension of

 72° C for 10 min was then performed. 5 µl of PCR product was analysed on 1% agarose gel to establish genotype.

II.2.2 SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting

For SDS-PAGE analysis, protein samples were denatured by boiling for 5 minutes in 5X SDS sample buffer (final concentration 1% SDS). The protein samples were then separated by SDS-PAGE using either the Mini Protean gel electrophoresis system from Biorad using 4% and 10% gels (as indicated for each experiment), or the XCell Surelock MiniCell system from Invitrogen with 4-12% gradient gels. Electrophoresis was conducted at a constant voltage of 120V for approximately 1.5 hr (or until the dye front reached the bottom of the gel). Protein bands were either visualised by coomassie blue staining, following the manufacturers instructions (Sigma), or transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane from GE Healthcare for Western blotting. Membranes were immersed in methanol for 30 sec, then rinsed in water, prior to transfer to improve the transfer of proteins into the membrane. The polyacrylamide gels and membranes were "sandwiched" together between filter paper and sponge pads that had been soaked in transfer buffer and then secured in the transfer cassette (sponge padfilter paper-gel-membrane-filter paper-sponge pad). Frozen cooling units were placed into the transfer tanks with the cassettes to prevent significant temperature increase from the current and transfers were also conducted at 4°C for this reason. The transfers were conducted at 20V overnight (with an additional 30 min at 90V when transferring very large proteins such as DHC). Blots were disassembled, rinsed in PBS containing 0.5% Tween-20 (PBST) and incubated in 5% w/v non-fat milk at room temperature for 1 hr on a rocking plate. The membranes were then rinsed in PBST and labelled with the primary antibody (as indicated) at room temperature for 1 hr on a rocking plate. The membranes were washed with PBST 1 x 15 min and 3 x 5 min on a rocking plate and then labelled with secondary antibody at room temperature for 45 min on a rocking plate. The secondary antibody was removed and the membranes washed in PBST 3 x 15 min on a rocking plate. The proteins were detected using alkaline phosphataselinked secondary antibodies with the CDP-STAR chemiluminescence system (Sigma), or the Horseradish Peroxidase-linked secondary antibodies with the Supersignal West Dura substrate (Pierce) (See Table 2 for antibody details). Multiple film exposures were taken from the membranes over a range of exposure times (between 10 sec and 10 min depending on protein), and those below saturation were used for quantification. To quantify, the film images were scanned using an image scanner with ImageMaster Labscan V3.01 software (Amersham Biosciences). The signal from the bands was determined, and the background intensity from the film was subtracted using the ImageQuant TL 2005 software (Amersham Biosciences). GraphPad Prism software was used for statistical analysis using Mann-Whitney t test. Significance was set as p<0.05.

II.2.3 Dynein Quantification in Brain Tissue

Adult wildtype and *Arl/+* mice were sacrificed by terminal CO₂ anaesthetisation and the brains collected. The tissue was weighed, then homogenised using a tight glass hand held Teflon homogeniser. This was done in a 1:4 ratio of tissue to 2D lysis buffer at room temperature to prevent the urea from crystallising if performed on ice. After homogenisation, the homogenate was left at room temperature for 30 min to allow solubilisation of the proteins; it was then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 20 min. The supernatant was then collected and the protein concentration measured using the 2D Quant kit (GE Healthcare) following the manufacturer's protocol. The standard BCA kit (Pierce) could not be used to measure the protein concentration as the urea, CHAPS and DTT would interfere with the kit. The 2D Quant kit precipitates the protein, allowing for the removal of interfering substances in solution. 5 µg of each sample was boiled at 95°C for 10 min in 5 X sample buffer (SB), then loaded onto a 4% and 10% SDS-PAGE gel and Western blotting conducted as previously described, with detection for DHC and α -tubulin and alkaline phosphatase (AP)-linked secondary antibodies (1/10,000) (See table 2).

II.2.4 Dynein Quantification in Spinal Cord

Adult wildtype and Arl/+ mice were sacrificed by terminal CO₂ anaesthetisation and the spinal cords collected. The tissue was weighed, then homogenised using a tight glass hand held Teflon homogeniser. This was done in a 1:3 ratio of tissue to 2D lysis buffer. After homogenisation, the homogenate was left at room temperature for 30 min to allow solubilisation of the proteins; it was then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 20 min. The supernatant was then collected and the protein concentration measured using the 2D

Quant kit following the manufacturer's protocol. 5 μ g of each sample was boiled at 95°C for 10 min in 5 X SB, then loaded onto a 4% and 10% SDS-PAGE gel and Western blotting conducted as previously described, and labelled with DHC and α -tubulin and alkaline phosphatase (AP)-linked secondary antibodies (1/10,000) (See table 2).

II.2.5 Sucrose Density Gradient Analysis

Adult wildtype and *Arl/+* mice were sacrificed by terminal CO₂ anaesthetisation and the brains collected. The tissue was weighed, then homogenised on ice using a tight glass Teflon hand homogeniser, in PBS⁻, containing 1X protease inhibitors (Roche) in 1:4 tissue to buffer ratio. The homogenate was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C, the pellets discarded and the supernatant retained. The protein concentrations were established using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay kit, following the manufacturer's protocol. 2 mg of protein from each sample was loaded onto 5-25% linearised sucrose density gradients and centrifuged at 50,000 rpm (~303,800 x g_{max}) at 4°C for 4 hr. Nine equal fractions were gently pipetted from the top of the gradient using wide bore pipette tips to minimise disturbance to the gradient. These fractions were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen (LN₂), then 16 µl of each sample boiled at 95°C for 10 min in 5 X SB and then analysed on 4% and 10% SDS-PAGE gels and Western blotting (as previously described) then labelled for DHC (1/200) (Santa Cruz) and DIC (1/2000) (Gift from Dr Kevin Pfister) and alkaline phosphatase (AP)-linked secondary antibodies (1/10,000) (See table 2).

II.2.6 Dynein Purification

Thirty adult wildtype and *Arl/*+ mice were sacrificed by terminal CO₂ anaesthetisation and the brains dissected. The tissue was kept on ice in ice-cold PBS⁻, then drained and weighed. Any blood was rinsed away with PBS⁻ and the tissue homogenised in homogenisation buffer with ATP (HB/ATP) using a polytron at 4°C. The wildtype and *Arl/*+ homogenates were centrifuged in a Sorvall SS34 rotor at 11 krpm (~15,000 x g_{av}) at 4°C for 1 hr. The pellets were discarded and the supernatants centrifuged at high speed to remove as much membrane material as possible, using a Beckman SW55Ti rotor at 32.5 krpm (~100,000 x g_{av}) at 4°C for 1 hr. The supernatants were collected and

the pellets discarded. To remove most of the microtubule associated proteins (MAPS) from the supernatants, the endogenous tubulin was polymerised using GTP to aid polymerisation and taxol to polymerise irreversibly (0.25 mM GTP and 6 µM taxol) and incubated at 30-35°C for 30 min. The supernatants were then centrifuged at 20 krpm (~37,000 x gav) at 28°C for 30 min, again in a Beckman SW55Ti rotor. The resulting pellets were discarded and to the supernatants apyrase, AMP.PNP and taxol were added (1 U/ml apyrase, 50 μ M AMP.PNP and 4 μ M taxol). This was to bind the dynein to the microtubules using the non-hydrolysable analogue of ATP; AMP.PNP. This was incubated at 35°C for 30 min. Approximately 2 ml of 20% sucrose in HB and taxol were used as a cushion in two 5 ml centrifuge tubes. The supernatants were layered over the cushions and centrifuged at 32.5 krpm (~100,000 x gav) for 45 min at 25°C in an SW55Ti rotor. The supernatants and cushions were aspirated (a sample was kept to check if dynein remained in this sample) and the remaining pellets resuspended in $1/10^{\text{th}}$ the original volume of the high speed supernatant of HB using a small, hand-held, glass homogeniser. The resuspended pellets were layered over 10% sucrose cushions and centrifuged at 17.8 krpm (~30,000 x gav) for 30 min at 28°C. Again the supernatants and cushions were removed and samples kept to check if dynein remained. The pellets were resuspended using a small glass, hand-held homogeniser in $1/20^{\text{th}}$ the original supernatant volume of HB/KCl/taxol/ATP. This was incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C to elute the kinesin and dynein. This time, without a cushion, the resuspended samples were centrifuged at 17.8 krpm (~30,000 x gav) for 30 min at 28°C and the resulting supernatants were collected and stored on ice at 4°C. These were labelled motor sample 1. The pellets were resuspended in 1/50th the original volume of HB/KCl/ATP and left on ice at 4°C overnight. 5-20% sucrose density gradients were poured and allowed to linearise overnight. The following morning, the resuspended pellets were centrifuged at 17.8 krpm (~30,000 x g_{av}) for 30 min at 4°C, the supernatants collected and labelled as motor sample 2. All of the motor samples 1 and 2 were loaded onto individual sucrose gradients and centrifuged at 52krpm (~255,800 x g_{av}) for 4 hr and 35 min at 4°C with the brake set to low. Once complete, 12 equal fractions were collected from each of the gradients and left on ice at 4°C before being assayed for motility under the microscope the following day. Samples from each of the fractions were run on a 4-12% gradient SDS-PAGE and Western blotted (as previously described) and labelled for dynein heavy chain and intermediate chain and alkaline phosphatase (AP)-linked secondary antibodies

(1/10,000), to check for the presence and location of the dynein in the samples (See table 2).

II.2.7 Tubulin Polymerisation

MTs were polymerised using 10 μ l aliquots of 5 mg/ml stock tubulin in BRB80 buffer. To this was added, 1 mM GTP, 1X protease inhibitors (Roche), then warmed to RT and 20 μ M paclitaxel added to a final volume of 20 μ l in BRB80 buffer. This was then incubated at 35°C for 30 min. The sample becomes viscous and bubbles may appear if MTs have successfully been formed.

II.2.8 MT Gliding Assay

The MT gliding assays were performed using protocols kindly provided by Professor Viki Allan (University of Manchester) and Professor Rob Cross (Warwick University). Flow chambers were constructed from microscope slides, with two strips of high vacuum grease run along either side, and a coverslip placed on top. This produced a chamber of approximately 15-20 µl volume. To the chamber, 2.5 mg/ml casein was added to coat the glass coverslip, preventing denaturing of the dynein once added. The casein was incubated at room temperature for 2 min. This was then washed out using motility buffer. Approximately 15 µl of the purified dynein fraction was flowed into the chamber and incubated in a humid chamber at room temperature for 2-5 min. The chamber was rinsed with 2 X volumes of motility buffer containing 150 µg/ml casein and 1 mM DTT. The microtubule dilution was then flowed through the chamber, allowed to bind to the dynein for a minute and then viewed using an Olympus VE-DIC equipped, upright microscope with a 60X Plan Apo 1.4 numerical aperture DIC objective, through a Hamamatsu Argus image processor. Once MTs were identified and focussed upon, any moving ones were recorded for 1 min periods at 1 frame per second. After filming was completed, the videos were analysed to measure the velocities of the moving MTs using the Retrac program developed by Nick Carter in the laboratory of Rob Cross (previously of the Marie Curie Research Institute, now the Centre for Mechanochemical Cell Biology, Warwick University). Table 3 details optimisations that were made to this protocol to improve the levels of MT motility observed. These conditions were developed in conjunction with Dr Kuniyoshi Kaseda (previously of the

Marie Curie Research Institute, now at the Saravio Institute, Japan), based on his anecdotal evidence from using this protocol.

II.2.9 Microtubule-dependent ATPase Assay

Tubulin was polymerised to MTs and stabilised with paclitaxel. The MTs were added to the purified dynein fraction in 1ml of ATPase assay buffer. This mixture was added to a quartz cuvette and placed in a spectrophotometer set at 37°C. The change in absorbance at 340 nm was measured and recorded over a 5 min timeframe.

II.2.10 MT Binding Assay

To 20 µl of polymerised MT sample, 20 µg of purified dynein sample was added and gently mixed. To this, 50 µM AMP.PNP was added to bind the dynein to the MTs, and incubated at 30°C for 15 min. 500 µl of 10% sucrose was placed into a 2 ml centrifuge tube and the MT/dynein sample layered over the top. This was centrifuged at 30 krpm (106,500 x g_{av}) for 40 min at 25°C. The top sample was removed (the combined volume of MTs and dynein sample) and labelled supernatant and the 500 µl of sucrose cushion removed and labelled cushion. The pellet was washed in 100 µl of BRB80 buffer and centrifuged again at 30 krpm (106,500 x g_{av}) for 40 min at 25°C. The washed in 20 µl of BRB80 buffer. Each sample was run on an SDS-PAGE and analysed by western blot (as previously described) for DHC, DIC and α -tubulin (1/1000) (Upstate) and alkaline phosphatase (AP)-linked secondary antibodies (1/10,000) (See table 2) and quantified using Image Pro software.

II.3.1 Collection and Culture of Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts

Pregnant female Arl/+ mice were sacrificed by terminal CO₂ anaesthetisation and the uterine horns dissected out and placed in phosphate buffered saline, without bivalent cations (PBS⁻). Each embryo was separated from its placenta and the brain and red organs removed, then finely minced in PBS⁻ using a razor blade. The tissue from each embryo was then digested in 2 ml of trypsin-EDTA (0.05% trypsin and 0.53 mM EDTA-4 Na) for 15 min, with occasional shaking. DMEM supplemented with 15%

serum was added to neutralise the trypsin and the cells recovered by centrifugation for 5 min at 1500 rpm. The cells from each embryo were transferred to 175 cm² cell culture flasks and grown in complete DMEM medium at 37° C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂.

II.3.2 Golgi Reassembly

MEFs were seeded at a density of 2.0×10^5 cells/well in a 6 well plate, on round coverslips, in complete DMEM medium. The cells were allowed to proliferate at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂ until 70% confluency was reached. The medium was replaced with chilled complete DMEM with 15mM HEPES and the cells incubated on ice for 30 min. 10 µg/ml of nocodazol was added to each well and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂. The nocodazol was aspirated and the 0 min timepoint cells immediately fixed. All other timepoints were washed five times with plain DMEM as quickly as possible. Complete medium was then added and the cells incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂ to recover for the specified timepoints. To fix the cells, 2 ml of -20°C methanol was added to each well for 8 min, this was then aspirated and the cells were washed twice with phosphate buffered saline containing 0.2% gelatine from cold water fish skin (PBSG). The cells were stained for Golgi using an antibody against giantin (1/200) (Covance), a Golgi membrane protein, and α -tubulin. Alexa-Fluor conjugated secondary antibodies were then used (1/10,000) (All from Invitrogen) (See table 2). All antibodies were diluted in PBS⁻ (except anti-giantin which was diluted in PBSG), and incubated at room temperature for 30 min. The coverslips were mounted on glass slides using Prolong Gold mounting medium containing DAPI (Invitrogen), and left to cure for 24 hr, then stored at 4°C. The slides were imaged using a Deltavision Core inverted, widefield microscope system (Applied Precision Inc.) with an Olympus 60 x Plan Apo 1.4 numerical aperture (na) oil objective lens. Imaging was conducted using the SoftWorX image processing software (Applied Precision Inc.) with appropriate filters (DAPI and TRITC) at 100% neutral density, and exposure times of 0.2-0.5 sec. Images were then deconvolved in the SoftWorx imaging program.

II.3.3 Endosomal Trafficking

Wildtype and Arl/+ MEFs were plated at a density of 2.0×10^5 cells/ well in a 6 well plate on round coverslips in complete DMEM. Cells were allowed to proliferate at 37° C

in 5% CO_2 and 3% O_2 until 80% confluency was reached. The cells were washed twice with PBS⁻ and then incubated in starving medium (DMEM containing L-glutamine and penicillin and streptomycin, but without serum) for 2 hr at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂, before being stimulated for 10 min in starving medium containing 10 ng/ml Alexa Fluor-555 conjugated EGF (Invitrogen) and 0.1% BSA. The cells were washed twice with PBS⁻, replaced with fresh serum-free medium and the internalised EGF then chased for the indicated timepoints. Cells were then washed in ice cold PBS⁻ and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) (Electron Microscopy Science) for 15 min and permeabilised with 0.1% Triton X-100 for 5 min, then washed three times in PBS⁻ and blocked for 30 min with 2% BSA. The cells were stained for α -tubulin for 30 min at room temperature and mounted using Prolong Gold antifade with DAPI, left to cure for 24 hr and then stored at 4°C. The slides were imaged using a Deltavision Core inverted, widefield microscope system (Applied Precision Inc.) with an Olympus 60 x Plan Apo 1.4 numerical aperture (na) oil objective lens. Imaging was conducted using the SoftWorX image processing software (Applied Precision Inc.) with appropriate filters (FITC, DAPI and TRITC) at 100% neutral density, and exposure times of 0.2-0.5 sec. Images were deconvolved in the SoftWorX image processing software.

II.3.4 Endosomal Trafficking in Live Cells

Wildtype and Arl/+ MEFs were plated at a density of 0.5×10^5 cells/ well in a 2 well, live cell imaging chamber in DMEM. Cells were allowed to proliferate at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂ until 50% confluency was reached. The cells were washed twice with PBS⁻ and then incubated in starving medium (DMEM containing L-glutamine and penicillin and streptomycin, but without serum) for 2 hr at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂, before being stimulated for 10 min in starving medium containing 20 ng/ml Alexa Fluor-555 conjugated EGF (Invitrogen) and 0.1% BSA. The cells were washed once with PBS⁻, replaced with fresh serum-free CO₂ independent medium and the internalised EGF then chased for 1 min movies (at 1 frame per 2 sec), every 5 min for a total of 30 min. Images were captured using 2 channels; DIC and TRITC filters on a Personal Deltavision (pDV) widefield, live cell imaging microscope system (Applied Precision Inc.) using an Olympus 100X Plan Apo 1.4 na oil objective lens. Neutral density was set at 100% for the the DIC channel and 50% for the TRITC channel. The movies were captured using the SoftWorX imaging software (Applied Precision Inc.) and analysed using Image J and Excel to determine the total number of moving endosomes and the average velocities of each of the endosome trajectories. To determine the average velocities of the endosomes by calculating the total distance travelled by the endosome, as determined by the x and y coordinates provided by Image J, over a set time calculated from the number of frames that movement was measured. This data was used in Excel and the following formula used to calculate the distance travelled by the endosome being tracked:

$$= SQRT((((x_2-x_1)^*(x_2-x_1)) + ((y_2-y_1)^*(y_2-y_1))))$$

Where x and y are the location coordinates of the endosome. The calculated distance was then divided by the amount of time the distance was measured over to give the speed of movement of the endosome.

II.3.5 Tracking of Mitochondria in Live Cells

Wildtype and Arl/+ MEFs were plated at a density of 0.5×10^5 cells/ well in a 2 well, live cell imaging chamber in DMEM. Cells were allowed to proliferate overnight at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂ until 50% confluency was reached. 50 nM of Mitotracker Green FM (Invitrogen) was added to the cells in fresh complete medium and incubated for 30 min at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂. The medium was replaced with CO₂ independent medium and cells imaged using DIC and FITC channels on a Personal Deltavision (pDV) widefield, live cell imaging microscope system (Applied Precision Inc.) using an Olympus 100X Plan Apo 1.4 na oil objective lens. Neutral density was set at 100% for the the DIC channel and 50% for the FITC channel. The movies of the visualised mitochondria were captured using the SoftWorX imaging software (Applied Precision Inc.) and were recorded at 1 frame per 2 sec for lengths of 1 min. The movies were analysed using Image J and Excel to determine the average velocities of the mitochondria by calculating the total distance travelled by the mitochondria, as determined by the x and y coordinates provided by Image J, over a set time calculated from the number of frames that movement was measured. This data was used in Excel and the following formula used to calculate the distance travelled by the mitochondrion being tracked:

 $= SQRT(((x_2-x_1)^*(x_2-x_1)) + ((y_2-y_1)^*(y_2-y_1)))$

Where x and y are the location coordinates of the mitochondrion. The calculated distance was then divided by the time the distance was measured over to give the speed of movement of the mitochondrion.

II.3.6 Culturing of motor neurons

E13 embryos were dissected from the uterine horn and washed in PBS⁻. They were then removed from the embryonic sacs and kept in PBS⁻ on ice. The brain and red organs were removed and the spinal cord dissected from the posterior of the embryo, ensuring all connective and membranous tissue was removed. The meninges and dorsal root ganglia were removed and the dorsal root of the spinal cord cut away and discarded. The remaining ventral root (containing the motor neurons) was cut into pieces and transferred to PBS⁻ containing antibiotics (penicillin and streptomycin). Spinal cord pieces were allowed to settle and then transferred to a 10 ml Falcon tube containing 1 ml HBSS medium, antibiotics and 10 µl trypsin. This was incubated for 10 min at 37°C, with gentle shaking. The spinal cord pieces were transferred to 800 µl of complete L15 medium (L15, 100 µl 4% BSA and 100 µl DNaseI). The cells were dissociated through gentle trituration, then allowed to settle for 2 min. The supernatant was transferred to a separate tube and to the pellet was added 900 µl of complete L15 medium (L15, 100 µl 4% BSA and 20 µl DNaseI) and gently triturated 8 times. This was allowed to settle for 2 min to separate remaining large pieces of tissue and the supernatant combined with the first supernatant. To the remaining pellet 900 µl of complete medium was added and gently dissociated again by triturating 8 times. The supernatant was combined with the others and the pellet discarded. The supernatant was centrifuged through a 1 ml BSA cushion for 5 min at room temperature. The supernatant was aspirated and the pellet gently resuspended in 600 µl of Motor neuron culture medium and 200 µl seeded per well of 2 well live cell chambers. A further 800 µl of Motor neuron culture medium was added to each well and the cells incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 3% O₂.
II.4.1 Perfusion Fixation Protocol

Adult wildtype and Arl/+ mice were terminally anaesthetised by injection with ketamine hydrochloride and medetomidine hydrochloride, then intra-cardiac perfusion-fixation was performed using 2.5% gluteraldehyde and 1.5% paraformaldehyde in 100 mM Na cacodylate buffer. The perfusion was carried out in two stages; 50 ml of 100 mM cacodylate, followed by 100 ml of fixative. Perfusion was performed on a downdraught table to comply with COSHH. Tissue and muscle was removed from the hindlimbs, and the sciatic nerves removed and placed in fixative. The spinal cord was exposed by dorsal laminectomy, sliced at 2-3 mm intervals to facilitate access to tissue by the fixative and then placed in fixative. All tissues were left in fixative for 48 hr to harden. Tissues were immersed in 2% aqueous osmium tetroxide (Electron Microscopy Science) for 2 hr at room temperature, then dehydrated sequentially in increasing concentrations of ethanol- 70% ethanol, 2 x 10 min; 90% ethanol, 2 x 10 min; 100% ethanol, 2 x 10 min. The tissues were then incubated at room temperature in propylene oxide (Agar Scientific) for 2 x 15 min. Following this, the tissues were infiltrated with resin consisting of 1 part polypropylene oxide: 1 part araldite resin (Agar Scientific) for one hr on a rotating wheel. This was discarded and replaced with 1 part polypropylene oxide: 2 parts analytic resin for one hr on a rotating wheel, then finally replaced with 100% pure resin and left overnight to allow tissues to fully infiltrate on a rotating wheel. The following morning, sample pot caps were half filled with resin, the tissue from each sample placed on top and resin added to cover the tissue. These were placed in an oven at 60°C for 48 hr to allow the resin to cure. Once the resin was cured, the samples were sectioned using a microtome to produce multiple 100 nm sections. Each section was placed on a nickel electron microscopy grid, allowed to dry then stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate. The samples were imaged at 1000 x and 5000 x magnification using an Hitachi-7100 transmission electron microscope with an axially mounted Gatan Ultrascan 1000 CCD camera.

II.4.2 Preparation of Mitochondria and O₂ Consumption Assay

Five adult wildtype and Arl/+ mice were sacrificed by terminal CO₂ anaesthetisation and the lumbar section of the spinal cords dissected. The tissue was kept on ice in Tissue homogenisation buffer (THB), then homogenised with a loose, glass, handheld homogeniser in approximately 1 ml of buffer, supplemented with 1% BSA and 7 mM Lcysteine hydrochloride. The homogenate was centrifuged at 800 x g for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatants were transferred to a new tube and centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 10 min at 4°C. The pellets were resuspended in 1 ml of buffer with 1% BSA, but no Lcysteine hydrochloride and centrifuged again at 10,000 x g for 10 min at 4°C. The pellets were then resuspended in 50 µl of Oxygen electrode buffer (OEB) and kept on ice. Using a Rank oxygen electrode, the oxygen consumption of the mitochondria was measured. 20 µl of mitochondria, with 5 µl of ascorbate and 5 µl of TMPD were added to the electrode chamber in 400 µl of buffer and the rate of O₂ consumption measured and recorded. The protein concentration of each sample was then measured using the BCA protein quantification kit from Pierce. The rate of O₂ consumption was then calculated as nmol O₂.min⁻¹mg⁻¹ and wildtype and *Arl/*+ mitochondria compared. CHAPTER III

INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF THE ARL MUTATION ON DHC <u>PROTEIN</u>

III.1 Introduction

As previously explained in chapter I, the *Arl* mutation results in a change of the well conserved tryptophan at position 1206, to arginine in the cytoplasmic dynein heavy chain gene 1 (*Dync1h1*). This is in a region currently of unknown function, just N-terminal to the motor domain.

The *Arl* mutation has been shown to have a related, but more severe phenotype than *Loa* or *Cra1*, with homozygotes dying by E10, and a more pronounced and earlier onset hindlimb clenching in the tail suspension test.

As the mutation is located in an area of unknown function, initial studies looked at the effect of the mutation on the protein and its function.

III.2 Effect of mutation on mice

As the *Arl* mutation is embryonically lethal in homozygous mutants, any experiments using adult tissue could only compare WT to heterozygotes. This means that experiments using dynein from heterozygous adult tissue will contain a mixed population of WT homodimers, WT-*Arl* heterodimers and *Arl* homodimers, likely to be in a 1:2:1 ratio. As some experiments are unable to distinguish which population may be causing a particular phenotype it is important that this is taken in to account when interpreting data.

Limitations in breeding were encountered, meaning that embryonic tissue was difficult to obtain. Under normal circumstances, mice can be timed mated so that embryos of specific ages can be dissected. However, *Arl* mice proved to be very poor breeders, with very few embryos and normal mendelian ratios of genotypes were not attained. More than 100 timed matings were set up between Arl/+ and Arl/+ mice, resulting in only 6 pregnancies. From these 6 litters, only 2 Arl/Arl embryos were acquired at E10. This suggests that lethality due to the mutation may be earlier in development than previously thought.

Experiments using timed matings to produce litters of different ages were planned to establish at what stage of development the *Arl/Arl* embryos are lost, as the developmental stage at which the homozygous mutants are no longer viable can provide information about how the mutation may be affecting the embryo development. However, due to the very low levels of breeding in these mice, this was not possible.

Mendelian ratios were not identified in litters from breeding stock. As Arl is a dominant mutation, ratios from F1 backcrosses of Arl/+ x WT should result in approximately 1:1 ratios of genotypes. However, from 901 mice produced from these crosses, 265 were Arl/+ and 636 were WT, giving a ratio of 1 : 2.4. This suggests that some Arl/+ mice are lost *in utero*.

The recently identified axonemal dynein mutation in Arl may play a part in the breeding problems and embryonic loss seen in Arl mice, however, due to time constraints it was not possible to investigate this in detail. Nevertheless, it was important to establish whether this axonemal mutation was indeed present in the Arl colony used in this project and although it was not practical to re-genotype the entire colony, a random selection of samples already used in this project was tested to determine the presence of the mutation.

As shown in Figure 6, the axonemal mutation is present in some samples, but not all, suggesting that the axonemal and cytoplasmic dynein mutations in *Arl* are able to segregate and have randomly done so in some of the mice that were used in this project.

III.3 Dynein heavy chain protein

To investigate whether the *Arl* mutation had any effect on the levels of dynein heavy chain protein in tissue samples, the brains of six mice (3 wildtype and 3 Arl/+) were



Figure 6. Cytoplasmic and axonemal dynein genotypes of a selection of mice used during the project.

Tissue from a sample of mice used during this project were genotyped for both the *Arl* mutation in cytoplasmic dynein, and the axonemal dynein mutation to identify whether all *Arl* mice contain the axonemal dynein mutation, or if the mutations can segregate. Samples 1-3 are *Arl/*+ and contain the axonemal dynein mutation. Samples 4 and 5 are *Arl/*+, but do not contain the axonemal dynein mutation.

dissected, homogenised in PBS⁻ and $5\mu g$ of each analysed on a 4% SDS PAGE, with α -tubulin used as an internal loading control (Figure 7 A).

This was repeated using spinal cord tissue from six mice (as before, 3 wildtype and 3 Arl/+) which was homogenised and 5µg loaded onto a 4-12% gradient gel (Figure 7 B). Analysis of the proteins by western blotting showed no significant difference in the amount of DHC in Arl/+ brain tissue or spinal cord tissue compared to wildtype littermates. This suggests that the Arl mutation does not affect the transcription or translation, or stability of the DHC protein.

III.4 Integrity of the dynein complex

The dynein complex is composed of two homodimerised heavy chains associated with a number of intermediate, light intermediate and light chains to form a fully functioning dynein motor protein. Despite the *Arl* mutation not being located within the region of homodimerisation of the heavy chains, or the areas of association of the accessory chains, it could, however, interfere with the stability of the complex causing a perturbation to its function.

To investigate this, sucrose density gradient centrifugation was used to see if the complex of dynein chains was affected by the *Arl* mutation. Brain tissue from wildtype and *Arl*/+ mice was homogenised in PBS⁻ and 2 mg of protein loaded onto 5-25% continuous sucrose density gradients and centrifuged at 303,800 x g_{max} for 4 hr. Dynein chains that are associated in the complex would sediment together at approximately 20S, but any dynein not in the complex would sediment in much less dense fractions as it is "free" from the complex.

Equal fractions were removed from the gradients and analysed by SDS PAGE on 4% and 10% gels and western blotting to see if the sedimentation of the dynein chains was altered by the *Arl* mutation. Heavy chain and intermediate chain were labelled for as the mutation is contained within heavy chain, and intermediate chain is the least stable component of the complex (King 2009) and therefore the most likely to be affected by any disturbance to the complex. Despite this experiment using adult brain tissue, if the



Figure 7. Quantification of DHC in brain and spinal cord tissue from WT and Arl/+ mice.

- A. Brain tissue from 3 WT and *Arl*/+ mice was homogenised in PBS⁻ and 5µg of total protein loaded onto a 4% SDS PAGE, probed for DHC (1/200), with α -tubulin (1/1000) used as an internal loading control.
- B. Spinal cord tissue from 3 WT and and *Arl/+* mice was homogenised in PBS⁻ and 5µg of total protein loaded onto a 4% SDS PAGE, probed for DHC (1/200), with α -tubulin (1/1000) used as an internal loading control.

Arl mutation affected integrity of the complex, it would be expected that this would still be evident from the WB as the population of *Arl* homodimers is likely to make up approx. ¹/₄ of the total heterozygous dynein sample. As can be seen from Figure 8, there is no difference in the distribution pattern of either the heavy chains or intermediate chains, suggesting that the integrity of the dynein complex is not affected by the mutation.

III.5 Purifying the dynein complex for analysis of its function

As the dynein heavy chain is too large to practicably clone and express (~530kDa, ~4,500kb), purification of the complex from tissue was deemed to be the best way to obtain the protein for use in functionality assays (such as microtubule gliding assays). Dynein complex from wildtype and Arl/+ was isolated to allow comparison of their function.

Brain tissue from approximately 35 mice of each genotype (WT and Arl/+) was collected and pooled together. This was homogenised and centrifugation steps used to purify the protein, with MT binding and centrifugation through a 20% and then 10% sucrose cushion and then release from the MTs with excess ATP. Pelleting of the MTs was used to isolate the MT based motor proteins (dynein and kinesin). This was then further purified on a 5-20% continuous sucrose density gradient to separate the motor proteins and equal fractions of the gradient were collected. These fractions were analysed by SDS PAGE on 4-20% gradient gels and coomassie staining and western blots were performed to identify the proteins in the fractions and which fraction contained the greatest amount of dynein complex for use in functionality assays. Samples from the supernatant of the sucrose cushions used in the purification in these steps.

Despite there being a greater starting amount of total brain tissue in the Arl/+ purification (~20 g of Arl/+ v ~16 g wildtype), more dynein is apparent in the supernatant of the 20% cushion from the wildtype sample than the Arl/+ (Figure 9). This would suggest that a greater amount of the wildtype dynein did not bind to MTs and was therefore unable to sediment through the sucrose cushion than that in the Arl/+



Figure 8. Western blot of sucrose density gradient

2 mg of tissue homogenate from WT and Arl/+ was loaded onto a 5-25% sucrose density gradient and centrifuged for 4 hr at 50,000 rpm (~303,800 x g_{max}). 9 equal fractions were removed and run on 4% and 10% gels and labelled for DHC (1/200) and DIC (1/1000). No difference in distribution between genotypes is seen.

A. Wildtype





Brain tissue from approximately 35 mice was collected and pooled together. This was homogenised and centrifugation steps used to purify the protein, with MT binding and centrifugation through a 20% and then 10% sucrose cushion and then release from the MTs with excess ATP. This was then further purified on a 5-20% continuous sucrose density gradient to separate the motor proteins and 12 equal fractions of the gradient were collected. These fractions were analysed by SDS PAGE on 4-20% gradient gels and western blots performed to label for DHC, p150, DIC and α -tubulin, and identify which fraction contained the greatest amount of dynein complex. A) Western blot from WT protein, B) western blot from *Arl/*+ protein.

sample. It has already been shown in Figure 7 A that there is no difference in the amount of dynein protein in brain tissue between wildtype and Arl/+, meaning if there was a greater amount of tissue used in Arl/+, then there should have been a greater amount of dynein protein than in the wildtype sample. This suggests that the difference in the amount of dynein able to sediment through the sucrose cushions is due to the ability of the dynein to bind to the MTs.

It is worth noting that due to the limited amount of Arl/+ tissue available, this experiment was performed only once, and is thus a comparison between WT and Arl/+ from 35 mice of each genotype on this one occasion.

The dynein complex is confined to fractions 11 and 12 in wildtype, but is seen in fractions 10, 11 and 12 in Arl/+. The reason for dynein being present in fraction 10 in the Arl/+ sample is likely to be due to there being a larger amount of dynein present in these fractions which has caused it to "bleed" and overflow into fractions either side. This blot shows that the greatest amount of dynein is located in fraction 11 of both genotypes, with a lesser amount in fraction 12. This was confirmed by measuring the protein concentrations of fractions 11 and 12 of the purified wildtype and Arl/+ dynein samples using a BCA kit. In WT, fractions 11 and 12 were found to be 0.95 mg/ml and 0.89 mg/ml respectively, and in Arl 1.23 mg/ml and 1.15 mg/ml. The difference in concentrations between the genotypes is accounted for by the differing starting amounts of tissue used. As fraction 11 contained the greatest amount of dynein in both genotypes it was therefore used for subsequent experiments.

Having identified which fractions contained the purified dynein complex, it was important to establish the purity of these samples. To do this the samples were run on 4-20% gradient gel and coomassie stained to identify all the proteins present in each fraction (Figure 10). In the main fractions containing dynein (11 and 12) the subunits of the dynein complex can be identified as well as dynactin and a small amount of tubulin. No other major bands that do not correspond with a dynein subunit appear to be present, suggesting that fractions 11 and 12 contain relatively pure dynein and are indeed suitable to use for experiments to investigate its function.



В

А



Figure 10. Coomassie gels of WT and Arl/+ dynein complex from dynein isolation.

Brain tissue from approximately 35 mice was collected and pooled together. This was homogenised and centrifugation steps used to purify the protein, with MT binding and centrifugation through a 20% and then 10% sucrose cushion and then release from the MTs with excess ATP. This was then further purified on a 5-20% continuous sucrose density gradient to separate the motor proteins and 12 equal fractions of the gradient were collected. These fractions were analysed by SDS PAGE on 4-20% gradient gels and coomassie stained to identify the proteins present and which fraction contained the greatest amount of dynein complex. A) Coomassie gel of WT sample, B) coomassie gel of Arl/+ sample, showing major proteins present in each sample.

<u>Analysis of dynein function</u> <u>III.6 MT Gliding Assay</u>

The dynein samples were used in microtubule gliding assays to try to determine if the Arl/+ mutation affected the motility of the dynein. Microtubule gliding assays have previously been used to look at the speed of the dynein motor along MTs using video enhanced differential interference contrast (VE-DIC) microscopy. The wildtype dynein sample was used to optimise the system, so that the Arl/+ sample could be measured and compared against it. The system requires flow chambers made from glass microscope slides and coverslips with two strips of vacuum grease in between to separate them, giving chambers of approximately 15-20 µl volumes. Casein is flowed into the flow chambers and incubated to block the glass, coating it and preventing the dynein from denaturing upon attachment, the excess is then washed out using motility buffer. Next, the dynein is flowed into the chamber and incubated for at least 5 minutes in a humid chamber (to minimise evaporation of buffer from the small volume of the flow chamber). This allows time for the dynein to bind to the casein molecules, then short lengths of polymerised MTs are added to the dynein. The MTs bind to the dynein molecules and can be visualised using VE-DIC and the movements recorded and measured. The movement of the MTs is due to the dynein molecules and provides an indication of the level and speed of motility produced by the dynein. As the dynein used in this experiment is a comparison of WT with heterozygous, it is important that the individual velocities of many MTs are measured. This allows velocities of the different potential dynein populations to be investigated and distinguished between, as WT homodimers from the heterozygous dynein sample should have similar velocities to those from the WT dynein sample, and so any difference in velocity is likely to be due to the populations containing the mutant Arl.

The system proved difficult to optimise in spite of many different improvements being made. As can be seen from Table 3, 16 different conditions were tried, with some showing improvements over others, but none providing MT gliding velocities above ~0.3 μ m/sec (Figures 11 A and B). In published data from this system dynein has shown MT gliding velocities of more than 1 μ m/sec (Paschal, Shpetner et al. 1987; Shimizu, Toyoshima et al. 1995). Of the conditions used that did produce MT gliding,

File no	Conditions	Movement	Av. Velocity (um/sec)
1	2x dyn dilution + motility buffer + 0.5mg/ml case in + 100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + ATP 1mM	MTs bound, but only 1-2 MTs moving v slowly	0.110012963
2	2x dyn dilution + motility buffer + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + 1mM ATP + 0.03% NP40	Fewer MTs bound, fewer than (1). Similar level of movement	0.105242
3	10x dyn dilution + motility buffer + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + ATP 1mM + 0.03% NP40	More MTs bound, greater no of MTs moving	0.357994074
4	10x dyn dilution + motility buffer + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + 4mM ATP + 0.03% NP40	Increased ATP=10x fewer MTs bound. Less movement	0.209417778
5	10x dyn dilution + motility buffer + 0.5mg/ml casein +100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + 0.2mM ATP + 0.03% NP40	Greatly decreased ATP= similar no of MTs as with 4mM ATP, some movement	0.230471667
6	10x dyn dilution + motility buffer + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + 1mM ATP + 0.03% NP40	Extra MTs added on top of first layer of MTs and dyn. More MTs bound and more movement	0.342031667
7	10x dyn dilution + motility buffer + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + 4mM ATP + 0.03% NP40	Same conditions, with extra MTs added, but less ATP= same amount of MTs bound, but less movement	0.21023
8	2x dyn dilution + BRB80 buffer + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + 1mM ATP	Different ionic strength of buffer, still see MT binding. Higher dyn conc (2x). Some MTs bound, lot of MT waving, but little movement	0.124198571
9	2x dyn dilution + BRB80 buffer + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + 4mM ATP + 0.03% NP40	A lot more MTs bound than with 10x dyn dil. Greater no of MTs moving	0.217337368
10	Undil. dyn + BRB80 buffer + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100uM taxol + 1mM DTT + 4mM ATP + 0.03% NP40 + GCO	Addition of oxygen scavenger system + increased ATP conc. Lots of MTs bound, but v little movement	0.146063333
11	10x dyn dil. + 0.03% NP40 + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100 uM taxol + 1mM DTT + 1mM ATP + p150 ab	MTs bound by addition of p150 antibody. Many more MTs bound, with some movement	0.21936
12	10x dyn dil. + 0.03% NP40 + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100 uM taxol + 4mM DTT + 1mM ATP + p150 ab	Increased ATP to 4mM, same MT binding, but decreased movement	0.265495714
13	2x dyn dil. + 0.03% NP40 + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100 uM taxol + 4mM DTT + 1mM ATP + DIC ab	DIC antibody= lots of MTs bound, but little movement	0.129905
14	10x dyn dil. + 0.03% NP40 + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100 uM taxol + 4mM DTT + 1mM ATP + DIC ab	Less dyn= similar amount of MTs bound, slightly more movement	0.218267143
15	10x dyn dil. + 0.03% NP40 + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100 uM taxol + 4mM DTT + 1mM ATP + DIC ab	Same conditions, but extra MTs added ontop of denatured protein- more movement	0.2629145
16	10x dyn dil. + 0.03% NP40 + 0.5mg/ml casein + 100 uM taxol + 4mM DTT + 1mM ATP + p150 ab	Same conditions, but extra MTs added ontop of denatured protein- more movement than with 2x dyn dil and w/o extra MTs added	0.27544

 Table 3. Motility assay conditions.

 Table giving details of motility assay conditions used, what effect they had and the resulting average motility speeds identified.



Figure 11. Graphs showing average motility speeds from MT gliding assays

- A) Graph of motility speeds from MT gliding assays, grouped by assay conditions used, either motility buffer, with varying dynein concentrations and ATP concentrations; or BRB80 buffer, with varying ATP concentration; or motility buffer with either anti-p150 (1/10) or anti-DIC (1/10) antibodies used to bind dynein to coverslip. Numbers below the graph relate to assay condition used (See table 1).
- B) Graph of motility speeds in order of motility speed achieved, from greatest speed to lowest. See table 1 for details of assay conditions used.

only a very small proportion of MTs were seen to be moving ($\sim 1/10^{\text{th}}$ of the total number of MTs visible), far fewer than would be expected.

Despite this system having been used by other groups to measure the motility of dynein, it has generally used either recombinant dynein, meaning the samples were of extremely high purity, or dynein purified from bovine or porcine brain tissue. Using dynein purified from multiple murine brains, by means of protocols designed to purify dynein from bovine or porcine tissue may have affected the resulting motility.

As the gliding assay could not be optimised using wildtype dynein and as the protocol required such a large amount of brain tissue to obtain the purified dynein, and with the number of Arl/+ mice limited due to their poor breeding, it was concluded that only limited data could be obtained from this experiment. It was decided that the Arl/+ mice would be used to purify dynein, but that it would be better used to check other aspects of the dynein function, such as MT binding and ATPase assays.

III.7 ATPase Assay

To investigate whether the *Arl* mutation had an affect on the ATPase function of the motor, the MT dependent spectrophotometric ATP/NADH coupled assay was used. This reaction is based on the conversion of phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) to pyruvate by pyruvate kinase (PK) coupled to the conversion of pyruvate to lactate by lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). The second part of the reaction requires NADH which is oxidised to NAD⁺. NADH absorbs strongly at 340 nm, but NAD⁺ does not, so the oxidisation of NADH can be followed by monitoring the absorbance at 340 nm. The decrease in OD₃₄₀ can then be converted into ATPase activity where 1 molecule of NADH oxidised to NAD⁺ corresponds to the production of 1 molecule of ADP by the motor ATPase (Huang and Hackney 1994).



Figure 12. Summary of ATP/NADH coupled assay. (Adapted from (Huang and Hackney 1994)

To optimise the reaction and ensure that it worked, the wildtype purified dynein protein was used. A baseline reading was obtained using only reaction buffer (no dynein or MTs), then the ATPase activity of dynein without MTs was measured to estimate any non-MT dependent activity that may be present. The reaction was then conducted, initially using 20 μ g of dynein and 25 μ g of MTs. No rates of reaction at OD₃₄₀ were observed, indicating that the reaction was not occurring as expected. The ATPase activity of dynein is MT dependent (Huang and Hackney 1994), and so the amount of MTs and dynein added to the reaction was varied, using 20 μ g of dynein and 75 μ g of MTs. Then, in case the amount of dynein being used was too small for the reaction volume, 40 μ g of dynein and 50 μ g of MTs, then 40 μ g of dynein and 100 μ g of MTs were tried. However, this had no effect on the assay and no rates were recorded using any of the combinations.

Availability of both the purified dynein and the purchased tubulin were limiting factors in being able to optimise this assay as large volumes of both were required, restricting the number of times the assay could be repeated to allow optimisation. Another difficulty was the absence of a suitable positive control to ensure that the assay system was working correctly. Because of these factors, the ATPase activity of the wildtype purified dynein could not be measured.

III.8 MT Binding Assay

Despite being unable to measure the ATPase activity of the dynein, the binding to MTs can be determined by incubating dynein with MTs and centrifuging through a sucrose cushion. Only dynein bound to MTs is dense enough to sediment through the cushion

and pellet at the bottom of the tube, thus giving an indication of the efficiency of the binding of the dynein to MTs.

When tested with WT purified dynein this method worked well, so the *Arl* dynein sample was used to compare against the wildtype. Using the pooled dynein samples, the pull-down was repeated three times for each genotype. 20 μ g of dynein sample was incubated for 30 min at 37°C with 50 μ g of polymerised MTs, then layered over a 20% sucrose cushion and centrifuged for 40 min at 30,000 rpm (77,100 x g_{max}). The top supernatant fraction was removed, then the cushion fraction. The pellet was washed and re-centrifuged and the pellet re-suspended and collected. Samples from each fraction were run on 4-12% gradient gels and blotted for DHC, DIC and α -tubulin.

As can be seen from Figure 13 A, the greatest amount of dynein pulled down, relative to the amount of MTs, is in the *Arl* sample, suggesting that the binding of dynein to MTs is stronger or more efficient in *Arl* than WT. To quantify this, the dynein signal was measured and compared against the tubulin signal for each sample. By comparing the amount of dynein pelleted against the amount of tubulin pelleted, it disregarded any differences in the efficiency of tubulin polymerisation into MTs and therefore the total starting amount of MTs that were available to bind dynein.

Using the MT binding of WT as a reference, the binding of Arl was compared against it. As shown in Figure 13 B, the MT binding of the dynein is significantly greater in Arl than in WT (p=0.03), suggesting that the Arl mutation increases the affinity of dynein for MTs.

This data, together with the larger amount of dynein seen after centrifugation through sucrose cushions during the dynein purification suggests that the *Arl* mutation increases the binding of dynein to MTs compared to WT dynein.

III.9 Discussion

The recently identified axonemal dynein mutation in Arl may be involved in the reduced breeding and embryonic loss of Arl seen in this colony. Axonemal dynein type 11 is mutated and this is known to be involved in positioning of organs during





B)

Figure 13. Binding of dynein to MTs in WT and Arl/+

- A) Purified dynein complex was incubated with polymerised MTs and layered over a 20% sucrose cushion, centrifuged and supernatant (S), cushion (C) and pellet (P) fractions collected for both WT and *Arl/+*. Samples were run on a 4-12% gradient gel, western blotted and labelled for DHC, DIC and α -tubulin. A range of exposures were taken, but only those not overexposed were used for quantification purposes. The tubulin in this figure is to demonstrate the relative amounts of dynein to tubulin only, and the tubulin signal was not used for quantification.
- **B)** Relative binding of DIC to α -tubulin in *Arl*/+ was compared to WT reference. 3 samples of each genotype were measured.

development. When crossed with iv mice (a model for the human condition, situs invertus), the phenotype similar to that of iv/iv mice is seen. In human situs inversus, a common underlying cause is PCD which results in non-functioning spermatozoa in males. Therefore, further investigations into the effects of the axonemal dynein mutation on *Arl* mice are required and should include analysis of spermatozoa function to determine whether this is the cause of the reduced breeding seen in *Arl* mice.

As details of this mutation were only recently made available, it was out of the scope of this project to investigate in detail the possible involvement in the *Arl* phenotype. However, because of the specific roles played by cytoplasmic and axonemal dynein, it is unlikely that the axonemal mutation would affect the cytoplasmic dynein functions investigated in this thesis.

The *Arl* mutation is located in an area of unknown function, N-terminal to the motor domain, but C-terminal to the sites of both homodimerisation and accessory chain binding. Therefore, it was unlikely that the integrity of the complex would be perturbed by the mutation. However, as the function of the heavy chain region containing the mutation is unknown, it was possible any structural change caused by the mutation could affect the heavy chain and possibly have a knock on effect on the structure of the complex. Although it was important to check for any effects on the complex integrity, none were identified. This suggests that *Arl* does not affect the complex and also indicates that the area of unknown function is not involved in maintaining the structure or composition of the complex.

The amount of dynein recovered during the purification suggests a difference in the amount of dynein able to sediment through the sucrose cushions (Figure 9), possibly due to a difference in affinity for MTs. However, the samples had been incubated with AMP.PNP, a non-hydrolysable analogue of ATP, so the dynein complex would not have been in its maximal MT binding conformation. That a greater amount of Arl/+ dynein is seen in the pellet, having centrifuged through the sucrose cushion compared to WT, suggests that even in low MT binding state, the Arl dynein may still bind MTs more than WT dynein.

As shown in Figure 9, all the components of the dynein complex are present after purification, in both WT and *Arl/+* samples. However, despite all the different conditions tried, the purified dynein was unable to move a significant proportion of short lengths of MTs, or at a sufficient velocity, compared to published data. No dynein positive control was available, however, the kinesin positive control was used to initially set up the system and MT gliding was identified, indicating that none of the reagents involved were at fault (for example, the ATP which can become unstable and become hydrolysed to ADP). This suggests that the purified dynein may not have been functioning fully. This is most likely as the dynein used in the gliding assay was WT, and so there should be no other reason for it to be unable to move the MTs. The optimisation of the system was conducted on separate occasions, each time with freshly prepared dynein sample, so an isolated problem with one sample cannot be the cause.

The dynein purification is based on a protocol first established for purifying dynein from either bovine or porcine brain. It has not previously been used to purify dynein from multiple murine brains, and this difference may be where the problem lies. During the purification procedure, the activity of the dynein may be compromised, but the integrity of the complex maintained.

This is supported by the lack of ATPase activity recorded from the WT dynein sample. Again, no suitable dynein positive control was available to ensure the assay system was working, and there may have been an issue with the assay that prevented it from identifying enzyme activity, or the assay may not have been sensitive enough, with ATPase levels too small to be detected. However, this seems unlikely as it is a well established and published protocol, which has successfully been used to measure the basal ATPase activity of dynein, without MTs. Once stimulated by MT binding, ATPase activity has been shown to increase approximately sevenfold (King and Schroer 2000). Even if the assay was unable to detect a small ATPase activity before MT stimulation, it seems unlikely that it would also not be sensitive enough to detect an activity seven times greater. Together, it suggests that there was no ATPase activity to detect, supporting the theory that the protocol for purifying the dynein sample affects its ATPase activity.

A positive control would need to be identified to ensure the assay was properly functioning and to identify the level of sensitivity to then definitively determine whether the dynein sample maintained any ATPase activity. Based on this, possible alterations to the purification protocol could be investigated with the aim of resolving the loss of ATPase activity. Once this problem was rectified, the Arl/+ dynein could be tested to identify any difference in ATPase activity compared to WT.

The possible lack of ATPase activity does not appear to affect the MT binding of either the WT or Arl/+ dynein samples. Both genotypes show binding of MTs, but with greater levels identified in Arl/+ compared to WT, suggesting that the Arl mutation may cause the dynein to have a greater affinity for MTs compared to WT.

The binding of dynein to MTs is dictated by the affinity state of the MTBD, and this affinity is linked to the binding, hydrolysis and release of ADP/ATP in the AAA domains of the motor ring. As discussed in chapter I, the difficulty of the large distance between the sites of ATP hydrolysis and MT binding is thought to be overcome by conformational changes around the AAA domains which change the registry of the coiled-coils of the stalk. This change in relative position of the coiled-coils is thought to regulate the affinity of the MTBD for MTs.

The proposed linker domain below the motor head is suggested to mediate the swing of the powerstroke after ATP hydrolysis. As the *Arl* mutation is located just C-terminal to the proposed location of the linker domain, it may affect the powerstroke. The linker domain is suggested to be close to the first AAA domain, one of the main sites of ATP hydrolysis, so if *Arl* caused an unknown structural change that affects the flexibility of the linker, it could have a knock-on effect of disrupting the conformational change around the ring structure, in the coiled-coil and ultimately in the MTBD. As the *Arl*/+ dynein appears to increase the affinity of dynein for MTs compared to WT, this would suggest that a conformational change causes the MTBD to be maintained in a higher affinity conformation, compared to WT.

This proposed mechanism relies on the ATPase activity being established, so the assay is extremely important in identifying if the *Arl* mutation affects nucleotide binding and/or hydrolysis. It is also vital to establish whether a change in structure is brought

about by the mutation. As the location of the Arl mutation is currently of unknown structure and function, cloning of the area, expression and crystallisation to allow the structure of both Arl and WT to be determined and compared by x-ray crystallography is important in establishing the effect of the Arl mutation on the heavy chain.

Current work has included isolating mRNA from *Arl/*+ brain tissue, reverse transcription PCR to obtain cDNA of both *Arl* and WT, and PCR with primers specific for an area of the heavy chain containing the mutation (Pfam-B 8363 region consisting of residues 1032-1282). This has been cloned into a tagged expression vector, but further work will include expression of the protein, establishing its solubility and purifying using the tag. Crystal trials will then be set up, and any resulting crystals used to obtain diffraction patterns, from which the structures of the *Arl* and WT can be established. This information will allow *Arl* and WT structures to be compared and identify if the mutation causes significant structural perturbation.

CHAPTER IV

INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF THE ARL MUTATION ON CARGO TRANSPORT

IV.1 Introduction

As discussed in Chapter I, intracellular organelle transport is essential for a large number of cellular processes. The ability of a motor to transport its cargo provides an indication of the functioning of that motor.

As shown in Chapter III, in vitro assays of dynein function have proved difficult to obtain useful data from. An alternative method is to track the movements of cargos in cultured cells to investigate the effect of the *Arl* mutation on the cargo transport functions of cytoplasmic dynein.

In mammalian cells, the Golgi is positioned near the centrosome in a perinuclear distribution. The membranes require dynein and kinesin to maintain their position, as loss of dynein activity causes dispersal away from the centrosome and loss of kinesin causes compaction around the centrosome. Dysfunction in Golgi localisation can severely affect the organisation of the secretory pathway. This makes the Golgi an ideal cargo to investigate the effect of *Arl* on dynein's ability to transport a major and important cargo.

Endocytosis is an important mechanism in mammalian cells that involves internalisation of extracellular nutrients, regulation of cell surface receptor expression and antigen presentation for example. The best characterised mechanism of endocytosis is clathrin dependent receptor mediated, which is used by a large number of extracellular ligands that have different cell surface receptors, such as EGF, transferrin, antibodies and LDL. The binding and internalisation of the ligand-receptor complex into endosomes results in their trafficking through the endosomal pathway, either for degradation (e.g. EGF) or recycling (e.g. transferrin) (Benmerah and Lamaze 2007; Parkar, Akpa et al. 2009).

Dynein is responsible for the trafficking of endosomes through the degradative endosomal pathway to the lysosomes and so tracking of EGF positive endosomes provides a way of investigating dynein's ability to transport an important cargo.

Mitochondria are translocated along MTs by members of the kinesin family and cytoplasmic dynein, as well as actin tracks driven most likely by myosin V. Their transport is modulated in response to physiological signals and local energy requirements. For example, in active neuronal growth cones, mitochondria move into them and become stationary, however, when growth cone activity is lower, the mitochondria switch to retrograde movement (Frederick and Shaw 2007).

Dysfunctional mitochondria are moved towards the cell body to be repaired by fusion with healthy mitochondria, or for degradation by mitophagy. In the cell body mitochondrial fission produces healthy mitochondria that are the correct size which are then transported down axons towards the synapses (Frederick and Shaw 2007).

So there are a number of situations where mitochondrial movement is required and retrograde transport is therefore extremely important. The importance of mitochondrial transport makes them an ideal cargo to utilise in the investigation of dynein-dependent transport.

IV.2 In vitro cell system

MEFs are an excellent model system for studying cellular function. Primary MEFs are easily cultured from E13 embryos and can be passaged a number of times without the need for immortalisation. However, because MEFs are derived from mesenchymal tissue (derived from all three germ layers), it means that gastrulation needs to have occurred for embryos to be used to culture MEFs from. As *Arl/Arl* embryos are not viable after E10 (during embryo gastrulation), it means that MEFs cannot be cultured from *Arl/Arl* embryos. WT E10 embryos were tested to see if any cell culture could be

established from such an early stage, but this was unsuccessful, meaning that cellular function of *Arl/Arl* cannot be investigated *in vitro*.

IV.3 Golgi Reassembly

Cytoplasmic dynein is involved in the maintenance of the location of Golgi within the cell. Previously it has been shown that disruption of the MTs causes the dispersion of Golgi throughout the cell, as the dynein is unable to maintain its location (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003). Once the MTs are able to re-polymerise, the dynein is responsible for re-assembling the Golgi. Because of this, the Golgi is useful in studying the ability of dynein to transport its cargo.

The experiment was conducted in MEFs as they are a well characterised and robust model cell system. This experiment has been extensively studied, particularly in *Loa* cells (Hafezparast, Klocke et al. 2003), so was useful to compare against the severity of the *Arl* mutation. *Arl* and *Loa* mice were crossed, and the resulting embryos were used to derive primary MEF cultures of all 4 possible genotypes (WT, *Arl*/+, +/*Loa* and *Arl*/*Loa*).

Normally in cells, Golgi is maintained in a perinuclear region as shown by the untreated cells in Figure 14. In this experiment the cells were treated with cold and nocodazole (NZ) to depolymerise the MTs, resulting in the Golgi fragmenting throughout the cell, the NZ was washed out and the cells allowed to recover over a timecourse of 50 min. As shown by the WT cells in Figure 14, at 0 min, straight after the NZ has been washed out, the Golgi is fragmented around the cell, but by 30 min the Golgi has reassembled back into stacks of cisternae.

However, in the cells containing dynein mutations, the re-assembly of the Golgi is incomplete at 30 min, and it is not until 50 min that the dynein has transported the Golgi fragments back to form stacks around the nucleus. The compound heterozygotes are the most severely affected, with the reassembly far from complete by 30 min. The Golgi re-assembly is not rescued in the compound heterozygotes, demonstrating the *Arl* and *Loa* mutations do not show complementation, suggesting they may be allelic. The





MEFS were treated with cold (4°C) for 30 min and nocodazole for 3 hr, washed and then allowed to recover at 37°C for the times indicated. Golgi here is shown in red and nuclei in blue (DAPI). The scale bar here represents $30\mu m$, n=10

reassembly of the Golgi in the *Arl* cells is less complete than in the *Loa* cells, suggesting the *Arl* mutation impairs the function of dynein more so than *Loa*. By 50 min the recovery is more advanced, although not complete in the cells containing the dynein mutations. This data agrees with data previously obtained from *Loa* and indicates that the *Arl* mutation also impairs dynein's ability to transport Golgi after it has been fragmented around the cell.

To quantify this data, Image J was used to count the total number of Golgi fragments and measure the total area of Golgi in each cell. This was used to calculate ratios of the number of fragments against the total area and used to compare between the genotypes at each timepoint (n=10). A number of methods for analysis of this data were investigated, such as comparing total Golgi signal or number of remaining fragments between cells of each genotype. However, the cells analysed were of a range of sizes, meaning that direct comparison of total Golgi signal or number of fragments were not suitable methods of comparison. By calculating a ratio of the number of Golgi fragments against the total signal, the differences in the sizes of the cells measured was not a factor, and comparisons of the ratios could be used to determine the degree of reassembly in the cells of different genotypes.

While full reassembly of the Golgi is complete by 30 min in WT (Figures 15 A and 15 B), Golgi in cells containing mutant dynein (both *Arl* and *Loa*) is not completely reassembled, even after 50 min of recovery. In *Loa*/+ the Golgi is nearing complete recovery, compared to untreated control cells (p=0.013), however, in *Arl*/+ cells the recovery is less complete by this stage (p=0.001). This suggests that the *Arl* mutation impairs the transport of Golgi more severely than *Loa*.

IV.4 Fixed Cell EGF Trafficking

Dynein function is well established in the trafficking of epidermal growth factor (EGF), so it is useful in investigating the effect of the *Arl* mutation on cytoplasmic dynein's role in the endocytic trafficking pathway.

MEFs were starved for 2 hr, then pulsed for 10 min with Alexa-fluor 555 conjugated EGF, washed twice and chased for 50 min. As shown in Figure 16, after the 10 min



A)

Mann-Whitney Test		
Comparison	p value	Significance
WT-C \rightarrow WT-0min	0.0002	***
WT-C \rightarrow WT-30min	0.1903	ns
WT-C \rightarrow WT-50min	0.0599	ns
$Loa/+-C \rightarrow Loa/+-0min$	0.0002	***
$Loa/+-C \rightarrow Loa/+-30min$	0.0008	***
$Loa/+-C \rightarrow Loa/+-50min$	0.0127	*
$Arl/+-C \rightarrow Arl/+-0min$	0.0001	***
$Arl/+-C \rightarrow Arl/+-30min$	0.0001	***
$Arl/+-C \rightarrow Arl/+-50min$	0.0013	**
$Arl/Loa-C \rightarrow Arl/Loa-Omin$	0.0003	***
Arl/Loa-C \rightarrow Arl/Loa-30min	0.0001	***
Arl/Loa-C \rightarrow Arl/Loa-50min	0.0081	**

B)

Figure 15. Quantification of Golgi reassembly after disruption with nocodazole in WT, *Loa*/+, *Arl*/+ and *Arl*/*Loa* MEFs.

- **A)** Using the Image J program the total number of discrete spots and the total area of Golgi complex were measured, to calculate the ratio of spots/total area per cell in untreated, control cells and at 0 minute, 30 minute and 50 minute timepoints of recovery after nocodazole wash out.
- **B**) Table of p values showing levels of significance in differences in recovery of Golgi between genotypes at different timepoints. n=10 cells



Figure 16. Endosomal trafficking chase of Alexa Fluor 555 conjugated EGF in wildtype, *Loa*/+, *Arl*/+ and *Arl*/*Loa* MEFs MEFs were pulsed with EGF for 10 minutes and chased at 37°C for the times indicated. EGF is shown in pseudo-coloured inverted greyscale, the cytoskeleton (α -tubulin) in green and nuclei in blue (DAPI). The scale bar represents 30µm.

pulse, most of the EGF-positive endosomes are accumulated around the cell periphery, where it has been internalised. After 50 min, in WT cells there are far fewer EGF-positive endosomes suggesting the majority of the EGF has been trafficked through the endosomal pathway towards the lysosomes for degradation. In the cells containing the *Loa* and *Arl* mutations, there are a greater number of EGF-positive endosomes remaining after 50 min compared to WT, with the compound heterozygotes containing the most.

To quantify this data Image J was used to count the total number of EGF-positive endosomes in each cell at each timepoint. From Figure 17 it can be seen that after 50 min there are significantly more EGF-positive endosomes remaining in the cells containing either the *Loa* or *Arl* or both mutations, compared to WT (p=0.023, 0.011 and <0.001 respectively). These endosomes are yet to reach the lysosomes to be degraded, suggesting that their transport has been delayed compared to WT due to the mutations in cytoplasmic dynein (n=15 cells).

Together with the data from the Golgi reassembly this indicates that the *Loa* and *Arl* mutations do not show complementation and thus suggests they may be allelic. In addition, a number of *Arl/Loa* crosses were allowed to proceed to full term and littering. Of 17 litters, comprising 89 pups, no compound heterozygotes were detected, supporting the notion that the *Loa* and *Arl* mutations do not complement each other and thus the two mutations are allelic.

IV.5 Live Cell EGF Trafficking

In order to better understand the delay in EGF trafficking seen in the fixed cell experiment, live cell imaging was used which allows the movement of individual vesicles to be tracked and analysed.

As the allelism between *Loa* and *Arl* had been established through the lack of complementation seen in the experiments looking at Golgi reassembly and EGF trafficking in fixed cells, and the phenotype of the *Arl* mutation has been compared to that of the *Loa* mutation, experiments were now only conducted using *Arl*/+ and WT cells.



Number of vesicles/cell

B.	

Unpaired t-test		
Comparison	p value	Significance
WT 0 min \rightarrow Loa 0 min	0.8619	ns
WT 0 min \rightarrow Arl 0 min	0.9659	ns
WT 0 min \rightarrow Arl/Loa 0 min	1.000	ns
WT 50 min \rightarrow Loa 50 min	0.0226	*
WT 50 min \rightarrow Arl 50 min	0.0106	*
WT 50 min \rightarrow Arl/Loa 50 min	< 0.0001	***

Figure 17. Quantification of number of EGF-positive vesicles remaining in WT, *Loa/+*, *Arl/+* and *Arl/Loa* MEFs after indicated timepoints.

- A. Image J was used to count the number of EGF-positive vesicles remaining in MEFs after 10 minute EGF pulse and 50 minute chase. n=15 cells.
- **B.** Table of p values showing level of significance in difference between numbers of EGF-positive vesicles in different genotypes at indicated timepoints.

MEFs were starved for 2 hr and stimulated with EGF as already described, then filmed for 1 min periods at set points in a 30 min timecourse at 1 frame every 2 sec. An Image J plug-in, Particle Tracker (Sbalzarini and Koumoutsakos 2005), was used to track the trajectories of the EGF-positive endosomes and this data was used to determine the total distance travelled by each endosome over a particular number of frames (Figure 18 A and 18 B). This allowed the speed of each endosome to be calculated and compared between genotypes. Figure 19 A shows that there is a significant difference in the average speed of the endosomes, with WT moving at a greater speed than Arl/+. This explains the delay in endosomes are being transported more slowly by Arl/+ dynein.

To investigate whether the endosomes behaved differently over the course of their transport through the pathway, the trajectories were analysed separately at different points throughout the timecourse (1 min, 15 min and 30 min). As shown by Figure 19 B, there is a significant difference in the speeds of the *Arl* endosomes compared to WT at each of the timepoints (p=0.034, 0.012 and 0.019 respectively), but no difference between the timepoints in the same genotype. This suggests that the impairment of dynein transport in *Arl*/+ cells is maintained throughout the endosome transport pathway and is not affected by where the endosome is located within the pathway.

IV.6 Transport of Mitochondria

To determine whether the *Arl* mutation affected dynein-dependent retrograde transport of mitochondria, MEFs were grown in coverslip chambers, suitable for live cell imaging. The cells were incubated with 50 nM mitotracker for 30 min, washed and then imaged using the FITC channel on the Deltavision pDV live cell imaging microscope. Movies of 1 min length were filmed at 1 frame/2 sec to record the movement of the labelled mitochondria (See Figure 20).

To quantify the movement of the mitochondria, the Image J plug-in, ParticleTracker, was used to track the trajectories of the movement (n=3 cells). This was used to determine the total distances travelled over each movie and thus the speed at which the mitochondria were moving in each genotype. As seen in Figure 21, the mean speed of



Figure 18. Endosomal trafficking of Alexa-555 conjugated EGF in WT and Arl/+ MEFs

A) Still frames from movies tracking movement of \overrightarrow{EGF} in WT and Arl/+ MEFs. MEF cells shown using DIC channel and EGF in red.

B) Image J Particle Tracker plug in used to track the trajectories of EGF-positive endosome movement over duration of movies.


Average Endosome Velocity

A)

Endosome Velocities





Figure 19. Quantification of speed of endosome movement in WT and Arl/+ MEFs

- **A)** Trajectories of endosome movements were used to calculate total distance travelled over specified frames to give over all average speeds of EGF-positive endosomes in WT and *Arl*/+ MEFs.
- **B)** Speeds of EGF-positive endosomes were calculated from movies at specified timepoints throughout chase to identify any differences in endosome speed between WT and Arl/+ at different points in the endosomal pathway. n=5 cells (approx. 150 endosomes per cell).

Wildtype



00.00 sec

00.10 sec

00.20 sec





00.00 sec

00.10 sec

00.20 sec

Figure 20. Still frames from movies showing movement of mitochondria in WT and *Arl*/+ MEFs.

MEFs were incubated with 50nM Mitotracker Green FM for 30 min at 37°C, replaced with CO_2 independent medium and filmed at 1 frame /2 sec. Arrows track movement of individual mitochondrion in each genotype. Still frames taken from movies at 0, 10 and 20 sec. Greater distance travelled over timeframe in WT compared to Arl/+. Scale bar = 20µm

mitochondria is slower in Arl/+ compared to WT, however, this difference is not significant (p=0.36).

IV.7 Transport of cargo in motor neurons

MEFs make a robust model cell system, but it is important to identify if similar cargo transport delays are also seen in *Arl* neurons, specifically, motor and sensory neurons. To do this, neurons were cultured from E13 embryos. The neurons can only be cultured from E13 embryos as in younger embryos neurogenesis has not progressed sufficiently for differentiated neurons to be present. Neural tissue can be cultured, but would need to be directed to differentiation *in vitro*. Utilising embryos of ~E13 stage of development allows dissection of differentiated neurons, meaning either motor or sensory neurons can be dissected and cultured. As studies using other cytoplasmic dynein mutations, such as *Loa*, *Cra1* and *Swl* have identified differences in motor and sensory deficiencies, it is important to determine how these neurons are affected in *Arl*.

Due to the very low levels of breeding in *Arl* mice, only one set of embryos were obtained for use in neuron culture. Unfortunately, after the culture of motor neurons from this litter of embryos, genotyping revealed that only WT embryos had successfully produced neuron cultures. No further embryos were able to be obtained to repeat the culture of motor neurons, or try the culture of sensory neurons.

IV.8 Discussion

Intracellular transport of many organelles is extremely important for proper functioning of the cell. As dynein has been shown to be responsible for retrograde transport in cells, any impairment to its function could have a significant impact on its ability to transport cargo, which could severely impact the function of the cell.

The effects of *Arl* on some of dynein's major cargo show similar phenotypes, with differing degrees of significance, except for the movement of mitochondria. This suggests that the effect of *Arl* on cargo transport may not be specific to particular cargo, and so is not a problem with tethering of cargo. As the location of the mutation is not near the N-terminal site of cargo interaction, this is not unexpected. The decrease in



Figure 21. Graph showing mean mitochondrial speed in WT and *Arl*/+ MEFs. MEFs were incubated with 50nM Mitotracker for 30 min at 37°C, then replaced with CO_2 independent media and imaged for 1 min movies at 1 frame/2 sec to record the speed of mitochondrial movement. n=3 cells. p= 0.36 using unpaired t-test.

cargo transport speeds is more likely to be due to problems with dynein movement which results in the slower movement of cargo.

The lack of significant difference in mitochondria speed between WT and Arl/+ may be that Arl affects cargo transport of mitochondria differently to other cargos, or the measurements could be affected by kinesin transport. Due to the nature of the MT arrays in fibroblasts, it can be difficult to distinguish directionality of cargo moving along them. This is not a problem when looking at uni-directional cargo (such as reassembly of disrupted Golgi, or endosomes), but mitochondrial movement is bidirectional, with dynein transporting in a mainly retrograde direction, and kinesin mainly anterogradely. If some of the mitochondrial measurements were of kinesin dependent movement, then this may have affected the measurements. Because of this, it is important for this experiment to be repeated in cells where direction of movement along the MTs can be easily determined, such as along neuronal axons. This would allow a direct comparison of dynein dependent mitochondrial movement to be made between WT and Arl/+. CHAPTER V

INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF THE ARL MUTATION ON THE GOLGI APPARATUS AND MITOCHONDRIA USING TRANSMISSION ELECTRON <u>MICROSCOPY</u>

V.1 Introduction

In order to better understand the effects of the *Arl* mutation on the Golgi apparatus and mitochondria, and identify other possible cellular disruptions caused by the mutation, transmission electron microscopy (TEM) was employed. This method of microscopy allows high magnification images to be obtained showing great cellular detail. TEM images are taken of cross sections of either cells or tissue that have been fixed and stained with heavy metals. The differing affinity of structures for these heavy metals makes some appear electron-dense (high affinity), while others are electron-weak (low affinity), producing the high level of detail.

V.2 Ultrastructural Analysis of the Golgi Apparatus

Adult WT and *Arl/+* mice were perfusion fixed using gluteraldehyde and paraformaldehyde. The spinal cord was exposed by laminectomy and removed in sections and allowed to post-fix for 48 hr, immersed in osmium tetroxide and then sequentially dehydrated. The spinal cord sections were finally embedded in resin, then sectioned using a microtome to produce 100 nm transverse sections of spinal cord.

Images of neuronal cells from lumbar spinal cord sections were taken at 1000 x magnification to capture detail of the entire cell body, and then higher magnification (5,000 and 10,000 x) images obtained greater detail of specific areas of interest within the cell. Lumbar spinal cord was selected as the clenching phenotype in the *Arl* mouse is confined to the hindlimbs, suggesting that any possible neuronal defects are located in this area of the spinal cord.

Although the reassembly of Golgi after disruption was impaired, as discussed in Chapter IV, the untreated control cells did not show any impairment due to the *Arl* mutation. However, immunocytochemistry cannot detect fine structural defects, only larger positioning issues. Therefore TEM is ideal to check the ultrastructure of the Golgi membrane and look for any problems with the organisation of the cisternae.

The lower magnification images (1000 x) were used to check the general amount and location of the Golgi in WT and Arl/+ neuronal cells. In general, the Golgi appeared to be of normal structure and location in WT cells, with the stacks of flattened membranes mainly near the centre of the cells, around the nucleus.

Using higher magnification (5,000 and 10,000 x) images were taken to look at the Golgi in greater detail (Figure 22). In WT the Golgi appears as would be expected, with well structured flattened membranes, often in a semicircular shape. Vesicles are apparent near the *trans*-Golgi network suggesting that the Golgi is properly functioning in processing molecules for transport - likely to be secretory vesicles containing neurotransmitters.

In *Arl*/+ cells, much of the Golgi appears normal, similar to that seen in the WT cells. However, as shown in Figure 22, some of the cisternae are very loosely packed, with large gaps between the stacks of membrane, suggesting that dynein is unable to maintain the normal fine structure. Such large spaces between the stacks of membranes may affect the movement of macromolecules between the *cis* and *trans* faces of the Golgi network. This in turn could cause problems with modification and/or labelling of proteins received from the rough endoplasmic reticulum (rER), possibly leading to incorrectly modified proteins or incorrect secretion. In neuronal cells these proteins could include neurotransmitters, essential for the proper communication between neurons.



Figure 22. TEM micrographs showing Golgi structure in WT and *Arl*/+ cells

TEM sections were imaged at 5000x magnification. Arrows indicate Golgi apparatus.

- A) Typical Golgi apparatus morphology in a WT neuronal cell with closely packed membranes
- B) Typical Golgi apparatus morphology in an Arl/+ neuronal cell, with very loosely packed membranes with large gaps. Scale = 1 μ m

V.3 Ultrastructural Analysis of the Mitochondria

Another major cargo of cytoplasmic dynein is mitochondria, which are required to travel large distances, particularly in neurons, from axons to the cell body for recycling and degradation. This retrograde movement is mediated by dynein and therefore may be perturbed by the *Arl* mutation. Highly polarised cells, such as neurons, are particularly sensitive to defects in mitochondrial movement and so are ideal for studying the effects of possible transport defects.

To check for possible transport defects, the number of mitochondria in the cell body of neuronal cells, imaged at 1000 x magnification, were counted and compared between the genotypes of TEM sections. As can be seen from Figure 23, there is an overall trend for a greater number of mitochondria in WT cells compared to Arl/+ cells, however this difference is not significant (p=0.2037, n=15).

The greater number of mitochondria present in WT cells compared to Arl/+ cells suggests that the transport of mitochondria from axons to the cell body for degradation may be slightly impaired in Arl/+ compared to WT, or the rate of degradation of mitochondria by autophagy may be increased. If there is a constant turnover of mitochondria, then a decrease in dynein transport, but continued levels of kinesin anterograde transport, would have the net effect of decreasing the number of mitochondria at the cell body. This difference could also be due to smaller sized neurons.

Recent studies in *Arl* (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation) have identified a change in the size of motor neurons, from lumbar spinal cord, towards a greater number of smaller neurons, compared to WT. Smaller neuron size could explain fewer mitochondria identified in the cell bodies of these neurons. To determine whether this was the case, the diameter of the soma of the neurons were measured from the TEM micrographs, using Image J and compared between WT and *Arl/+*. As shown in Figure 24, the *Arl/+* neuronal soma are significantly smaller in diameter compared to WT (p=0.03). This indicates that the reduced number of mitochondria seen in *Arl/+* neurons could be due to the reduced size of the neurons.



Figure 23. Graph of quantification of number of mitochondria in cell body of WT and *Arl/*+ neuronal cells.

The number of mitochondria present in the cell body of neuronal cells from low magnification TEM images were counted and compared between WT and Arl/+ cells. n=15



Figure 24. Graph showing average neuron soma diameter in WT and *Arl*/+ spinal cord neurons.

The diameter of the neuronal cell soma were measured using image J in WT and Arl/+ neuronal cell TEM micrographs and compared. Arl/+ neuronal soma are significantly smaller compared to WT (p=0.03) (n=15).

At greater magnification (5,000 and 10,000 x) the mitochondria show a difference in morphology between the two genotypes, with a number of the Arl/+ mitochondria displaying an enlarged, elongated, deflated appearance, with less clearly defined cristae, compared to the WT (Figure 25). The WT cells contain compact, mainly oval mitochondria.

V.4 Measuring Rates of Respiration

To investigate whether the morphological changes seen in the mitochondria affected the function, O_2 consumption assays were performed to identify the rates of respiration in mitochondria from each genotype. Using mitochondria, isolated from WT and *Arl*/+ lumbar spinal cord by centrifugation, the rate of O_2 consumption was measured on a Rank O_2 electrode and the rates expressed as nmol O_2 .min⁻¹mg of protein⁻¹. The mitochondria were isolated from lumbar spinal cord to ensure the mitochondria measured were comparable to those looked at using TEM. The isolated mitochondria was repeated three times.

Ascorbate and TMPD (tetramethyl pheylene diamine) are used to feed electrons to complex IV, cytochrome c oxidase. TMPD is an artificial electron carrier which is reduced by ascorbate and oxidised by cytochrome c to feed electrons to complex IV. Cytochrome c oxidase is a large membrane bound dimeric enzyme, with each half consisting of 13 protein chains. The complex acts as the terminal mitochondrial electron acceptor in the electron transport chain by accepting 4 electrons from cytochrome c, reducing an oxygen molecule.

$$O_2 + 4H^+ + 4e^- \rightarrow 2H_2O$$

This is coupled to the transfer of 4 protons across the mitochondrial membrane, to produce a membrane potential ($\Delta \psi$), which is used to drive the synthesis of ATP. Thus, the consumption of O₂ at complex IV is a measure of the synthesis of ATP and the overall rate of respiration of the mitochondrion.

<u>Wildtype</u>



Figure 25. TEM micrographs of mitochondria in WT and *Arl/+* **neuronal cells.** In WT mitochondria are mainly oval shaped with clearly defined cristae, however, in *Arl/+* cells, mitochondria are often elongated in shape and have ill-defined cristae. Arrows indicate example mitochondria. Scale bar = 1 μ m.

As can be seen from Figure 26, the rate of respiration is significantly higher in the Arl/+ compared to the WT (p=0.0156). This data suggests that there may be a greater energy requirement in the lumbar spinal cord neurons from Arl/+ compared to WT.

V.5 Discussion

In TEM Golgi appeared normal, with correct structure and location, suggesting fixation and dissection procedures did not perturb tissue. At higher magnification, Golgi appears to be functioning normally, with secretory vesicles visible near the *trans*-Golgi. A large proportion of the Golgi appears normal in Arl/+ sections compared to the WT cells. However, some cisternae are loosely packed with gaps between the stacks of membranes, suggesting that the Arl mutation affects dynein's ability to maintain the normal fine structure of the Golgi.

Such large gaps between the membranes of the Golgi could increase the distance between the *cis* and *trans* faces of the Golgi network and disrupt transport through the network. Golgi is important for modification and labelling of proteins which are then packaged, at the *trans* Golgi network (TGN), for transport to the plasma membrane (e.g. for exocytosis) or secretory pathways. Disruption of the structure of the Golgi could affect the labelling or modification of proteins, or impede their transport through the network. This could lead to incorrectly modified proteins, or incorrect or reduced secretion. In neuronal cells, the proteins secreted can include neurotransmitters, so any disruption to the Golgi could lead to perturbed neuronal function.

To test the functioning of the Golgi, despite the disrupted structure, transport through the ER-Golgi pathway could be investigated. Disruption to the function of the Golgi due to structural upset could affect the movement of proteins from the ER to the Golgi and subsequent transport through secretory or exocytic pathways. This could be investigated by transfecting WT and Arl/+ cells with GFP-cDNA of a protein of interest. The expressed GFP-protein will then be transported through the ER-Golgi pathway and can be tracked using live cell imaging to determine whether the Arl/+ cells are impaired in this transport compared to WT.





Mitochondria were isolated from WT and Arl/+ lumbar spinal cord and O₂ consumption assays performed to identify any difference between the genotypes. Assay was performed 3 times on mitochondria isolated from 5 mice each time and shows that Arl/+ mitochondria consume significantly greater amounts of O₂ compared to WT.

Dynein has been shown to be important for cellular distribution of mitochondria, and disruption of axonal transport leads to non-uniform distribution of mitochondria along the axon. The retrograde transport of mitochondria is important for degradation and recycling and so dynein is essential in ensuring only functional mitochondria remain in cells.

Although there is no significant difference in the number of mitochondria present in the cell bodies of *Arl/*+ compared with that in the WT it is important to determine whether this is true throughout the entire cell, or just the cell body. Transport of mitochondria from axons to the cell body for degradation and the rate of degradation of mitochondria by autophagy should be investigated. The mitochondrial biogenesis is a balance between synthesis and degradation and determines the number of mitochondria in a cell. If autophagy of mitochondria will decrease. To determine this, the number of mitochondria in entire neurons would need to be established to see if either the distribution of mitochondria between axons and cells bodies is different or the total number of mitochondria is different, or whether there is no difference between genotypes.

A decrease in dynein retrograde transport, but continued levels of kinesin anterograde transport would have the net effect of decreasing the number of mitochondria at the cell body. However, studies have shown that perturbed dynein transport can have an effect on kinesin, so rates of both anterograde and retrograde transport in Arl/+ and WT neurons would need to be established to determine the balance of transport (Gross, Welte et al. 2002).

Unpublished data from Bros-Facer et al. (Bros-Facer, Golding et al. Manuscript in preparation) have shown a shift towards a greater number of smaller motor neurons in Arl/+ lumber spinal cord. These motor neurons were 20% smaller in Arl/+ compared to WT. This trend was also identified in the neurons from the lumbar spinal cords used for TEM, which were measured and showed that Arl/+ neuronal soma were significantly smaller than WT.

The mitochondria were then analysed at greater magnification to determine if the *Arl* mutation has an effect on mitochondria morphology. At 5000 x and 10000 x magnification the mitochondria show a difference in morphology between the two genotypes. While the majority of WT mitochondria maintain an oval, turgid appearance with well defined cristae, a number of Arl/+ mitochondria display an enlarged, elongated appearance with some also exhibiting less well defined cristae.

The elongated, tubular appearance of these mitochondria in *Arl/+* cells could be due to increased fusion of unhealthy mitochondria with healthy ones, to produce healthy, functional mitochondria. Alternatively, the enlarged mitochondria may be unhealthy, particularly those with less well defined cristae, and awaiting degradation by autophagy, rather than repair through fusion.

Large mitochondria can arise during fission as new ones are produced. Dynein has been implicated in mitochondrial fission by transporting the dynamin related protein Drp1 which is necessary for mitochondrial fission. Varadi et al (Varadi, Johnson-Cadwell et al. 2004) have shown that disrupting dynein function in HeLa cells results in the movement of mitochondria from the cell periphery to the cell centre. It also results in the formation of long, and sometimes interconnected, mitochondria. Drp1 is recruited to the outer membrane of mitochondria for fission to occur, but when the dynein complex is disrupted (either through disruption of DIC, or disruption of dynamitin to affect dynactin) it results in the repositioning of Drp1 from the mitochondria to other cytoplasmic membranes. Therefore, the elongated, tubular mitochondria identified in Arl/+ cells could be due to mislocation of Drp1 resulting from impaired dynein function.

To identify whether Drp1 is being relocated from mitochondrial membranes due to the *Arl* mutation, immunogold labelling TEM could be employed. This technique allows samples to be fixed and processed such that the antigenicity of the proteins is maintained. Sections can then be labelled with a primary antibody (in this case, against Drp1) and then with a secondary antibody conjugated to small gold particles (~5-10 nm in diameter). When imaged using the TEM, the gold particles are visible, revealing the location of the proteins of interest. This would provide information on the location of Drp1 and indicate whether the *Arl* mutation is resulting in mislocated Drp1.

To determine whether the morphological changes identified in mitochondria from Arl/+ cells affect their function, O₂ consumption assays were utilised. This assay indicates the rate of respiration from the mitochondria tested.

Mitochondria were isolated from lumbar spinal cord of Arl/+ and WT mice to ensure the mitochondria used were comparable to those analysed by TEM.

The Arl/+ mitochondria showed a significantly higher rate of respiration compared to WT. This suggests that there is a greater energy requirement in lumbar spinal cord neurons from Arl/+ than WT. This data is similar to that seen in Loa/+ mice, where mitochondrial respiration is increased in Loa/+ compared to WT (El-Kadi, Bros-Facer et al. 2010). Together these data suggest a gain-of-function by mutant cytoplasmic dynein which results in higher functioning mitochondria. However, the reasons for this increase are yet to be fully understood and further investigations are required.

The *Loa* mutation rescues the SOD1^{G93A} phenotype, and specifically has been shown to rescue mitochondrial defects in respiration and membrane potential. However, Arl/+ has not been shown to significantly ameliorate SOD1^{G93A} phenotype. Although it is worth noting that only muscle force, motor neuron units and fatigue profiles were assessed and other specific SOD1^{G93A} phenotypes may show improvement if tested.

Measurements of *Arl*/SOD1^{G93A} rates of respiration would need to be established to identify if any increase in respiration can rescue this particular phenotype of SOD1. It may be that mitochondrial dysfunction plays only a small part in the raft of phenotypes caused by SOD1, and that rescue of it produces only a minimal overall improvement. This could explain *Arl* showing a similar increase in respiration as *Loa*, over WT, but not showing a global amelioration of phenotype when crossed with SOD1 as *Loa* does. There may be other phenotypes in SOD1 that *Loa* is able to rescue, but *Arl* is not, resulting in an overall improvement in *Loa*/SOD^{G93A} that is not seen in *Arl*/SOD^{G93A}. Further analyses on both *Loa* and *Arl* with SOD1 are required to establish how the mutations interact.

Interestingly, Miller and Sheetz (Miller and Sheetz 2004) have shown that ~90% of mitochondria with a high membrane potential move anterogradely in neurons. While ~80% of mitochondria exhibiting a low membrane potential move in a retrograde direction. As the mitochondria in the Arl/+ lumbar spinal cord preparations have increased ATP production, indicated by the increased O₂ consumption, their membrane potentials must be high to allow for the increased ATP production. This may mean that anterograde transport of mitochondria is increased in Arl/+ mitochondria, resulting in fewer remaining in the cell body. However, as no significant difference in mitochondrial number in the cell body was seen between genotypes, the total numbers would need to be established throughout the neuronal cells.

Mitochondria with a low membrane potential may not be functioning correctly, and so an increase in their retrograde transport would deliver them to the cell body for degradation. Tctex1 has been shown to interact with VDAC in the outer membrane of mitochondria (Schwarzer, Barnikol-Watanabe et al. 2002) and this interaction may regulate the binding of dynein, and therefore the retrograde transport of mitochondria, with a low membrane potential, for degradation.

A recent study from Cleveland's lab (Israelson, Arbel et al. 2010) has shown that mutant SOD1 directly binds to VDAC1 (a VDAC isoform), inhibiting conductance of the channel. The reduced activity decreases the survival of SOD1 mice through accelerated disease onset.

As reduced conductance by VDAC1 will decrease ATP synthesis and reduce membrane potential, this data correlates with the reduced O₂ consumption and thus ATP synthesis identified in SOD1 (El-Kadi, Bros-Facer et al. 2010). Spectrophotometric assays have corroborated this, by showing a decrease in complex IV activity in SOD1 compared to WT (Philpott, unpublished data). This assay measures the redox changes of cytochrome c added to complex IV and provides an accurate assessment of its activity (Benit, Goncalves et al. 2006).

This data suggests that binding of mutant SOD1 to VDAC1 plays a large role in the mitochondrial phenotype identified in SOD1 mice. As already discussed, dynein has been shown to interact with VDAC, via Tctex1, and recent data has shown increased

affinity of Tctex1 for the dynein complex in *Loa* (Deng, unpublished data). As *Loa* has been shown to partially rescue mitochondrial function and increase SOD1 lifespan, it suggests that increased binding of mutant dynein, via Tctex1, at VDAC may counteract the effects of mutant SOD1 binding.

Amelioration of SOD1 phenotype in mitochondria may be brought about by increased respiration rates in *Arl*, however, effects of *Arl* on SOD1 in mitochondria have yet to be investigated. As the *Arl* mutation is not near regions of accessory chain association or cargo binding, similar effects as *Loa* may not be expected.

CHAPTER VI

Chapter VI

FINAL DISCUSSION

VI.1 Summary of data

As the main retrograde motor protein in cells, cytoplasmic dynein is responsible for transporting a wide range of cargo towards the minus end of MTs. Mutations in the heavy chain of dynein, such as *Loa*, *Cra1* and *Swl*, have demonstrated that interfering with this motor protein can lead to disruptions in a broad array of cellular functions.

This study has demonstrated that a new heavy chain mutation, located in a region away from the other well characterised mutations, also causes disruption to cellular transport. *Arl* is located in an area of unknown function, N-terminal to the motor domain. Analysis of DHC protein showed no difference in the levels present in brain or spinal cord of *Arl/+* and WT and no effect on the integrity of the complex was identified using sucrose density gradient centrifugation of homogenised adult brain tissue.

The dynein complex was purified from adult brain tissue, with all subunits present; however, ATPase activity and MT gliding could not be measured. Using purified dynein, MT binding was found to be greater in Arl/+ than WT, suggesting that the mutation may affect the structure of the motor domain resulting in a higher affinity for MTs.

Studies of cargo transport in MEFs revealed that in situations of cellular stress, dynein dependent reassembly of Golgi is impaired in Arl/+ compared to WT. The trafficking of endosomes in MEFs was investigated using fluorophore-tagged EGF in fixed cells, which showed a delay in the endosomes reaching the lysosomes for degradation in Arl/+ compared to WT. In addition to this, live cell imaging of EGF positive endosomes revealed that in Arl/+ the average speed of transport is significantly slower compared to WT. To further investigate the effects of the mutation on dynein cargo, mitochondria were labelled with Mitotracker, a mitochondrial specific fluorophore, and their movement tracked by live cell imaging. Although not significant, a trend towards slower movement in Arl/+ compared to WT was identified. Nevertheless, these studies

have shown that dynein transport is impaired across a range of cargos, suggesting that the effects of *Arl* on cargo transport are not specific to a particular cargo.

The effects of the mutation were further examined in spinal cord neurons from tissue sections using TEM. Small perturbations to Golgi structure were identified in Arl/+ neuronal cells, with the cisternae appearing loosely stacked and large gaps in between some of the stacks of membranes. The untreated control MEFs used in the Golgi reassembly studies did not show any disruption, suggesting that Arl dynein is able to maintain the global positioning of Golgi, but unable to maintain the fine structure and organisation of the membranes.

Mitochondria were found to have altered morphology in Arl/+ neurons, compared to WT, with an enlarged, elongated appearance. In a number of these mitochondria, the cristae were less well defined. No significant difference in the number of mitochondria in the cell centre was identified between Arl/+ and WT cells. The Arl/+ mitochondria were found to have significantly higher rates of respiration, compared to WT, suggesting a greater energy requirement in these neurons.

VI.2 Significance of results and conclusions

A conformational change in AAA1 results from nucleotide hydrolysis, and causes knock-on conformational changes to neighbouring AAA domains. This results in the movement of CC1, relative to CC2 in the stalk and the change in registry between the two coiled-coils dictates the affinity of the MTBD for MTs (Gibbons, Garbarino et al. 2005). The proposed linker domain that is suggested to swing across the face of the ring is close to the site of the *Arl* mutation.

The mutation results in a change from hydrophobic tryptophan to the compact, polar arginine and is predicted to lie between two helices. It is therefore reasonable that the mutation could cause the structure to twist and affect the stability of the structure. A change in the structure at this location could affect the linker domain. A change in the positioning of the linker domain could affect the conformational state of the AAA1 domain, which is directly C-terminal to it. Perturbation of the conformation of AAA1 could alter the knock-on conformational change around the ring, thus affecting the stalk

and the affinity of the MTBD. Furthermore, if the movement of the linker domain is affected by the mutation, it may impede the powerstroke and thus the movement of dynein.

Under zero load, dynein mainly moves in steps of 24 nm and 32 nm. Under load, size step can decrease to 8 nm, suggesting that dynein can act as a molecular gear (Mallik, Carter et al. 2004). The model for this gear suggests that load-induced ATP binding tightens the AAA ring, resulting in a smaller but stronger step of the motor. Hence, any alteration in the conformation of the AAA domains due to the mutation could affect the step size (see Figure 27 below).



Figure 27. Flow chart of suggested effects of mutation on dynein structure and function.

The impairment in cargo transport seen in MEFs is unlikely to result from problems with cargo binding as the mutation is not near the area of cargo binding, meaning that decreased speed of dynein movement along the MT is more plausible. However, there are a number of possibilities (see Figure 28), such as:

- Increased MT binding (due to conformational changes detailed above), therefore slowing movement along the MT.
- Problems with ATP binding and/or hydrolysis due to conformational changes therefore affecting the ATP dependent powerstroke, and impeding the movement.
- The mutation affecting movement of the linker domain and therefore resulting in powerstroke swing impairment.
- The proposed gear system of dynein may be affected, causing dynein to move in smaller steps along the MT, thus resulting in a slower speed.



Figure 28. Schematic of dynein showing proposed effect of Arl mutation.

Asterisk denotes location of residue 1206, the location of the mutation in *Arl*. The mutation may cause the chain to twist, thus affecting the normal structure. This could have a knock-on effect on the flexibility of the linker domain (shown in purple), preventing it from bending at its normal angle. This could alter the angle at which the linker domain joins the first AAA domain, and may cause a change in conformation which has a knock-on effect to neighbouring AAA domains. The change in conformation of the ring of AAA domains may result in a change in the alignment of the coiled-coils. This change in alignment of CC1 and CC2 may cause the MTBD to bind MTs with a higher affinity.

Mitochondria with a high membrane potential have been shown to move in a predominantly anterograde direction, while low membrane potential mitochondria move in a mainly retrograde direction (Miller and Sheetz 2004). As *Arl*/+ mitochondria have been shown to have increased rates of respiration, and therefore increased membrane potential, it suggests that these mitochondria would be undergoing higher levels of anterograde transport. However, further studies are needed to identify any differences in kinesin- and dynein-dependent mitochondrial movement between genotypes.

In conclusion, this study provides evidence for increased affinity of Arl/+ dynein for MTs, and that this reduces the speed at which cargo can be transported in MEFs. In addition to this, mitochondria are mislocated with abnormal morphology in Arl/+ spinal cord neurons and demonstrate increased rates of respiration compared to WT. This study also demonstrates that a mutation in dynein at a location far from other well characterised dynein mutations can result in similar phenotypes, highlighting the importance of the proper functioning of this protein.

VI.3 Future directions

To determine how the mutation is affecting the protein, it is important to identify what effect the mutation has on the structure. The region containing the mutation has been cloned from *Arl* and WT, but needs to be expressed and crystallised to allow x-ray diffraction patterns to be obtained. From these, structures can be determined and any effect due to the mutation ascertained. An alternative method to determine the effect of the mutation of the structure is the use of single molecule EM. This would allow the structure of the molecule to be established in different conformations, thereby determining its three-dimensional structure and allowing any effect of the mutation to be identified.

As AAA1 is the main site of ATP binding and hydrolysis, it is important to establish whether ATP hydrolysis is affected in *Arl*. The ATPase assay in Chapter III is an ideal system to utilise, but dynein needs to be purified that is fully functioning and a suitable positive control must be identified. Alternatively, other methods of measuring ATPase activity could be used, such as radioactive assays that measure ³²P hydrolysed from ATP, or non-radioactive methods such as the spectrophotometric assay using malachite green.

To establish whether the mutation causes the dynein to move in smaller steps along the MTs, studies using an optical trap should be utilised. This would allow the step size of dynein to be determined in *Arl* and WT, and compare any differences in the force exerted by the motor. This would provide information on whether the gear mechanism of dynein is affected by the mutation.

As the mutation appears to affect the movement of dynein, rather than its association with cargo, it suggests that transport of all cargo would be affected. Further studies to determine the effect on other cargo could be performed, such as transport of MTs as cargo and whether there is an effect on mitosis. As transport of endosomes has been shown to be impaired, then downstream signalling could be disrupted by delayed trafficking of signalling factors. EGFR signalling is vital for a large number of signalling pathways and detailed examination could be performed to identify possible cellular effects of delayed signalling.

Currently, all *in vitro* studies of cargo transport have been performed using MEFs. Due to the large distances in neurons, particularly the axons, they can be more susceptible to defects in transport mechanisms. Studies on cargo transport should therefore be performed using both motor and sensory neurons, to determine the effects of the mutation on these cells.

The increased rate of respiration in *Arl* mitochondria, compared to WT, is similar to results obtained from *Loa* (El-Kadi, Bros-Facer et al. 2010). Further studies are required to determine why and how respiration is increased and comparisons with *Loa* could be useful in this respect. Additional analyses of *Arl*/SOD1 interactions may also help determine the nature of the effects of dynein mutations on mitochondria. Experiments such as dissecting the electron transport chain (ETC) would allow the function of each complex of the ETC to be checked, helping to identify the reason for increased respiration.

REFERENCES

References

- Afzelius, B. A. (1976). "A human syndrome caused by immotile cilia." <u>Science</u> **193**(4250): 317-9.
- Ahmad-Annuar, A., P. Shah, M. Hafezparast, H. Hummerich, A. S. Witherden, K. E. Morrison, P. J. Shaw, J. Kirby, T. T. Warner, A. Crosby, C. Proukakis, P. Wilkinson, R. W. Orrell, L. Bradley, J. E. Martin and E. M. Fisher (2003). "No association with common Caucasian genotypes in exons 8, 13 and 14 of the human cytoplasmic dynein heavy chain gene (DNCHC1) and familial motor neuron disorders." <u>Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord</u> 4(3): 150-7.
- Alberts, B., A. Johnson, J. Lewis, M. Raff, K. Roberts and P. Walter (2002). <u>Molecular</u> <u>Biology of the Cell</u>, Garland Science.
- Banks, G. T., V. Bros-Facer, H. P. Williams, R. Chia, F. Achilli, J. B. Bryson, L. Greensmith and E. M. Fisher (2009). "Mutant glycyl-tRNA synthetase (Gars) ameliorates SOD1(G93A) motor neuron degeneration phenotype but has little affect on Loa dynein heavy chain mutant mice." <u>PLoS One</u> 4(7): e6218.
- Benit, P., S. Goncalves, E. Philippe Dassa, J. J. Briere, G. Martin and P. Rustin (2006).
 "Three spectrophotometric assays for the measurement of the five respiratory chain complexes in minuscule biological samples." <u>Clin Chim Acta</u> 374(1-2): 81-6.
- Benmerah, A. and C. Lamaze (2007). "Clathrin-coated pits: vive la difference?" <u>Traffic</u> **8**(8): 970-82.
- Boldogh, I. R. and L. A. Pon (2007). "Mitochondria on the move." <u>Trends Cell Biol</u> **17**(10): 502-10.
- Bros-Facer, V., M. Golding, N. Nirmalananthan, R. Chia, A. Philpott, A. M. Flenniken, I. Vukobrodovic, L. R. Osborne, S. L. Adamson, J. Rossant, D. Boerio-Gueguen, E. Stoddart, H. Bostock, E. M. Fisher, G. Schiavo, L. Greensmith and M. Hafezparast (Manuscript in preparation). "Motor neuron and sciatic nerve pathology caused by a novel mutation in cytoplasmic dynein."
- Bruijn, L. I., M. K. Houseweart, S. Kato, K. L. Anderson, S. D. Anderson, E. Ohama, A. G. Reaume, R. W. Scott and D. W. Cleveland (1998). "Aggregation and motor neuron toxicity of an ALS-linked SOD1 mutant independent from wildtype SOD1." <u>Science</u> 281(5384): 1851-4.
- Bruijn, L. I., T. M. Miller and D. W. Cleveland (2004). "Unraveling the mechanisms involved in motor neuron degeneration in ALS." <u>Annu Rev Neurosci</u> 27: 723-49.

- Burgess, S. A., M. L. Walker, H. Sakakibara, P. J. Knight and K. Oiwa (2003). "Dynein structure and power stroke." <u>Nature</u> **421**(6924): 715-8.
- Burkhardt, J. K., C. J. Echeverri, T. Nilsson and R. B. Vallee (1997). "Overexpression of the dynamitin (p50) subunit of the dynactin complex disrupts dyneindependent maintenance of membrane organelle distribution." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 139(2): 469-84.
- Chen, X. J., E. N. Levedakou, K. J. Millen, R. L. Wollmann, B. Soliven and B. Popko (2007). "Proprioceptive sensory neuropathy in mice with a mutation in the cytoplasmic Dynein heavy chain 1 gene." <u>J Neurosci</u> 27(52): 14515-24.
- Culver-Hanlon, T. L., S. A. Lex, A. D. Stephens, N. J. Quintyne and S. J. King (2006). "A microtubule-binding domain in dynactin increases dynein processivity by skating along microtubules." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **8**(3): 264-70.
- Driskell, O. J., A. Mironov, V. J. Allan and P. G. Woodman (2007). "Dynein is required for receptor sorting and the morphogenesis of early endosomes." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 9(1): 113-20.
- Duchen, L. W. (1974). "A dominant hereditary sensory disorder in the mouse with deficiency of muscle spindles: the mutant Sprawling." J Physiol 237(2): 10P-11P.
- Dupuis, L., A. Fergani, K. E. Braunstein, J. Eschbach, N. Holl, F. Rene, J. L. Gonzalez De Aguilar, B. Zoerner, B. Schwalenstocker, A. C. Ludolph and J. P. Loeffler (2009). "Mice with a mutation in the dynein heavy chain 1 gene display sensory neuropathy but lack motor neuron disease." <u>Exp Neurol</u> 215(1): 146-52.
- Echeverri, C. J., B. M. Paschal, K. T. Vaughan and R. B. Vallee (1996). "Molecular characterization of the 50-kD subunit of dynactin reveals function for the complex in chromosome alignment and spindle organization during mitosis." J <u>Cell Biol</u> 132(4): 617-33.
- El-Kadi, A. M., V. Bros-Facer, W. Deng, A. Philpott, E. Stoddart, G. Banks, G. S. Jackson, E. M. Fisher, M. R. Duchen, L. Greensmith, A. L. Moore and M. Hafezparast (2010). "The legs at odd angles (Loa) mutation in cytoplasmic dynein ameliorates mitochondrial function in SOD1G93A mouse model for motor neuron disease." J Biol Chem 285(24): 18627-39.
- Frederick, R. L. and J. M. Shaw (2007). "Moving mitochondria: establishing distribution of an essential organelle." <u>Traffic</u> 8(12): 1668-75.
- Gaudette, M., M. Hirano and T. Siddique (2000). "Current status of SOD1 mutations in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis." <u>Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor</u> <u>Neuron Disord</u> 1(2): 83-9.
- Gee, M. A., J. E. Heuser and R. B. Vallee (1997). "An extended microtubule-binding structure within the dynein motor domain." <u>Nature</u> **390**(6660): 636-9.

- Gibbons, I. R., J. E. Garbarino, C. E. Tan, S. L. Reck-Peterson, R. D. Vale and A. P. Carter (2005). "The affinity of the dynein microtubule-binding domain is modulated by the conformation of its coiled-coil stalk." J Biol Chem 280(25): 23960-5.
- Gibbons, I. R., A. Lee-Eiford, G. Mocz, C. A. Phillipson, W. J. Tang and B. H. Gibbons (1987). "Photosensitized cleavage of dynein heavy chains. Cleavage at the "V1 site" by irradiation at 365 nm in the presence of ATP and vanadate." J Biol Chem 262(6): 2780-6.
- Goodenough, U. and J. Heuser (1984). "Structural comparison of purified dynein proteins with in situ dynein arms." J Mol Biol **180**(4): 1083-118.
- Grissom, P. M., E. A. Vaisberg and J. R. McIntosh (2002). "Identification of a novel light intermediate chain (D2LIC) for mammalian cytoplasmic dynein 2." <u>Mol</u> <u>Biol Cell</u> 13(3): 817-29.
- Gross, S. P., M. A. Welte, S. M. Block and E. F. Wieschaus (2002). "Coordination of opposite-polarity microtubule motors." J Cell Biol **156**(4): 715-24.
- Hafezparast, M., R. Klocke, C. Ruhrberg, A. Marquardt, A. Ahmad-Annuar, S. Bowen, G. Lalli, A. S. Witherden, H. Hummerich, S. Nicholson, P. J. Morgan, R. Oozageer, J. V. Priestley, S. Averill, V. R. King, S. Ball, J. Peters, T. Toda, A. Yamamoto, Y. Hiraoka, M. Augustin, D. Korthaus, S. Wattler, P. Wabnitz, C. Dickneite, S. Lampel, F. Boehme, G. Peraus, A. Popp, M. Rudelius, J. Schlegel, H. Fuchs, M. Hrabe de Angelis, G. Schiavo, D. T. Shima, A. P. Russ, G. Stumm, J. E. Martin and E. M. Fisher (2003). "Mutations in dynein link motor neuron degeneration to defects in retrograde transport." <u>Science</u> 300(5620): 808-12.
- Harada, A., Y. Takei, Y. Kanai, Y. Tanaka, S. Nonaka and N. Hirokawa (1998). "Golgi vesiculation and lysosome dispersion in cells lacking cytoplasmic dynein." J <u>Cell Biol</u> 141(1): 51-9.
- Heerssen, H. M., M. F. Pazyra and R. A. Segal (2004). "Dynein motors transport activated Trks to promote survival of target-dependent neurons." <u>Nat Neurosci</u> **7**(6): 596-604.
- Hollenbeck, P. J. and W. M. Saxton (2005). "The axonal transport of mitochondria." J Cell Sci **118**(Pt 23): 5411-9.
- Holleran, E. A., L. A. Ligon, M. Tokito, M. C. Stankewich, J. S. Morrow and E. L. Holzbaur (2001). "beta III spectrin binds to the Arp1 subunit of dynactin." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> 276(39): 36598-605.
- Howell, B. J., B. F. McEwen, J. C. Canman, D. B. Hoffman, E. M. Farrar, C. L. Rieder and E. D. Salmon (2001). "Cytoplasmic dynein/dynactin drives kinetochore protein transport to the spindle poles and has a role in mitotic spindle checkpoint inactivation." J Cell Biol 155(7): 1159-72.

- Huang, T. G. and D. D. Hackney (1994). "Drosophila kinesin minimal motor domain expressed in Escherichia coli. Purification and kinetic characterization." J Biol <u>Chem</u> 269(23): 16493-501.
- Ilieva, H. S., K. Yamanaka, S. Malkmus, O. Kakinohana, T. Yaksh, M. Marsala and D. W. Cleveland (2008). "Mutant dynein (Loa) triggers proprioceptive axon loss that extends survival only in the SOD1 ALS model with highest motor neuron death." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 105(34): 12599-604.
- Imamula, K., T. Kon, R. Ohkura and K. Sutoh (2007). "The coordination of cyclic microtubule association/dissociation and tail swing of cytoplasmic dynein." <u>Proc</u> <u>Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 104(41): 16134-9.
- Israelson, A., N. Arbel, S. Da Cruz, H. Ilieva, K. Yamanaka, V. Shoshan-Barmatz and D. W. Cleveland (2010). "Misfolded mutant SOD1 directly inhibits VDAC1 conductance in a mouse model of inherited ALS." <u>Neuron</u> 67(4): 575-87.
- Jaarsma, D., F. Rognoni, W. van Duijn, H. W. Verspaget, E. D. Haasdijk and J. C. Holstege (2001). "CuZn superoxide dismutase (SOD1) accumulates in vacuolated mitochondria in transgenic mice expressing amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-linked SOD1 mutations." <u>Acta Neuropathol</u> 102(4): 293-305.
- Jordens, I., M. Marsman, C. Kuijl and J. Neefjes (2005). "Rab proteins, connecting transport and vesicle fusion." <u>Traffic</u> 6(12): 1070-7.
- Julien, J. P. and J. Kriz (2006). "Transgenic mouse models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1762**(11-12): 1013-24.
- Kardon, J. R., S. L. Reck-Peterson and R. D. Vale (2009). "Regulation of the processivity and intracellular localization of Saccharomyces cerevisiae dynein by dynactin." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 106(14): 5669-74.
- Kardon, J. R. and R. D. Vale (2009). "Regulators of the cytoplasmic dynein motor." <u>Nat</u> <u>Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **10**(12): 854-65.
- Karki, S., B. LaMonte and E. L. Holzbaur (1998). "Characterization of the p22 subunit of dynactin reveals the localization of cytoplasmic dynein and dynactin to the midbody of dividing cells." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 142(4): 1023-34.
- Kieran, D., M. Hafezparast, S. Bohnert, J. R. Dick, J. Martin, G. Schiavo, E. M. Fisher and L. Greensmith (2005). "A mutation in dynein rescues axonal transport defects and extends the life span of ALS mice." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 169(4): 561-7.
- Kim, H., S. C. Ling, G. C. Rogers, C. Kural, P. R. Selvin, S. L. Rogers and V. I. Gelfand (2007). "Microtubule binding by dynactin is required for microtubule organization but not cargo transport." J Cell Biol 176(5): 641-51.
- King, S. J., M. Bonilla, M. E. Rodgers and T. A. Schroer (2002). "Subunit organization in cytoplasmic dynein subcomplexes." <u>Protein Sci</u> 11(5): 1239-50.

- King, S. J. and T. A. Schroer (2000). "Dynactin increases the processivity of the cytoplasmic dynein motor." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **2**(1): 20-4.
- King, S. M. (2000). "AAA domains and organization of the dynein motor unit." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Sci</u> **113** (**Pt 14**): 2521-6.
- King, S. M. (2009). "Purification of axonemal dyneins and dynein-associated components from Chlamydomonas." <u>Methods Cell Biol</u> 92: 31-48.
- King, S. M., E. Barbarese, J. F. Dillman, 3rd, S. E. Benashski, K. T. Do, R. S. Patel-King and K. K. Pfister (1998). "Cytoplasmic dynein contains a family of differentially expressed light chains." <u>Biochemistry</u> 37(43): 15033-41.
- Kuta, A., W. Deng, A. Morsi El-Kadi, G. T. Banks, M. Hafezparast, K. K. Pfister and E. M. Fisher (2010). "Mouse cytoplasmic dynein intermediate chains: identification of new isoforms, alternative splicing and tissue distribution of transcripts." <u>PLoS One</u> 5(7): e11682.
- Layton, W. M., Jr. (1976). "Random determination of a developmental process: reversal of normal visceral asymmetry in the mouse." J Hered **67**(6): 336-8.
- Lee, I. H., S. Kumar and M. Plamann (2001). "Null mutants of the neurospora actinrelated protein 1 pointed-end complex show distinct phenotypes." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 12(7): 2195-206.
- Levy, J. R. and E. L. Holzbaur (2006). "Cytoplasmic dynein/dynactin function and dysfunction in motor neurons." Int J Dev Neurosci 24(2-3): 103-11.
- Liang, Y., W. Yu, Y. Li, Z. Yang, X. Yan, Q. Huang and X. Zhu (2004). "Nudel functions in membrane traffic mainly through association with Lis1 and cytoplasmic dynein." J Cell Biol 164(4): 557-66.
- Maier, K. C., J. E. Godfrey, C. J. Echeverri, F. K. Cheong and T. A. Schroer (2008). "Dynamitin mutagenesis reveals protein-protein interactions important for dynactin structure." <u>Traffic</u> 9(4): 481-91.
- Mallik, R., B. C. Carter, S. A. Lex, S. J. King and S. P. Gross (2004). "Cytoplasmic dynein functions as a gear in response to load." <u>Nature</u> **427**(6975): 649-52.
- Markus, S. M., J. J. Punch and W. L. Lee (2009). "Motor- and tail-dependent targeting of dynein to microtubule plus ends and the cell cortex." <u>Curr Biol</u> **19**(3): 196-205.
- McGrail, M., J. Gepner, A. Silvanovich, S. Ludmann, M. Serr and T. S. Hays (1995). "Regulation of cytoplasmic dynein function in vivo by the Drosophila Glued complex." J Cell Biol 131(2): 411-25.
- McIlwain, D. L. (1991). "Nuclear and cell body size in spinal motor neurons." <u>Adv</u> <u>Neurol</u> 56: 67-74.

- Mesngon, M. T., C. Tarricone, S. Hebbar, A. M. Guillotte, E. W. Schmitt, L. Lanier, A. Musacchio, S. J. King and D. S. Smith (2006). "Regulation of cytoplasmic dynein ATPase by Lis1." <u>J Neurosci</u> 26(7): 2132-9.
- Mikami, A., S. H. Tynan, T. Hama, K. Luby-Phelps, T. Saito, J. E. Crandall, J. C. Besharse and R. B. Vallee (2002). "Molecular structure of cytoplasmic dynein 2 and its distribution in neuronal and ciliated cells." J Cell Sci 115(Pt 24): 4801-8.
- Miller, K. E. and M. P. Sheetz (2004). "Axonal mitochondrial transport and potential are correlated." J Cell Sci 117(Pt 13): 2791-804.
- Mukherjee, S., R. N. Ghosh and F. R. Maxfield (1997). "Endocytosis." <u>Physiol Rev</u> 77(3): 759-803.
- Neuwald, A. F., L. Aravind, J. L. Spouge and E. V. Koonin (1999). "AAA+: A class of chaperone-like ATPases associated with the assembly, operation, and disassembly of protein complexes." <u>Genome Res</u> **9**(1): 27-43.
- Nurminsky, D. I., M. V. Nurminskaya, E. V. Benevolenskaya, Y. Y. Shevelyov, D. L. Hartl and V. A. Gvozdev (1998). "Cytoplasmic dynein intermediate-chain isoforms with different targeting properties created by tissue-specific alternative splicing." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 18(11): 6816-25.
- Ogawa, K. (1991). "Four ATP-binding sites in the midregion of the beta heavy chain of dynein." <u>Nature</u> **352**(6336): 643-5.
- Parkar, N. S., B. S. Akpa, L. C. Nitsche, L. E. Wedgewood, A. T. Place, M. S. Sverdlov, O. Chaga and R. D. Minshall (2009). "Vesicle formation and endocytosis: function, machinery, mechanisms, and modeling." <u>Antioxid Redox Signal</u> 11(6): 1301-12.
- Paschal, B. M., A. Mikami, K. K. Pfister and R. B. Vallee (1992). "Homology of the 74kD cytoplasmic dynein subunit with a flagellar dynein polypeptide suggests an intracellular targeting function." J Cell Biol 118(5): 1133-43.
- Paschal, B. M., H. S. Shpetner and R. B. Vallee (1987). "MAP 1C is a microtubuleactivated ATPase which translocates microtubules in vitro and has dynein-like properties." J Cell Biol 105(3): 1273-82.
- Pazour, G. J., B. L. Dickert and G. B. Witman (1999). "The DHC1b (DHC2) isoform of cytoplasmic dynein is required for flagellar assembly." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 144(3): 473-81.
- Perrone, C. A., D. Tritschler, P. Taulman, R. Bower, B. K. Yoder and M. E. Porter (2003). "A novel dynein light intermediate chain colocalizes with the retrograde motor for intraflagellar transport at sites of axoneme assembly in chlamydomonas and Mammalian cells." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 14(5): 2041-56.
- Petsko, G. A. and D. Ringe (2004). <u>Protein Structure and Function</u>. London, New Science Press Ltd.
- Pfister, K. K., E. M. Fisher, I. R. Gibbons, T. S. Hays, E. L. Holzbaur, J. R. McIntosh, M. E. Porter, T. A. Schroer, K. T. Vaughan, G. B. Witman, S. M. King and R. B. Vallee (2005). "Cytoplasmic dynein nomenclature." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 171(3): 411-3.
- Porter, M. E., R. Bower, J. A. Knott, P. Byrd and W. Dentler (1999). "Cytoplasmic dynein heavy chain 1b is required for flagellar assembly in Chlamydomonas." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 10(3): 693-712.
- Puls, I., C. Jonnakuty, B. H. LaMonte, E. L. Holzbaur, M. Tokito, E. Mann, M. K. Floeter, K. Bidus, D. Drayna, S. J. Oh, R. H. Brown, Jr., C. L. Ludlow and K. H. Fischbeck (2003). "Mutant dynactin in motor neuron disease." <u>Nat Genet</u> 33(4): 455-6.
- Reaume, A. G., J. L. Elliott, E. K. Hoffman, N. W. Kowall, R. J. Ferrante, D. F. Siwek, H. M. Wilcox, D. G. Flood, M. F. Beal, R. H. Brown, Jr., R. W. Scott and W. D. Snider (1996). "Motor neurons in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase-deficient mice develop normally but exhibit enhanced cell death after axonal injury." <u>Nat Genet</u> 13(1): 43-7.
- Reck-Peterson, S. L. and R. D. Vale (2004). "Molecular dissection of the roles of nucleotide binding and hydrolysis in dynein's AAA domains in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 101(39): 14305.
- Reiner, O., R. Carrozzo, Y. Shen, M. Wehnert, F. Faustinella, W. B. Dobyns, C. T. Caskey and D. H. Ledbetter (1993). "Isolation of a Miller-Dieker lissencephaly gene containing G protein beta-subunit-like repeats." <u>Nature</u> 364(6439): 717-21.
- Roberts, A. J., N. Numata, M. L. Walker, Y. S. Kato, B. Malkova, T. Kon, R. Ohkura, F. Arisaka, P. J. Knight, K. Sutoh and S. A. Burgess (2009). "AAA+ Ring and linker swing mechanism in the dynein motor." <u>Cell</u> 136(3): 485-95.
- Rosen, D. R., T. Siddique, D. Patterson, D. A. Figlewicz, P. Sapp, A. Hentati, D. Donaldson, J. Goto, J. P. O'Regan, H. X. Deng and et al. (1993). "Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis." <u>Nature</u> 362(6415): 59-62.
- Ross, J. L., K. Wallace, H. Shuman, Y. E. Goldman and E. L. Holzbaur (2006). "Processive bidirectional motion of dynein-dynactin complexes in vitro." <u>Nat</u> <u>Cell Biol</u> 8(6): 562-70.
- Santel, A. and S. Frank (2008). "Shaping mitochondria: The complex posttranslational regulation of the mitochondrial fission protein DRP1." <u>IUBMB Life</u> **60**(7): 448-55.
- Sasaki, S., A. Shionoya, M. Ishida, M. J. Gambello, J. Yingling, A. Wynshaw-Boris and S. Hirotsune (2000). "A LIS1/NUDEL/cytoplasmic dynein heavy chain complex in the developing and adult nervous system." <u>Neuron</u> 28(3): 681-96.

Sbalzarini, I. F. and P. Koumoutsakos (2005). "Feature point tracking and trajectory analysis for video imaging in cell biology." J Struct Biol **151**(2): 182-95.

Schroer, T. A. (2004). "Dynactin." Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 20: 759-79.

- Schwarzer, C., S. Barnikol-Watanabe, F. P. Thinnes and N. Hilschmann (2002). "Voltage-dependent anion-selective channel (VDAC) interacts with the dynein light chain Tctex1 and the heat-shock protein PBP74." <u>Int J Biochem Cell Biol</u> 34(9): 1059-70.
- Shah, P. R., A. Ahmad-Annuar, K. R. Ahmadi, C. Russ, P. C. Sapp, H. R. Horvitz, R. H. Brown, Jr., D. B. Goldstein and E. M. Fisher (2006). "No association of DYNC1H1 with sporadic ALS in a case-control study of a northern European derived population: a tagging SNP approach." <u>Amyotroph Lateral Scler</u> 7(1): 46-56.
- Shaw, P. J. (2001). "Genetic inroads in familial ALS." Nat Genet 29(2): 103-4.
- Shimizu, T., Y. Y. Toyoshima, M. Edamatsu and R. D. Vale (1995). "Comparison of the motile and enzymatic properties of two microtubule minus-end-directed motors, ncd and cytoplasmic dynein." <u>Biochemistry</u> 34(5): 1575-82.
- Short, B., C. Preisinger, J. Schaletzky, R. Kopajtich and F. A. Barr (2002). "The Rab6 GTPase regulates recruitment of the dynactin complex to Golgi membranes." <u>Curr Biol</u> 12(20): 1792-5.
- Silvanovich, A., M. G. Li, M. Serr, S. Mische and T. S. Hays (2003). "The third P-loop domain in cytoplasmic dynein heavy chain is essential for dynein motor function and ATP-sensitive microtubule binding." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 14(4): 1355-65.
- Splitt, M. P., J. Burn and J. Goodship (1996). "Defects in the determination of left-right asymmetry." J Med Genet **33**(6): 498-503.
- Starr, D. A., B. C. Williams, T. S. Hays and M. L. Goldberg (1998). "ZW10 helps recruit dynactin and dynein to the kinetochore." J Cell Biol 142(3): 763-74.
- Stehman, S. A., Y. Chen, R. J. McKenney and R. B. Vallee (2007). "NudE and NudEL are required for mitotic progression and are involved in dynein recruitment to kinetochores." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 178(4): 583-94.
- Suen, D. F., K. L. Norris and R. J. Youle (2008). "Mitochondrial dynamics and apoptosis." <u>Genes Dev</u> 22(12): 1577-90.
- Supp, D. M., M. Brueckner, M. R. Kuehn, D. P. Witte, L. A. Lowe, J. McGrath, J. Corrales and S. S. Potter (1999). "Targeted deletion of the ATP binding domain of left-right dynein confirms its role in specifying development of left-right asymmetries." <u>Development</u> 126(23): 5495-504.

- Taub, N., D. Teis, H. L. Ebner, M. W. Hess and L. A. Huber (2007). "Late endosomal traffic of the epidermal growth factor receptor ensures spatial and temporal fidelity of mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 18(12): 4698-710.
- Teuchert, M., D. Fischer, B. Schwalenstoecker, H. J. Habisch, T. M. Bockers and A. C. Ludolph (2006). "A dynein mutation attenuates motor neuron degeneration in SOD1(G93A) mice." <u>Exp Neurol</u> 198(1): 271-4.
- Turner, B. J. and K. Talbot (2008). "Transgenics, toxicity and therapeutics in rodent models of mutant SOD1-mediated familial ALS." <u>Prog Neurobiol</u> **85**(1): 94-134.
- Tynan, S. H., M. A. Gee and R. B. Vallee (2000). "Distinct but overlapping sites within the cytoplasmic dynein heavy chain for dimerization and for intermediate chain and light intermediate chain binding." J Biol Chem 275(42): 32769-74.
- Vaisberg, E. A., P. M. Grissom and J. R. McIntosh (1996). "Mammalian cells express three distinct dynein heavy chains that are localized to different cytoplasmic organelles." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 133(4): 831-42.
- Vale, R. D. (2003). "The molecular motor toolbox for intracellular transport." <u>Cell</u> **112**(4): 467-80.
- Vallee, R. B. and P. Hook (2006). "Autoinhibitory and other autoregulatory elements within the dynein motor domain." J Struct Biol **156**(1): 175-81.
- Varadi, A., L. I. Johnson-Cadwell, V. Cirulli, Y. Yoon, V. J. Allan and G. A. Rutter (2004). "Cytoplasmic dynein regulates the subcellular distribution of mitochondria by controlling the recruitment of the fission factor dynamin-related protein-1." J Cell Sci 117(Pt 19): 4389-400.
- Vaughan, K. T. and R. B. Vallee (1995). "Cytoplasmic dynein binds dynactin through a direct interaction between the intermediate chains and p150Glued." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 131(6 Pt 1): 1507-16.
- Vaughan, P. S., J. D. Leszyk and K. T. Vaughan (2001). "Cytoplasmic dynein intermediate chain phosphorylation regulates binding to dynactin." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 276(28): 26171-9.
- Vaughan, P. S., P. Miura, M. Henderson, B. Byrne and K. T. Vaughan (2002). "A role for regulated binding of p150(Glued) to microtubule plus ends in organelle transport." J Cell Biol 158(2): 305-19.
- Waterman-Storer, C. M., S. B. Karki, S. A. Kuznetsov, J. S. Tabb, D. G. Weiss, G. M. Langford and E. L. Holzbaur (1997). "The interaction between cytoplasmic dynein and dynactin is required for fast axonal transport." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 94(22): 12180-5.

- Williamson, T. L. and D. W. Cleveland (1999). "Slowing of axonal transport is a very early event in the toxicity of ALS-linked SOD1 mutants to motor neurons." <u>Nat Neurosci</u> **2**(1): 50-6.
- Woodman, P. G. (2000). "Biogenesis of the sorting endosome: the role of Rab5." <u>Traffic</u> 1(9): 695-701.
- Yamada, M., S. Toba, Y. Yoshida, K. Haratani, D. Mori, Y. Yano, Y. Mimori-Kiyosue, T. Nakamura, K. Itoh, S. Fushiki, M. Setou, A. Wynshaw-Boris, T. Torisawa, Y. Y. Toyoshima and S. Hirotsune (2008). "LIS1 and NDEL1 coordinate the plusend-directed transport of cytoplasmic dynein." <u>Embo J</u> 27(19): 2471-83.

PUBLICATIONS

X Author's Choice

The Legs at odd angles (Loa) Mutation in Cytoplasmic Dynein Ameliorates Mitochondrial Function in SOD1 G93A Mouse Model for Motor Neuron Disease*

ived for publication, March 31, 2010, and in revised form, April 8, 2010 Published, JBC Papers in Press, April 9, 2010, DOI 10.1074/JbC.M110.129320 All Morsi El-Kadi¹, Virginie Bros-Facer³, Wenhan Deng¹, Amelia Philpott¹, Eleanor Stoddart¹, Gareth Banks¹, Graham S. Jackson¹, Elizabeth M. C. Fisher¹, Michael R. Duchen¹, Linda Greensmith¹, Anthony L. Moore¹, and Majid Hafezparast¹¹

From the "Biochemistry and Biomedical Science, School of Life Sciences, University of Sussey, Brighton BN1 9QG, the "Sobell Department of Motor Neuroscience and Movement Disorders and the "Department of Neurodegenerative Disease, UCL Institute of Neurology, London WC1N 3BG, and "Cell and Developmental Biology, UCL Division of Biosciences, London WC1B 6BT, United Kingdom

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a debilitating and fatal set neurodegenerative disease. Familial cases of ALS (FALS) constitute -- 10% of all ALS cases, and mutant superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) is found in 15-20% of FALS. SOD1 mutations confer a toxic gain of unknown function to the pro tein that specifically targets the motor neurons in the cortex and the spinal cord. We have previously shown that the autosomal dominant Legs at odd angles (Loa) mutation in cytoplasmic dynein heavy chain (Dync1h1) delays disease onset and extends the life span of transgenic mice harboring human mutant SOD1^{G93A}. In this study we provide evidence that despite the lack of direct interactions between mutant SOD1 and either mutant or wild-type cytoplasmic dynein, the Loa mutation con fers significant reductions in the amount of mutant SOD1 protein in the mitochondrial matrix. Moreover, we show that the Los mutation ameliorates defects in mitochondrial respiration and membrane potential observed in SOD1^{C033A} motor neuron mitochondria. These data suggest that the Los mutation reduces the vulnerability of mitochondria to the toxic effects of mutant SOD1, leading to improved mitochondrial function in SOD1^{G93A} motor neurons.

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)² is a debilitating lateonset, progressive form of motor neuron disease that primarily

¹ To whom correspondence should be addressed. Tel: 44-1273-678214; Fae: 44-1273-878663; Email: muharkomparat/Wsussoca.cuk. ²¹ The abbreviations used are: ALS, amyotrphic latoral skenols; SOD1, Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase 1; Dyn-Ch1 and DHC, cytoplasmic dynain heavy chain b, DC, choin intermediate chain; p150, dynaetin p150^{wmen}, Loa, Logs of old angle; TGN38, trans-Golgi network 38; HB, homogenization buffer; P, Immunoprecipitation; BDG, buoyant density gradient; PK, proteinae K, LMS, Intermediate espace; FCCP, cyanicle -p-trillucoromothoxyphenythydrazone; TMM8, totranethythocamic entityl ester pertrilorate (S37, glidathions - Thansfersae; EH, endoplavmic reflucture; MDPS, 4-morpholinepropanesufornic add; PBS, phosphale-buffered saline.

JUNE 11, 2010-VOLUME 285-NUMBER 24

targets motor neurons in the cortex, brainstem, and the anterior horn of the spinal cord, leading to paralysis and eventually death, typically within 5 years of diagnosis (1-5). The majority of ALS cases are sporadic, and ~10% are familial, although the etiology of ALS is largely unknown. Between 15 to 20% of familial ALS and ~1% of sporadic ALS are caused by dominant gain of-toxic function mutations in the gene coding for Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) (6-8).

Transgenic mice overexpressing mutant forms of human SOD1 have been invaluable in providing insights into the pathogenesis of ALS and in highlighting the cellular functions that are targeted in the disease (for reviews, see Refs 9 and 10). Formation of intracellular protein aggregates in motor neurons is a common characteristic of all ALS cases and is also observed in SOD1 transgenic mouse models. Biochemical and immunohistochemical studies have shown that SOD1 and ubiquitin aggregates are present in SOD1-mediated familial ALS cases and their transgenic mouse models and that TDP-43 and ubiquitin aggregates are seen in most ALS inclusions, including spo radic ALS (3, 10-12).

Mutant SOD1-mediated motor neuron death is thought to be due to a gain of aberrant chemistry in copper and zinc active sites, making them highly reactive with subsequent damage to other proteins, but Wang et al. (13) showed that mutant SOD1 proteins with significantly reduced affinity to copper, but with propensity to aggregation, induced disease similar to those variants that stably bind copper. However, mutant SOD1 toxicity could be the result of toxicity of the intracellular aggregates through aberrant chemistry, sequestration of other proteins into the aggregates, proteasome overload, and damage to specific organelles such as mitochondria (3, 14).

In addition, impaired axonal transport has been highlighted in motor neuron death in ALS, and we and others have shown that axonal transport defects are one of the earliest pathological events observed in motor neurons of mutant SOD1 transgenic mice (15-20). Furthermore, in vivo experiments involving injection of a neurotracer have shown that transport from muscle to motor neurons is impaired in SOD1G95A mice and that there is an association of dynein with mutant SOD1 aggregates in the motor neurons of these mice (21). Two recent studies have reported that there is a direct "gain-of-interaction"

This work was supported by the Medical Research Council (to M. H., A. M. E.-K., and E. S.), the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (to M. H., W. D., and A. L. M.), the Amyotrophic Lateral Sciences Association and Robert Packad Conter for ALS Research at Johns Hopkins (to M. H., L. G., E. M. C. F., and V. B.-F.), the Brain Research Trust (to L. G.). The Well-come Trust (to G. B. and E. M. C. F.), and the University of Sussex (to A. P.).
 Author's Choice—Final version full access.
 Bio Theon-line version of this article givaliable at http://www.jbc.orgi.contains.supplemental Figs. 1–0.
 To whom correspondence should be addressed. Tel: 44-1273-678214; Fae: 44.1273-678214; Fae: 44.1273-678214; Fae: 54.1273-678214; Fae: 54.1278214; F

between aggregate-prone variants of mutant, but not wild-type, SOD1 (including SOD1^{(27)AA}), and cytoplasmic dynein in glutathione S-transferase (GST) pulldown and immunoprecipitation assays and that disruption of cytoplasmic dynein function abolishes this interaction (22, 23).

Cytoplasmic dynein is a motor protein involved in diverse cellular processes including nuclear movement, positioning of mitotic spindles, Golgi apparatus and endoplasmic reticulum, and retrograde axonal transport of mitochondria and endocytic membranes containing neurotrophic factors in neurons (24-28). This multisubunit protein complex consists of two homodimerized heavy chains, DYNC1H1, here referred to as DHC, and several intermediates (DYNC11), here referred to as DIC, light intermediates (DYNC1LI), and light (DYNL) chains (25, 29). Dynein function is regulated by another multisubunit protein, dynactin, which through its p150 subunit also plays a significant role as a docking protein for some of the various cargos transported by dynein (30). We have previously shown that an autosomal dominant point mutation causing F580Y substitution in DHC gives rise to a progressive motor deficit in heterozygous Loa (Dync1h1^{Loar/+}) mice (31–33) and that in cul-tured motor neurons isolated from E13.5 homozygous embryos this mutation impairs retrograde axonal transport leading to motor neuron degeneration and death of the pups within a day after birth (31). In addition, others have shown that the Loa mutation causes y-motor neuron and proprioceptive sensory neuron degeneration in heterozygous Dync1h1^{Log/+} which is thought to be the cause of the phenotype in these mice (34, 35). Interestingly, when we crossed Dync1h1100/ with SOD1 CIPSA mice to investigate a possible link between dynein and mutant SOD1, the SOD1695A;Dync1h1Log/+ progeny from this cross showed a wild-type phenotype with regard to muscle force, motor unit, and motor neuron survival at 120 days when their SOD1G95A littermates exhibited severe defects (17). Moreover, the average lifespan of SOD1^{G99A};DyncIh1^{Log/+} mice increased by 28% compared with their SOD1^{G295A} littermates ($p \le 0.001$). In addition, the Log allelic mutation Y1055C in Dync1h1Cra1/+ mice has also been shown to delay disease onset and increase the life span of SOD1 G93A mice by 14% (36). Subsequently Chen et al. (34) and llieva et al. (35) replicated these in mice bearing the Loa mutation and found increases in life span of 21% (p < 0.01) and 9% (p = 0.002), respectively.

Both (34) and lileva et al. (35) also reported significant loss of proprioceptive sensory neurons in Dync1h1^{Log/+} mice. The loss of sensory neurons in Dync1h1^{Log/+} mice prompted lileva et al. (35) to propose that the rescue of SOD1^{C079A} is a result of reduced glutamate excitotoxicity brought about by the loss of the glutamatergic proprioceptive sensory neurons (35). However, the Sprawling (Dync1h1^{Shell/+}) mouse with a G1040-T1043delinsA mutation in the dynein heavy chain shows even greater proprioceptive sensory neuron loss than the Loa, but it is not able to rescue the SOD1^{C0793A} phenotype (34). Moreover, the W1206R mutation in Abnormal rear leg (ArI) mouse, which is allelic to Loa, confers loss of sensory neuron fibers in the Dync1h1^{LMTV+} mice, but it has no effect on the disease onset or

18628 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

life span in the double mutant SOD1^{(392A};DyncIh1^{Art/+} mice.³ These findings, therefore, do not support the hypothesis that the protection of motor neurons in SOD1^{(393A}/DyncIh1^{L0A/+} mice is solely the result of reduced glutamatergic sensory neuron input by the Loa mutation.

The above findings do, however, suggest a link between cytoplasmic dynein and SOD1⁽¹⁰⁾²⁴ toxicity. In this report we present evidence to suggest that the *Loa* mutation in dynein affects the subcellular distribution of mutant SOD1 protein in SOD1^{(10)3A};*Dync1h1^{Loa/+}* mice after, but not before, the onset of the disease. Furthermore, the *Loa* mutation in dynein weakens the association of SOD1^{(10)A} protein with the mitochondria in the cortex of the brain and spinal cord. We also present data showing severe defects in respiration and membrane potential of SOD1^{(10)3A} mitochondria, which are ameliorated in mitochondria isolated from SOD1^{(10)3A};*Dync1h1^{Loa/+}* mice. In addition, the results of this study show that there is no direct interaction between dynein and SOD1^{(10)3A} and that SOD1^{(10)3A}

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Animals and Tissue Collection-Congenic heterozygous Dync1h1^{Loa/+} female mice, maintained on a C57BL/6 (Harlan UK) genetic background, were crossed with male transgenic mice expressing human SOD1^{(295A}, maintained on an F1 (SJL x C57BL/6) genetic background, to produce four genetically distinct groups of littermates: Dync1h1^{+/+}, Dync1h1^{Log/+} heterozygote, SOD1093A hemizygote, and SOD1090A, DyncIh1^{1000/4} double-heterozygote (represented in the figures as ++, Loa/+, SOD1093A, and SOD1^{100A}/Loa, respectively) mice. The SJL mice were purchased from Harlan UK. All mice were identified by genotyping for the Log mutation in the cytonic dynein heavy chain gene Dync1h1 and the human SOD1 transgene from tail genomic DNA (31, 37). Tissues were harvested from mice at different ages and/or different stages of se. The early stage was when the mice showed a body weight loss of less than 10% accompanied by shaky hind limbs the late stage was characterized by a 10-15% reduction in body weight accompanied by an apparent muscle wasting and paralysis of hind limbs; the end stage was when the mice lost their righting reflex and showed 20% reduction of their body weight compared with that before becoming symptomatic. Mice were killed by a schedule 1 killing, and brains and spinal cords were dissected, washed with appropriate ice-cold buffers, and either used fresh or snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at 80 °C. All animal experiments were conducted in accord with the UK Animal (Scientific Procedures) Act (1986). Chemicals, Reagents, and Antibodies—All chemicals and

Chemicals, Reagents, and Antibodies—All chemicals and reagents were obtained from Sigma unless otherwise stated. Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS^{-Ca-MB}) was from Invitrogen; RIPA was from Upstate Biotechnology; protein A-Sepharose 4B beads were from Zymed Laboratories Inc; protein A- and protein B-agarose beads were from Roche Applied Science;

ASEMIE.

¹V. Bros-Facer, M. Golding, D. Boèrio-Guéguen, N. Nitmalananthan, R. Chia, A. Philpott, A. M. Fiennikan, I. Vukobrodovic, L. R. Ozborne, S. L. Adamson, J. Rossant, E. Stoddart, E. M. C. Fisher, H. Bostock, G. Schlavo, L. Greensmith, and M. Hafezparast, manuscript in preparation.

proteinase K was from New England Biolabs; BS³ and the BCA protein assay kit were from Pierce. The following antibodies were used in this study: mouse monoclonal anti-dynein intermediate chain 74.1 (generously provided by Dr. K. Pfister, University of Virginia or Santa Cruz, sc-13524), FL-154 rabbit polyclonal anti-SOD1, H-300 rabbit polyclonal anti-dynactin p150^{Cituad}, R-325 rabbit polyclonal anti-dynein heavy chain, 20-E8 mouse monoclonal anti-Cox4, C-20 goat polyclonal anticalnexin, C-15 goat polyclonal anti-TGN38, (Santa Cruz Bio-technology, sc-11407, sc-11363, sc-9115, sc-58348, sc-6465, sc-77680, respectively), NCL-SOD1 mouse monoclonal anti-SOD1 (Novo Castra), mouse monoclonal anti-p150^{(Stasd} (BD Transduction Laboratories, 610473), and mouse monoclonal anti-a-tubulin (Upstate Biotechnology, 05-829).

Immunoprecipitation and Cross-linking-Homogenization of the mouse brain or spinal cord tissues and immunoprecipitation experiments were carried out after either the procedure we developed in our laboratories (see "Results") or as described elsewhere (22). Brains and spinal cords were homogenized in a range of homogenization buffers (HBs) (see "Results" for details). The homogenates were clarified by centrifugation at 16,000 × g for 15 min at 4 °C, and their protein contents were determined using the BCA kit. Approximately 2.0 mg of homo-genate proteins were cleared by incubation with beads for 1 h ads for 1 h with shaking at 4 °C, and the beads then removed by centrifugation. The cleared homogenates were then incubated with a range of different beads (protein G-agarose, protein A-agarose, or protein A-Sepharose 4B beads or TrueBlotTM anti-mouse Ig or protein A-Sepharose 4B beads or 1 ruenou anti-IP beads from eBioscience) linked with anti-DIC, anti-dynactin p150, or anti-SOD1 antibodies or with anti-hemagglutinin antibody or IgG as the negative control for time periods that varied between 3 h to overnight with shaking at 4 °C. The immunoprecipitated complexes on beads were retrieved by brief centrifugation and washed four times with HB and once with water. Protein complexes on beads were resuspended in 1× SDS loading buffer, heated for 5 min at 95 °C, and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting detecting for DIC, DHC, p150, and SOD1. Chemical cross-linking with BS3, the water soluble analogue of disuccinimidyl suberate, was performed according to the manufacturer's recommendations and Zhang et al. (22)

Sucrose Density Gradient Analysis—A 4.8-ml 5–40% contin-uous sucrose gradient in PBS^{–CarMg} was established overnight at 4 °C in Beckman Ultra-Clear Centrifuge tubes (Beckman, Palo Alto, CA). Brains and spinal cords of DyncIh1^{Log/+}, DyncIh1^{Log/+}, SOD1^{(293A}, and SOD1^{(293A};DyncIh1^{Log/+} mice at different postnatal stages were homogenized in PBS-Ca/Mg containing 0.1% Triton X-100 and protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Homogenates were spun at 800 \times g for 15 min. Protein contents of the supernatants were determined, and the equivalent to 1.5-2 mg of protein of tissue homogenate was layered onto the gradient. After centrifugation at 237,000 × g in a SW-55 Ti rotor (Beckman) for 4 h at 4 °C, 16 equal-volume fractions were collected, and equal volumes of each fraction were loaded onto 4-12% gradient SDS-PAGE gels and analyzed by immunoblotting.

Buovant Density Analysis-Buoyant density analysis was carried out essentially as described by Vande Velde et al. (38).

JUNE 11, 2010-VOLUME 285-NUMBER 24 ASEME Briefly, cerebral cortices and spinal cords of late-stage SOD1^{CP3A} and SOD1^{CP3A};Dync1h1^{Lna/+} mice were collected and washed with PBS^{-CarMg} and then placed in an ice-cold HB containing 250 mм sucrose, 10 mм Hepes-NaOH (pH 7.4), 1 ms EDTA plus protease, and phosphatase inhibitors. Tissues were homogenized on ice with seven strokes of a glass-pestle homogenizer. Homogenates were centrifuged at $1000 \times g$ for 10 min. Supernatants were collected, and the pellets were washed with 0.5 volumes HB and centrifuged again. Supernatants were pooled and centrifuged at $16,000 \times g$ for 15 min to yield a crude mitochondrial pellet and post-mitochondrial supernatant. Crude mitochondria were gently resuspended in HB and then adjusted to 1.204 g/ml Optiprep (iodixanol) and loaded in the bottom of Beckman Ultra-Clear centrifuge tubes. Crude mitochondria were overlaid with an equal volume of 1.175 g/ml and 1.078 g/ml Optiprep in HB and centrifuged at $50,000 \times g$ for 4 h in a Beckman SW-55 Ti rotor. During centrifugation, mitochondria along with any proteins tightly associated with them float up to their corresponding buoyant den-sity of 1.13-1.15 g/ml, which bands at the interface between the 1.078- and 1.175-g/ml layers of the gradient. Under these con ditions, soluble or aggregated proteins (density 1.26 g/ml) would not be able to break through the density barrier and should sediment downward. After centrifugation the mitochondria-enriched bands were collected and washed once with HB to remove the Optiprep. The protein contents of these fractions were then determined. Samples of the SOD1^{GD3A} and SOD1^{GD3A};Dyuc1h1^{L0a'+} cerebral cortex and spinal cord buoyant density gradient (BDG) fractions con-taining equal amounts of proteins were subjected to treatments with salt, alkali, and digestion with proteinase K in the presence and absence of detergents and then analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

Preparation of the Microsomes-The post-crude mitochondrial supernatant obtained during sample preparation for the buoyant density analysis was used to obtain the microsomal fraction. The pellet (microsomal fraction) obtained after spinning the post-mitochondrial supernatant at 60,000 × g at 4 °C in the Beckman TL-100 ultracentrifuge was washed once with the HB, and the protein content was determined. Samples of the SOD1^{G203A} and SOD1^{G203A};Dync1k1^{Log/+} cerebral cortex and spinal cord microsomal fractions containing equal amounts of proteins were subjected to chemical insults with salt and alkali and digestion with proteinase K in the presence and absence of detergents and then analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

Treatment with Alkali-Samples from the BDG fractions and the microsomal fraction were incubated with 0.1 M Na2CO3 (pH 11.5) for 30 min on ice and then centrifuged at 16,000 × g for 15 min. Supernatants were collected, and pellets were washed once and then resuspended in homogenization buffer. Supernatants and pellets were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and nunoblotting.

Extraction with High Salt-Samples from the BDG fractions and the microsomal fraction containing equal amounts of proteins were incubated sequentially in 0.2, 0.5, and 1.0 M KCl for 20 min on ice then centrifuged at 16,000 × g for 15 min. Pellets

were washed once. Pellets and supernatants were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

Treatment with Proteinase K—Samples from the BDG fractions and the microsomal fraction containing equal amounts of proteins were treated with 100 µg/ml proteinase K for 15 min at room temperature in the absence or presence of differing combinations of 0.5–1% Triton X-100 and 1% SDS. Proteinase K was inactivated by adding 10 mw phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride for 10 min on ice. Digestions were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

Preparation of Mitochondria-enriched Fractions for Polarographic Studies and Measurement of Oxygen Consumption— Brain cortex and spinal cord tissues were dissected and washed once in ice-cold tissue wash buffer (TWB: 0.3 m mannitol, 20 mm MOPS, 2 mm EDTA (pH 7.5)) then homogenized with a loose pestle in \sim 1 ml of TWB supplemented with 1% bovine serum albumin and 7 mm i-cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate. Homogenates were centrifuged at 800 × g for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatants were transferred into new tubes and centrifuged at $10,000 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C. The pellets were gently resuspended in \sim 1 ml of TWB supplemented with 1% bovine serum albumin but without i-cysteine and re-centrifuged as above; the pellets (mitochondrial fractions) were then gently resuspended in the minimum amount of TWB supplemented with 1% bovine serum albumin, and protein concentrations were determined.

Oxygen consumption was measured polarographically in a Rank oxygen electrode containing 0.4 ml of 0.3 m mannitol, 10 mm potassium phosphate, 10 mm KCI, 5 mm MgCD₂ and 10 mm HEPES (pH 7.4). Cytochrome c oxidase activity was determined after the addition of 10 mm sodium ascorbate and 1 mm tetramethyl.p-phenylenediamine. Rates are expressed as nmol of Ogrmin⁻¹.mg of protein⁻¹.

Subfractionation of the Mitochondria-Three freshly isolated mouse cortices of each genotype were homogenized and subjected to buoyant density gradient centrifugation to isolate floated mitochondria that were free from protein aggregates, as described above. We then used Pallotti and Lenaz (39) method to fractionate the mitochondria. Briefly, the mitochondria were resuspended in hypotonic 15 mm KCl and allowed to swell for 10 min on ice before centrifugation at 105,000 × g for 15 min. The supernatants, intermembrane space (IMS) fractions, were kept, and the pellets (mitoplasts) were resuspended in 150 mm KCl followed by incubation on ice for 10 min. The m suspensions were then subjected to centrifugation at 105,000 × g for 15 min. The supernatants (S2) were kept, and the mitoplast ellets were then resuspended in 250 mm sucrose and 10 mm Hepes-NaOH (pH7.4) with 1 mm EDTA plus proteases and phosphatase inhibitors followed by drastic sonication at 150 Watt for a total of 10 min, with 30-s bursts and 30-s off cycles. The sonicated suspensions were then centrifuged at $26,000 \times g$ for 15 min to remove large particles. The resulting supernata were pooled and ultracentrifuged at $152,000 \times g$ for 40 min. The supernatants (matrix fractions) were collected, and the pellets (membrane fractions) were resuspended in the above sucrose buffer and kept frozen at -80 °C for Western blot analysis.

Primary Motor Neuron Cultures—Mixed motor neuron cultures were prepared from SOD1^{G93A} mice (40). Briefly, embry-

18630 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

onic spinal cords (E13) were removed, and the ventral horns were isolated. Genotype was determined, and wild type, $Loal^+$, SOD1^{GP3A}, or SOD1^{GP3A}/Loa ventral horns were pooled and cultured separately. Motor neurons were seeded at 2.5×10^4 cells/cm². Cells were maintained in complete neurobasal medium (supplemented with 2% B-27 supplement, 0.5 ms glutamine, 0.05% mercaptoethanol, and 2% horse serum (all linvitrogen), 0.1 ng/ml glial-derived neurotrophic factor, 0.5 ng/ml ciliary neurotrophic factor, and 0.1 ng/ml brain derived neurotrophic factor (all Caltag, Silverstone, UK), 50 units/ml penicilin, 50 µg/ml streptomycin, and 2.5 µg/ml amphotericin B (all Sigma)) in a 37°C, 5% OO2 humidified incubator for 7 days. Motor neurons were distinguished from interneurons using the following morphological criteria: a cell body diameter $\geq 15 \mu m$ and the presence of a minimum of three neuritic processes (for details see Bibland et al. (41).

Fluorescent Measurement of Mitochondrial Membrane Potential ($\Delta \Psi_{m}$)—Confocal images were obtained using a Zeiss 510 confocal laser scanning microscope (Oberkocken, Germany) equipped with $40\times$ and $63\times$ plan-apochromat objective lenses. Cells were loaded with 30 nm tetramethylrhodamine methyl ester (TMRM from Molecular Probes, Paisley, UK) for 30 min and incubated at 37 °C in a HEPES-buffered salt solution (recording medium) composed of 156 mm NaCl, 3 mm KCl, 2 mm MgSO₄, 1.25 mm KH₂PO₄, 2 mm CaCl₂, 10 mm glucose, and 10 mm HEPES (pH 7.35; all Sigma) for the measurement of $\Delta \Psi_{mr}$ Fluorescence was excited using the 543 nm laser line, and emitted fluorescence was measured above 560 nm. Measurements were made from a compressed stack to avoid bias from confocal sampling from a single image plane (41).

Image Analysis— $\Delta \Psi_m$ was analyzed using LSM software (Carl Zeiss GmbH in association with EMBL, Heidelberg, Germany). In all experiments the analysis was made by measuring the mean TMRM fluorescence intensity in mitochondria excluding all background signals, so that the signal was not influenced by mitochondrial mass.

GST Tagging Bacterial Expression, and GST Palldown of SOD1--Wild type SOD1, SOD1^{AW}, SOD1^{GSDR}, and SOD1^{GSDR} in the pET28 expression vector (42) were subcloned in-frame into the GST pGEX-4T-1 (Amersham Biosciences) bacterial expression vector using BamHI/Xhol restriction sites. Escherichia coli Bl.21 (DE3) bacteria were transfected with the GST-tagged SOD1 constructs or pGEX-4T-1 vector, and the proteins were expressed by isopropyl 1-thio-β-D-galactopyranoside induction (43). After lysing the cells, the expressed GST and GST-tagged SOD1 proteins were purified using S-linked glutathione-agarose beads (Sigma). The captured GST and GST-SOD1 proteins on beads were then incubated with brain homogenate prepared from a non-transgenic CS7BL/6 mouse. Beads were then washed 4 times with homogenization buffer then heated in 1× SDS sample loading buffer at 95° Cf or 5 min. The pulldown assays were then analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting.

Statistical Analysis—We used GraphPad Prism and SigmaStat to analyze our data by two-way analysis of variance followed by Bonferroni post tests, for mitochondrial respiratory function studies, Wilcoxon matched-pairs test, for Western blots, the Mann-Whitney U test, Student's t test and analysis of variance, for motor neuron studies. Significance was set at p < 0.05.

VOSED EN





FIGURE 1. The integrity and sucre complex is not compromised in nd sucrose sedimentation pattern of the dynein mised in SOD1083A and SOD1083A/Log, but the composition in dynamic atters the sedimentation of mutant SODT in SOD

JUNE 11, 2010-VOLUME 285-NUMBER 24

CARENCE

Cytoplasmic Dynein Mutation Rescues Mitochondrial Defects

RESULTS

The Integrity and Sucrose Sedimentation Pattern of the Dynein Complex Are Not Compromised in SODI^{CWUA} and SODI^{CWUA},DyncIhl^{Lou'+}-We have previously shown that dynein-mediated retrograde axonal transport is impaired in cultured motor neurons isolated from SOD1095A embryos and cultured motor neurons isolated from SOD1⁴⁰⁰⁰ embryos and that the Loa mutation rescues this defect (17). We, therefore, crossed DyncIhl¹⁰⁰⁷⁺ mice with the SOD1^{5090A} transgenic mice to generate SOD1^{5090A};DyncIhl^{L007+} double mutants, SOD1^{5090A}, DyncIhl^{1007+A}, and DyncIhl^{+/+} progeny and examined whether mutant SOD1 disrupts the dynein complex and, if so, whether the Loa mutation confers any resistance to this disruption in SOD1^{G93A};DyucIh1^{L0a/+} mice, giving rise to delayed disease and extended life span. To investigate this possibility we analyzed the sedimentation of the dynein complex using 5-40% continuous sucrose gradient density sedimentation assays on brain and spinal cord homogenetics of late-stage SOD1^{GELA} (120 days old) and SOD1^{GE3A},Dync1h1^{Log/+} (150 days old) and Dync1h1^{Log/+} and Dync1h1^{+/+} at 150 days of age (Fig. 1A). These data show that the bulk of the dynein complex, repre-

sented by DHC, DIC, and dynein light intermediate chain, sediments in fractions 9, 10, and 11 and that their sedimentation patterns in wild-type (+/+) brain matched those of SOD1^{G95A} brain, and likewise, the sedimentation patterns of these polypep-tides from DyncIh1^{Log/+} brain matched those from SOD1^{C020A}; DyncIh1^{Log/+}. However, we note that there is a slight Log-dependent shift of the dynein complex toward lighter fraction 9 in Dync1h1^{Log/+} and SOD1^{C09A};Dync1h1^{Log/+}, as evident from DIC and dynein light intermediate chain signals in fractions 11 and 12 versus those in fraction 9 of all the genotypes (Fig. 1A). We will discuss these data further under "Discussion." As only a subpopulation of the p150 subunit of dynactin is associated with the dynein complex, there was a wider sucrose gradient density distribution of this polypeptide, but there were no significantly reproducible differences between the genotypes for p150. Together, these data indicate that the dynein complex in brain and spinal cord of transgenic mice is neither perturbed by the presence of mutant SOD1 nor is it involved in higher molecular weight complexes, such as SOD1^{ci} A aggregates.

The Loa Mulation in Dynein Alters the Sedimentation of Mutant SODI in SODI^{1383A};Dync1h1^{Loa/+} Mice-As the mutant SOD1 did not affect the sedimentation pattern of the

avoid overexposure caused by much higher levels or mutant SOD1 (mSOD1) protein in the lighter fractions of the gradient, we loaded 20 μ of fractions 1–3, 8 μ of fractions 5–7, 10 μ of fractions 8–9, and 20 μ of fractions 11–16, supplemental Fig. 3 shows the true representations of equal loading of the fractions on SDS-PAGE immunoblets, C, -fold difference (n = 3–6) in mutant SOD1 protein in fraction 16 of the SOD1^{exem} mice was quantified relative to that in SOD1^{exem}/Los mice using COX4 as the internal control.

dynein complex, we decided to look at the effect of mutant dynein on the sedimentation pattern of SOD1G95A in brains and spinal cords at P35 (postnatal day 35; before symptom onset), P75 (at symptom onset), P90 (early stage disease), P120 (late stage disease), and end-stage (when both SOD1^{COULA} and SOD1^{COULA};Dync1h1^{Lou/+} mice show hind limb paralysis and delayed righting reflex). Fig. 1B shows representative data from brain homogenates and demonstrates that the mutant dynein does not affect the sedimentation of SOD1699A at P35 (i.e. before the onset of the disease). However, at P75, the sedimen-tation of mutant SOD1 protein in SOD1^{G95A} brain homogenate starts to show a different pattern than that from SOD1^{GD3A} Dync1h1^{Log/+} in which the amount of the mutant SOD1 pro tein sedimented in the denser fractions of the gradient was less than that in the equivalent fractions from SOD1 COPSA brain homogenate. Interestingly, this difference increased as the disease progressed from the early stage toward the end-stage, when the difference was most prominent (see P90, p120, and end-stage in Fig. 1B). It is noteworthy that to avoid overexposure of the films due to significantly more mutant SOD1 in the lighter fractions, we loaded smaller amounts of protein in *lanes* 1-10 for SDS-PAGE (Fig. 1B).

Quantitative analyses of these data using the mitochondrial marker COX4 as the internal control are shown in Fig. 1C. Similar results were obtained from BDG centrifugation assays (data not shown) and from spinal cords (see suppl Fig. 1), but the effect was more profound in the brains.

To test that this difference in sedimentation was not due to differences in expression of SOD1^{(293A} protein in SOD1^{(293A}; Dymc1h1^{L0ar/+} and SOD1^{(293A} or in the protein contents loaded onto the sedimentation columns, various amounts of proteins from the same brain homogenates used for sedim ntation experiments were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting using antibodies against SOD1 and a-tubulin. As shown in supplemental Fig. 2, the expression levels of SOD1695A protein are almost identical in SOD1693A;DyncIh110a/+ and SOD1^{G95A} brains, as judged by the signal from the loading control protein, a-tubulin. Together these data suggest that mutant dynein alters the sucrose gradient density distribution of SOD1^{CP3A}, clearing the protein away from the densest fractions of the gradient. This effect, as shown in Fig. 1, B and C, becomes more evident with the progression of the disea

The Loa Mutation Reduces the Amount of Mutant SOD1 in Subcellular Fractions Containing Mitochondria and Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) Microsomes-Next, we used more organelle-specific markers to look at the sedimentation patterns of different cell organelles in the above continuous sucrose gradients. As supplemental Fig. 3 shows, the distribution of the trans-Golgi marker TGN38 (type I integral trans-Golgi membrane protein) was confined to the lightest fractions of the gradient (supplemental Fig. 3, lanes 1-4). ER microsomes were spread across most of the gradient as judged by the signal from calnexin (type I integral ER membrane protein), an ER-specific marker (supplemental Fig. 3, lanes 3-16). Detec-tion for Cox4 (an integral inner mitochondrial membrane protein), on the other hand, revealed that the mitochondria were sedimented solely in the densest fractions of the gradient (Fig. 1B and supplemental Fig. 3). The pattern of SOD1^{GRAA} and the

18632 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

distribution of the mitochondria and ER in the sucrose gradients suggest that the mitochondria and/or ER could be involved in the effect exerted by Log on SOD1^{G93A} distribution.

Effect of the Loa Mutation on the Association of SODI GUESA otein with Mitochondria and ER in the Brain Cortex-The co-enrichment of mutant SOD1 aggregates with organelles such as mitochondria during fractionation, in which the samples were layered on top of a continuous gradient, has been suggested to be a contamination rather than genuine association of the mutant protein with this organelle (38). Thus, we have used a discontinuous iodixanol BDG centrifugation to circurrient this potential contamination problem. After centrifugation, the en riched floated mitochondrial fractions were collected. The iodixanol was removed, and the protein contents of these fractions and the $60,000 \times g$ "microsomal" fraction obtained from the post-mitochondrial supernatant (for details, see "Experimental Procedures") were then determined. Subse-quently, the association of SOD1093A with the organelles contained in these fractions was tested by subjecting samples of equal protein content from all fractions to salt extraction and alkali treatment. These treatments dissociate mutant SOD1 and other peripheral membrane proteins that form electrostatic or hydrogen bonds with the cytoplasmic face of the mitochondrial outer membrane.

Fig. 2A shows representative results of the sequential salt (KCI) or alkali (Na2CO3) extractions from the mitochondriaenriched fractions to release the peripheral membrane proteins. These samples, containing equal amounts of protein, were subjected to increasing concentrations of 0.2, 0.5, and 1.0 M KCl or 0.1 M Na₂CO₃ (pH 11.5). After incubation with each salt or alkali concentration, the samples were centrifuged down to obtain soluble and insoluble fractions. All fractions were then analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting. The West-ern blotting analyses in Fig. 2A show positive signals for Cox4 and calnexin (Fig. 2A, lanes 4, 8, 10, and 12), thus indicating the presence of mitochondria as well as the microsomal ER in the itochondria-enriched fraction of the buoyant density gradient. Moreover, treatment of these membranes with 0.2 M KCI followed by quantification analysis of the signals using COX4 as the internal control revealed that compared with SOD1095 mice, the release of membrane-associated mutant SOD1 pro-tein from SOD1^{G90A};Dync1h1^{L0a/+} brain cortex was significantly higher (p = 0.03, n = 6) (Fig. 2, A, lanes I and 5, and B, left panel). Increasing the salt concentration did not induce further release of SODI^{CHAA} from brain cortex in any of the samples (Fig. 2A, lanes 2 and 3 and lanes 6 and 7). Representative data showing the alkali extraction of

SOD1 (200A are demonstrated in Fig. 2 (right panels). Quantification analysis of these data (Fig. 2.B, right panel) showed increased levels of mutant SOD1 released from the membranes of SOD1^{G723A};Dync1h1^{L04/+} (Fig. 2.A, lanes 11 and 12) than from SOD1 (8934 (Fig. 2A, lanes 9 and 10). This increase, however, did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.1, n = 4).

Thus, the mutant SOD1 protein association with the organelle membranes in the mitochondrial-enriched fraction seems to be more sensitive to salt and alkali in the cerebral cortex of SOD1 CR3A; DyncIh1Loa/+ compared with that from SOD1^{G95A} mice. Moreover, this fraction contains mic



 $\frac{80101}{1000} \frac{1000}{1000} \frac{8000}{1000} \sqrt{1000} \frac{10000}{1000} \frac{10000}{1000$

al-ER as indicated by signals from calnexin (Fig. 2A). Some of calnexin, or at least its cytoplasmic domain, can be seen stripped off the membranes and is, therefore, detected in the soluble fractions (Fig. 2A, lanes 1 and 5 and lanes 9 and 11). It is worth noting that calnexin is a type I integral membrane protein with its COOH terminus exposed on the cytoplasmic side, and the antibody used in these experiments was raised against the cytoplasmic domain, hence, suggesting that the cytoplasmic domain of calnexin might have been cleaved off the membranes by the salt and alkali insults. Together these data suggest that the SOD1^{G93A} protein associates with mito-chondria and/or microsomes and that the *Loa* mutation weakens this association.

Organelle-associated SOD16783A Is Largely Protease- and Detergent-resistant—The organelle-associated SODI^{CEDA} and Detergent-resistant—The organelle-associated SODI^{CEDA} protein in BDG fractions isolated from SODI^{CEDA} and SODI^{CEDA} DyncIh^{1/az/+} spinal cord and brain homogenates was also tested for its protease and detergent sensitivity. Supplemental Fig. 4A shows representative data obtained by incubating the mitochondria-enriched fractions of these samples with proteinase K (PK) in

JUNE 11, 2010-VOLUME 285-NUMBER 24

the absence (lanes I and 3) or pres-ence (lanes 2 and 4) of 0.5% Triton X-100, which solubilizes the organelle membranes. Incubating the organelles present in this fraction with PK alone did not have any signif-icant effect on SOD1095A protein or organelles as indicated by the pres ence of signals from mutant SOD1 and the organelle-specific integral membrane proteins calnexin, TGN38, and Cox4 (supplemental Fig. 4A, lanes 1 and 3). However, in the presence of 0.5% Triton X-100, PK digested the organelle specific markers, but it was still unable to digest mutant SOD1 protein (supplemental Fig. 4A, lanes 2 and 4). The presence of Triton X-100 at this concentration was clearly not sufficient to completely solubilize the inner mitochondrial membrane, as some of the Cox4 protein could still be detected in the presence of the detergent (supplemental Fig. 4A, lanes 2 and 4). Moreover, the Loa mutation did not appear to have any effect on the PK sensitivity of mutant SOD1 in the presence or

Thus, we analyzed the PK diges-tion of mitochondrial SOD1^{GPA} in in two BDG fractions, 1 and 3, of spinal cord by increasing the concentration of Triton X-100 to 1% and adding SDS (1%) to the reaction. Under these conditions the inner mitochondrial membrane was com-

absence of 0.5% Triton X-100.

pletely dissolved, thereby making the intramitochondrial SOD1^{G90A} accessible to PK digestion (supplemental Fig. 4B). As a result, the intramitochondrial SOD1 GPA protein was largely but not totally digested compared with the reactions without the detergents (supplemental Fig. 4B, lanes 2, 4, 6, and 8). These data show that some PK-sensitive SOD1^{GB:A} protein is in the matrix or associated with mitochondrial membranes; however, there is still a large proportion of the mutant SOD1 pro-tein, most likely in an aggregated form, that is not degraded by PK. Moreover, we did not detect any difference between SOD1^{CID1A} and SOD1^{CID1A};Dync1h1^{LIAV/+} genotypes in these assays (D1^{GDA};DyncIh1^{Log/+} genotypes in these assays ental Fig. 4B), suggesting that the Loa mutation does not

alter the nature of mutant SOD1 protein in the mitochondria. Loa Mutation Alters SOD1^{GREA} Localization in the Mitochondria-To examine the effect of the Loa mutation on the redistribution of the mutant SOD1 protein, we focused on the mitochondria. Floated mitochondria were isolated from cerebral cortex of three SOD1^{G23A} or SOD1^{G23A};DyncIh1^{L0aV+} mice and fractionated into IMS, matrix, or membrane fractions, as described under "Experimental Procedures."

Cytoplasmic Dynein Mutation Rescues Mitochondrial Defects



As shown in Fig. 3, in SOD1^{G79A} mitochondria most of the mutant protein is in the matrix. In contrast, the mutant SOD1 is mainly in the IMS of the SOD1^{G95A};DyncIh1^{Log/+} mitochondria (Fig. 3A). Quantitative analysis of these data using COX4 as internal control revealed that the IMS of SOD1^{G95A} contained significantly less mutant protein compared with that in SOD1^{G79A},Dync1h1^{Log/+} mitochondria (p = 0.03, n = 3). The matrix and membrane fractions of SOD1^{G79A} mitochondria, however, contained higher levels of the SOD1^{G79A} protein, reaching statistical significance for the matrix (p = 0.02 and

reaching statistical significance for the matrix (p = 0.02 and 0.25, respectively, n = 3) (Fig. 3B). Mitochondrial Respiration and Membrane Potential Are Severely Impaired in SODI^{GUSA} Mice, but They Are Amelio-rated in SODI^{GUSA};Dync1h1^{Log/+} Mice_Collectively, the ratea in SUD1⁻⁻⁻⁻⁻Dyncrint⁻⁻⁻⁻⁻Miles—Collectively, the above data suggested differential association of mutant SOD1 with mitochondria from SOD1^{GPDA}, Dync Ihl^{Coll}⁺⁻⁻⁻ versus those from SOD1^{GPDA} mice. Moreover, there is growing evidence that the mitochondrial localization of mutant SOD1 may play an important role in the pathogenesis of ALS (14, 41). Therefore, given the limited amount of the protein in mitochondrial preps

18634 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

and as cytochrome c oxidase (complex IV) activity is a sensitive indicator of mitochondrial function, we assessed mitochondrial function at the cytochrome c oxidase level in mito chondrial fractions from brain cortex and spinal cord of the four possible genotypes (wild-type $Dynclhl^{+/+}$, heterozygous $Dynclhl^{Loa/+}$, hemizygous SOD1^{CS/5A}, and double mutants SOD1^{CS/5A}; $Dynclhl^{Loa/+}$). In these experiments cytochrome c oxidase activity was assayed polarographically by measuring oxygen consumption rate in the presence of ascorbate and tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine. Our data indicate that the respiratory rate of the mitochondria from 120-day (late stage) SODI^{522A} brain is substantially reduced compared with that of their wild-type littermates (gray bars in Fig. 4A).

Interestingly, mitochondrial oxygen consumption in Dync1h1^{Loar+} exceeds that of the wild type and it is improved in SOD1^{G93A};Dync1h1^{Loar+} relative to SOD1^{G93A} (gray bars in Fig. 4A). The subsequent addition of FCCP to obtain the maximal respiratory activity resulted in significant respiratory stimulations in mitochondria from the wild type, Dync1h1Loa/+, and SOD1^{G293A};Dync1h1Loa/+ but not with the SOD1^{G293A} mitochondria (black bars in Fig. 4A). Statistical analysis of these data using two-way analysis of variance followed by Bonferroni post tests revealed that the mitochondrial response to FCCP stimu-lation is not consistent for all genotypes (p = 0.012, degrees of freedom = 15) and that this stimulatory response is significant in wild type (p < 0.001), $Dync1h1^{Loar+}$ (p < 0.001), and SOD1^{G95A}; $Dync1h1^{Loar+}$ (p < 0.05) but not in SOD1^{G95A} (p >0.05)

These data indicate that in SOD1020A mitochondria cytochrome c oxidase activity is impaired and that the Loa mutation appears to partially restore this defect. This amelioration of complex IV function by the Log mutation is consistent with our confocal microscopy imaging data obtained from examining the mitochondrial membrane potential in cultured primary motor neurons using TMRM. The data from these assays are shown in Fig. 4B and reveal that, compared with motor neurons from wild-type littermates (n = 55), the mitochondrial mem-brane potential ($\Delta \Psi_m$) in SOD1^{G95A} motor neurons (n = 54) is significantly depolarized (p < 0.0001) and that this defect is ameliorated in motor neurons of SOD1^{C09A}, Dync1h1^{L00/+} mice (n = 71). In contrast, the $\Delta \Psi_m$ of Dynclh1^{Log/+} motor neurons (n = 48) was not significantly different from the $\Delta \Psi_m$

of wild type motor neurons (n = 55). Mutant SODI^{GRAA} Does Not Show Interactions with Cyto-plasmic Dynein in Immunoprecipitation (IP) Assays—The redistribution of mutant SOD1 protein, the amelioration of mitochondrial function, and the previously observed increased life span and delayed disease onset in SOD1 $^{CH0A},Dync1h1^{Loa\prime+}$ double mutant mouse strains suggested a possible interaction between components of the dynein complex and SOD1GPAA protein. We, therefore, analyzed the mutant SOD1 protein and components of the dynein complex in the spinal cord and brain homogenates from SOD1^{CH3A};DyncIh1^{L0A'+} double mutants, SOD1^{CH3A}, DyncIh1^{L0A'+}, and DyncIh1^{+/+} mice at varying stages of the disease. The interaction between dynein-dynactin and SOD1^{GB5A} was investigated by IP assays.

Co-IP analysis of the brain homogenate of an end-stage SODI^{GDDA} mouse (125 days old) revealed that the polyclonal

body was successful in co-immunoprecipitating SOD1695A from the same brain homogenate (supplemental Fig. 5A, lanes 8 and 13). A weaker signal from DIC and p150 was also found in the negative control IP, in which the brain homogenate was incubated with beads only (supplemental Fig. 5A, lane 4). How-ever, the difference in signal intensities obtained from sample and negative control IPs was big enough to suggest the pulldown may be specific, at least for the p150 (supplem Fig. 5A, lane 3).

To test this further, the IP experiment was repeated on brain homogenate prepared from another end-stage mouse using mouse monoclonal or rabbit polyclonal anti-SOD1 and mouse monoclonal anti-p150 as IP antibodies. As shown in supplemental Fig. 5*B*, *lanes* 4 and 8, only the polyclonal and not the monoclonal anti-SOD1 antibody co-immunoprecipi-tated p150, suggesting that the interaction of SOD1^{GD3A} and p150 is not direct and may be in part due to temporal entrapment of p150 protein and possibly other soluble proteins within SOD1^{C05A} aggregates. Once again, the anti-p150 antibody was not able to pull down SOD1^{C05A} (supplemental Fig. 58, lane 12).

To verify the specificity of SOD1-DIC interaction observed in supplemental Fig. 5.4, we conducted more IP experiments on brain homogenates prepared from several end-stage SOD1 GPAA mice using antibodies against DIC and SOD1. The anti-DIC antibody was only able to specifically co-IP some of the SOD1^{GDAA} protein with dynein in one mouse brain homogenate (supplemental Fig. 5C, lane 3). On the other hand, when a reciprocal IP was conducted, a mouse monoclonal anti-SOD1 antibody failed to co-IP any dynein along with SOD1 COVA from the same brain homogenate (supplemental Fig. 5C, lane 5). Lack of reproducible data for interaction between SOD1^{GPAA}

and dynein prompted us to try a series of different homogenization and binding buffers and conditions. Supplemen-tal Fig. 5D shows that none of these conditions was able to co-IP SOD1 with dynein (lanes 3-5) even when all dynein present in the sample was immunoprecipitated (*lane 9*). This lack of dynein and SOD1^{(19)A} interaction contradicts

the report by Zhang et al. (22) in which IP assays show a progressive interaction between these two proteins, which corre-lated with the disease progression in SOD1^{G90A} transgenic mice. Thus, we sought to investigate these interactions in brains and spinal cords of end-stage SOD1 GPDA mice when, brains and spinal cords of end-stage SOD1^{GPDA} mice when, according to the above report, dynein and SOD1^{GPDA} interact with high affinity (22).

We used the Zhang et al. (22) RIPA buffer for homogenization and binding reactions as well as our IP protocol that utilizes PBS^{-CarMg}, Fig. 5 shows representative data from these assays on brain and spinal cord homogenates from end-stage SODI^{G20A} mice. As shown in Fig. 5A, we successfully pulled down DHC and DIC using the 74.1 antibody against DIC in PBS as homogenization and binding buffer, but no SOD1^{GPDA} pro-tein could be detected in the pulldown assays (Fig. 5A, lanes 6-9). Likewise, the anti-SOD1 antibody did not IP DHC, DIC, or p150 (Fig. 5A, lanes 2-5). In addition, using the same RIPA buffer and IP antibody and conditions as reported by Zhang et al. (22), DHC and DIC were successfully immunoprecipitated, but we did not detect any co-IP of SODI^{G95A} protein with

FGUHE 4. Los mutation ameliorates defects in eagregen consumption rate and membrane potential of SOD1⁵⁰⁰⁶ mitochondria. A brain mitochondria were purified from homogonates in WB buffer supplemential with 1% borine senar albumin and 7 mm L-gistaine hydrochiotide monohydrata as described under "Experimential Proceedings". Oxygen consumption rates of mitochondria were measured in an oxygen electrode in the presence of accortate (JSC) and transmity-6, phanysinediamine (JMPC) group bors). Respiration was stimulated by the addition of 1 $_{\rm M}$ FCOP (block bors). As expected, the addition of FCOP significantly simulated oxygen consumption in +/+ (p < 0.001) and Dyrochin¹⁶⁴. (p < 0.001). SCO1¹⁶⁴⁰ mitochondria, on the other hand, taiked to produce any significant response to FCCP. However, SCO1¹⁶⁴⁰ mitochondria in motor neurons from SCO1¹⁶⁴⁰⁰ mitochondria, the addition of FCCP, which was statis-cally significant to < 0.05. There was analysis to variance (disponse of fracedom = 15) followed by Bontemoni post tasts ware used for statistical analysis of these data. rs, not significant rs, 0.05, rs, p < 0.001. B mitochondria in motor neurons from SCO1¹⁶⁴⁰⁰ mitochondria, Using TMFM and contocal microscopy, mitochondria membrane potential (4Vmi) wars aussured in ratio-chondria is a result of the decirachemical potential gradient that outsis between the cytosis and mitochondria, Using TMFM and contocal microscopy, microhondria membrane potentials (4Vmi) was measured in cubation dist motor neurons was 25% isower than the Δ Ymi of motor neurons wide Jpse itermation (= 0.001). Instaling that intochondria in mutor motor neurons was 25% isower than the Δ Ymi of motor neurons for mice Jpse itermation (= 0.001), instaling that intochondria framesof the mice of motor are dopolated. However, in motor neurons from SCO1¹⁶⁴⁰⁰ mice moutors are dopolated. However, the other moutors from SCO1¹⁶⁴⁰⁰ mice moutors are dopolated. However, the other moutors from the dype itermates, hol-cating that the Lore

anti-SOD1 antibody could precipitate only a small amount of the SOD1^{GD2A} protein, but considerable amounts of p150 and DIC were present in the IP sample (supplemental Fig. 5A, lane 3). On the other hand, neither anti-dynactin p150 nor anti-DIC anti-

JUNE 11, 2010-VOLUME 285-NUMBER 24

#ax_respiratory capacity >
 (nmol 0,2 /min/mg) 100 SOD1 HOS 900¹ Losi* × В P < 0.0001 P = 0,198 Relative TMRM Buorescence 120 P < 0.0001 100 80 60-40 20 SODIER SODIERALOS Losia ×

ASC + TMPD

ECCP

300

200

Г



1 2 3 4 6 6 7 6 FIGURE 5. Immunoprotopitation of the dynein-dynactin complex and mutant SOD1 from brains and spinal cords of end-stage SOD1^{6mst} mice using two different IP buffers. Homogenates of brains and spinal cords (SQ) from three end-stage transpont mice (SC-1-a) propared in PBS without Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ (A) or in RIPA buffer containing 50 mm tris-HCI (pH 74), 150 mm NaCl, 0.25% decrycholic acid, 1% Nonloist P-40, 1 mm EDTA (B) were incu-baded with anti-DC, anti-SOO1 antibody, or with IgG as a negative control, and the IP procedure was conducted as described by Zhang ef al. (22). The IP products along with 2% of the input were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and West-ern biotting.

dynein (Fig. 5*B*, *lanes* 3 and 4). The anti-SOD1 antibody did not IP DHC, DIC, or p150 in this buffer either (Fig. 5*B*, *lanes* 1 and 2). It is noteworthy that the DIC74.1 antibody is currently the most efficient antibody available for IP of the dynein complex, but as its epitope is in the p150 binding domain of DIC, it appears to disrupt dynein-p150 interactions (44-46), and hence, as shown in Fig. 5, this antibody does not efficiently pull down p150.

To ensure that the above lack of interaction between dynein and SOD1 GRAA in our IP experiments is not due to the dissociation of DIC from the dynein complex and to ascertain the oligomerization of mutant SOD1, we analyzed SOD1^{(293A} and SOD1^{(293A},Dync.Ih1^{Log+} brain and spinal cord homogenates prepared in PBS or RIPA buffer in non-denaturing and nonreducing gradient PAGE (4-15%) (supplemental Fig. 6). As shown in the left panel of supplemental Fig. 6, DIC in these samples is part of large molecular weight complexes indicating that the DHC-DIC interactions are intact in these samples. Moreover, SOD1^{G93A} shows stretched ladders/smears that are consistent with its tendency to form oligomers and aggregates

18636 JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

(supplemental Fig. 6, right panel). These data clearly show that the methods used to prepare the samples for IP did not affect the complexity of dynein or the heterogeneity of the mutant SOD1 protein.

We also tested the likelihood of interactions between dynein and SOD1^{CEDAA} in the spinal cord of symptomatic (hind limbs paralyzed) against asymptomatic (no apparent muscle wasting or paralyzed) against asymptomatic (no apparent muscle wasting or paralysis in the hind limbs) SOD1^{G95A} and non-transgenic mice aged 131, 118, and 100 days, respectively. Supplemental Fig. 7 shows representative examples of the data using anti-DIC antibody to pull down the dynein complex from the spinal cord homogenates in RIPA buffer. The anti-DIC antibody efficiently pulled down the dynein complex represented by DIC and DHC in all samples, but no SOD1^{(203A} was pulled down, as shown in ntal Fig. 7, lanes 2, 5, and 8.

Cross-linking Buffer Causes Disruption of Dynein Complex and Nonpecific Pulldown of Spinal Cord SODI^{CORTA} Protein— Cross-linking and immunoprecipitation of proteins in cell lysates from SOD1^{A4V}-expressing NSC34 motor neuron-like cells has been reported to co-IP DHC with the SOD1^{A4V}-con-taining high molecular weight complexes (22), suggesting a possible transient/weak interaction between mutant SOD1 and dynein that could be stabilized by cross-linking. To test this possibility we cross-linked spinal cord proteins using BS³ followed by IP with the DIC74.1 antibody and immunoblotting to detect DHC, DIC, and SOD1^{G95A} (supplemental Fig. 8A). Immunoprecipitation was also carried out on spinal cord

homogenates prepared for cross-linking but lacking the cross-linker BS³, i.e. the cross-linking conditions were met but without including the cross-linker itself. We found that cross-linking had two effects on the IP of the dynein complex. First, the IP of DIC was less efficient from the cross-linked versus the uncross-linked samples (supplemental Fig. 8A, DIC bands in lanes 2 versus 3; and 5 versus 6). Second, in the cross-linked samples, DHC was not co-immunoprecipitated by anti-DIC antibody (supplemental Fig. 8.4, *lanes 3* and 6). Moreover, SOD1^{C223A} was non-specifically precipitated whether the samples were cross-linked or not, suggesting that the SOD1^{C253A} precipitation was solely due to the presence of the cross-linking buffer (supplemental Fig. 8A, lanes 5-7). This nonspecific pulldown of SOD1^{GP3A} seems to be intrin-

sic to the mutant human SOD1 as mouse SOD1 protein was not found in the pulldown of the cross-linked homogenates from non-transgenic mice (supplemental Fig. 8A, lares 2 and 3). These data indicate that BS³ cross-linking disrupts DHC-DIC interactions and that the cross-linking buffer used in this assay promotes nonspecific pulldown of SOD1^{G99A}. Furthermore, the dissociation of the DHC-DIC complex by cross-linking was independent of the presence of the mutant SOD1 as it also occurred in the samples prepared from non-transgenic mice.

In the above experiments we followed the procedure recommended by Zhang et al. (22) in which after incubation of the homogenates with the antibodies for 3 h to overnight, the beads were washed 3 times with the IP buffer. To further test the specificity of the SOD1^{CRDA} that was co- immunoprecipitated with dynein in the cross-linking buffer (supplemental Fig. 8A). we repeated the above experiments in duplicate; spinal cord homogenates from 100 day old transgenic mice were prepared



in cross-linking buffer lacking BS3. In one set of the IP samples In cross-inking putter lacking as . In one set of the IP samples the beads were washed three times, as recommended by Zhang et al. (22), and in the other set they were washed four times instead of three. Supplemental Fig. 8B shows that the non-spe-cifically pulled down SOD1^{(27)A} in *lanes* 2 and 3 was completely removed simply by introducing a fourth wash as shown in lanes 5 and 6. These data confirm that IP assays do not detect specific interactions between SOD1^{(20)A} and dynein.

Human Wild-type and Different Mutant SOD1-GST Fusion Proteins Do Not Pull Down Dynein in Vitro--We expressed GST-tagged human wild-type SOD1, SOD1^{A4V}, SOD1^{GSTR}, SOD1^{GSSR}, and SOD1^{GSSA} in bacteria for *in vitro* pulldown experiments. After purification, the GST or the GST-SOD1 proteins captured on glutathione-agarose beads were incubated with brain homogenate prepared from a non-transgenic mouse. After washing four times with homogenization buffer, the pulled-down proteins on beads were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting, detecting for SOD1 and DIC. In these pulldown experiments neither the wild-type SOD1 (see emental Fig. 9, lane 5) nor any of the mutant SOD1 prosupp teins (lanes 6-9) was able to pull down dynein.

The Loa Mutation Does Not Induce Novel Interaction between Dynein and SODI^{GNUM}—To investigate whether the Loa mutation promotes any interaction between dynein and SOD1, we tested brain and spinal cord homogenates prepared from SOD1^{GBSA}, SOD1^{GBSA};Dync1h1^{Log/+}, Dync1h1^{Log/+}, and Dync1h1^{+/+} littermates at a late stage (120 days) of the disease using the IP protocol described by Zhang et al. (22). Fig. 6 shows a representative of our IP assays using DIC74.1 anti-body for IP of the dynein complex and its associated proteins. As shown in Figs. 6, A and B, lanes 2, 5, 8, and 11), although DIC is successfully pulled down, neither the endog-enous mouse SOD1 nor the transgenic mutant SOD1^{GD5A} co-IP with DIC. Interestingly, we also noted that in some cases SOD1^{6293A} protein is pulled down non-specifically in the negative controls containing anti-hemagglutinin antibody only from spinal cord (see *lane* 9 in Fig. 6A) and to some extent from brain homogenates of the SOD1^{G83A} but not SOD1^{G83A}; *Dync Ih*1^{L0a/+} mice.

As our earlier data had shown that the Loa mutation in SODI^{0393A};DyncIhI^{Loa/+} mice rescued the retrograde axonal transport defect observed in embryonic SODI^{0393A} motor neurons in culture (17), we examined the possibility of a likely interaction between SOD1 and dynein during embryonic development. We tested this possibility at embryonic stage E16.5 in IP assays using brain tissues and an antibody against human SOD1 to pull down the mutant SOD1 and any associated compo of the dynein-dynactin complex (supplemental Fig. 10). The anti-SOD1 antibody efficiently pulled down SOD1^{GDAA} protein from the samples, but DHC, DIC, and p150 were not co-immu-noprecipitated with SOD1^{GDSA} (see supplemental Fig. 10, *lanes* 12 and 16). Although a faint signal of DHC was observed in IP from the non-transgenic Dync1h1Loa/+ and from SOD1^{G23A} homogenates (supplemental Fig. 10, lanes 4 and 12), these were regarded as nonspecific as a similar signal for DHC was also found in the IP from the negative control IP in which the IP antibody was not included (data not shown). Collectively these data indicate that there is no IP-detectable interaction

JUNE 11, 2010-VOLUME 285-NUMBER 24



1 P D 4 6 6 7 0 9 10 11 14 4P FGURE 6. Dynain Loo mutation does not induce novel interaction between dynamic and SOD¹⁰⁴⁸⁵. Sprint costs (A) and therains (8) of 100-day-old mice representing the four different genotypes produced by crossing SOD¹⁰⁴⁹⁵ with Loo/+ mice were homogenized in HPA buffer then subjected to P as described (22) using anti-DIC antibody or arith-homogenized in body as the negative control. The P products along with 1% or 0.2% of the liput (10) from non-transgenic and transgenic homogenizes, respectively, were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting.

between SOD1^{G93A} and dynein in brain homogenates prepared from E16.5 embryos of the *Dync1h1^{L0g/+}* x SOD1^{G93A} mouse CTO55

DISCUSSION

Data from studies on conditional transgenic mice with cellspecific expression of mutant SOD1 suggest that motor neuron death in ALS is non-cell autonomous. These studies have shown that the deleterious effects of mutant SOD1 within motor neurons determines disease onset, but it is the expression of mutant SOD1 in astrocytes and microglia that accelerates later disease progression independent of the disease onset (47-50). Therefore, because the Log mutation delays disease onset without changing disease progression, it is possible that the amelioration of the disease induced by the Loa mutation occurs at the level of the motor neuron, suggesting that there may be a functional interaction between mutant SOD1 695A and the Log mutation within motor neurons.

Moreover, Perlson et al. (51) have recently shown that the retrograde trafficking of trophic factors is defective in both Dync1h1^{Loa/+} and SOD1^{G95A} mice, but a significant shift from survival retrograde signaling to stress/death signaling is possi-bly responsible for the rapid demise of the motor neurons in SODI^{G20A} mice.

The recent proposition (35) that the amelioration of the dis-ease in SOD1^{CID3A}-;Dync1h1^{L00/+} mice might be a result of reduced excitotoxicity brought about by the loss of sensory neurons in DyncIh1^{Log/+} is unlikely to be the sole explanation, as DyncIh1^{Sud/+}, DyncIh1^{CnL/+}, and DyncIh1^{Ard/+} mice also show similar or greater sensory neuronal loss but do not ame-liorate the SOD1^{GPDA} disease phenotype.

The shift in the sedimentation of the dynein complex to the lighter fractions (Fig. 1A) in sucrose gradient density is only in the presence of the Loa mutant dynein. We have also observed this in newborn mice from the Log colony and have examined and confirmed this difference in detail. A manuscript describing these data and the role of the Log mutation in the assembly of the dynein complex is in preparation.

There is mounting evidence that mutant SOD1 protein associates with mitochondria, leading to mitochondrial dysfunction in familial ALS and its rodent transgenic models of familial ALS (Ref. 38; for review, see Manfredi and co-workers (52)). Moreover, it has been shown that mitochondrial respiration is generally impaired in SOD1^{G93A} mice (53, 54), and increased levels of mutant SOD1 in mitochondria of transgenic mice appear to adversely affect disease progression (55). In addition, Mattiazzi et al. (56) found deficits in complex I, II, III, and IV activities in spinal cord mitochon-dria from symptomatic SOD1^{GR3A} mice, and Kirkinezos *et* al. (57) observed losses in complex IV activity within the brain and spinal cord of paralyzed SOD1^{G95A} mice. However, the mechanism by which mitochondrial dysfunction plays a role in the death of motor neurons in SOD1 transgenic mice is not yet fully understood.

It is, therefore, intriguing that, as shown here, decreased lev-els of mutant SOD1 in the mitochondrial matrix and membranes (Fig. 3) plus a reduction in the association of total mutant SOD1 protein with SOD1^{GP3A}, Dync1h1^{Log/+} mito-chondria, compared with those of SOD1^{GP3A} mice (Fig. 1, B and C), correlates with amelioration of the defects in mitochondrial respiration and membrane potential in these mice. Therefore, the amelioration of disease in SOD1 (395A mice by the Log mutation could be due to some as yet unknown gain-of-function by mutant cytoplasmic dynein, which is manifested by better equipped mitochondria and possibly ER to resist the toxic effects of mutant SOD1 protein in motor neurons.

Mitochondria are one of many transported cargos whose dis tribution in the cell body and axons is regulated by retrograde and anterograde motors. Recently, it has been reported that the anterde mitochondrial transport is defective in motor neurons of SÕD168 5A mice (20). This defect has been shown to elicit an imbalance in the anterograde and retrograde transport of the mitochondria along motor axons, giving rise to more sparse mitochondrial populations in the axons. Thus, an explanation for the rescue of the SODI CRIA phenotype by Loa could be the partial restoration of the balance in retrograde and anterograde axonal transport by slowing the retrograde transport of the mitochondria.

The data in the present study together with those from other groups show that mutant SOD1 not only accumulates within the mitochondrial matrix and the intermembrane space but also associates with mitochondrial outer membrane (38). As a result, mutant SOD1 could change mitochondrial structure and membrane composition and render the interaction of the molecular motors with their docking site on the mitochondrial membrane less efficient. By reducing the amount of mutant SOD1 in the mitochondria, as we have shown here, the Log mutation could improve the docking of the molecular motors to the mitochondria, and this could subsequently restore their trafficking.

18638 JOURNAL OF RIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY

However, in our earlier studies, using a fluorescently labeled fragment of the tetanus toxin, we have shown that in cultured embryonic motor neurons retrograde transport is also impaired in the SOD1 CR95A motor neurons (17). But in the presence of heterozygous Loa mutation the speed of retrograde axonal transport in SOD1^{G99A} motor neurons improved dramatically (17). Analyses of the mitochondrial transport in motor neurons of SOD1^{(293A};Dync1h1^{Log/+} and SOD1^{(293A} are, therefore, required to shed further light on the possible restoration of the balance between the anterograde and retrograde transports in these mice.

Varadi et al. (60) show that the disruption of dynein function results in the dissociation of dynamin-related protein (Drp1) from the mitochondrial outer membrane, causing significant morphological changes to the mitochondria and the excessive accumulation of the mitochondria in the perinuclear region of the cells. Drp1 is involved in mitochondrial fission, and it has been shown to interact with dynein-dynactin, suggesting that the delivery of Drp1 to the mitochondrial membrane could be ediated by dynein (58, 59, 60). Our data and the evidence from the Varadi et al. study (60) could, therefore, provide a plausible explanation for the improvement in disease phenotype induced in SOD1^{G95A} mice by the Log mutation.

The data presented in this paper clearly indicate that, contrary to the conclusion of Zhang et al. (22), the interaction between mutant SOD1 (200A and dynein is not direct or at least is not detectable by immunoprecipitation.

According to Zhang et al. (22), there are direct interactions etween cytoplasmic dynein and mutant SOD1, but not wildь type SOD1, and that these interactions increase with disease progression. However, analyzing brain and spinal cord tissue mogenates isolated from animals at different stages of the disease and using a range of IP antibodies, buffers, and protocols, including those described by Zhang et al. (22), we did not detect any evidence that could conclusively indicate direct interactions between SOD1^{(203A} protein and cytoplas-mic dynein in SOD1^{(203A} or SOD1^{(203A};Dync1h1^{Log/+} mice. This is despite ensuring that the dynein complex is intact in our experiments, as tested in native gel and sucrose density gradient sedimentation assays. In fact when we used the cross-linking method used by Zhang et al. (22) to show the interaction between dynein and SOD1^{A4V}, the cross-linking buffer dissociated dynein heavy chain from the intermediate chain, and more importantly, the cross-linking buffer in the absence of dynein or SOD1 antibody mediated nonspecific pulldown of SOD1695A protein.

In conclusion, our data suggest that mutant dynein in SOD1^{GP3A};Dync1h1^{Log/+} mice protects motor neurons and delays disease onset at least in part by conferring subtle morphological and structural modifications to the mitochondria, render-ing them less prone to association with toxic SOD1^{(203A} and consequently resulting in a significant improvement in mitochondrial respiration and the overall function of this vital organelle. Future studies aimed at understanding the underlying molecular mechanisms of the mutant-dynein-mediated protection of the mitochondria from toxic SOD1095A protein and restoration of mitochondrial function in SOD1^{C295A};Dync1h1^{L082/+} will be invaluable

117

in elucidating the molecular pathology of ALS, which in turn may highlight novel therapeutic pathways.

Acknowledgments — We thank Dr. Kevin Pfister (Dept. of Cell Biology, School of Medicine, University of Virginia) for providing the anti-DIC antibody and the detailed protocol for immunoprecipitating the dynein complex. We also thank Dr. Haining Zhu (Dept. of Molecular and Celludar Biochemistry, University of Kentucky) for providing the detailed protocol for co-immunoprecipitating dynein-SOD1.

REFERENCES

- Rowland, L. P., and Shneider, N. A. (2001) N. Engl J. Med. 344, 1688–1700
 Brown, R. H., Jr. (1995) Carr. Opin. Neurobiol. 5, 841–846
 Bruijn, L. L., Möller, T. M., and Cleveland, D. W. (2004) Annu. Rev. Neuro-terior context of the second secon
- Bruijn, L. I., Willer, T. M., and Clavetand, U. W. (2009) Annu. Ann. resurre-sci 27, 723–740
 Cloveland, D. W., and Rothstein, J. D. (2001) Nat. Rev. Neurosci 2, 806–819
 Shuw, P. J. (1999) BM/ 318, 1118–1121
 Orang, H. X., Hentati, A. Tainer, J. A., Ighal, Z., Gapabyah, A., Hung, W. Y., Getzoff, E. D., Hu, P., Herzfeldt, B., and Rocs, R. P. (1993) Science 261,
- 1047-1051 7
- Pow-root Rosen, D. R., Siddique, T., Patterson, D., Figlewicz, D. A., Sapp, P., Hentati, A., Donaldaon, D., Goto, J., O'Rugan, J. P., and Deng, H. X. (1993) Nature 362, 59-62
- 8. Pasinelli, P., and Brown, R. H. (2006) Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 710-723
- Shihata, N. (2001) *Neuropathology* 21, 82 92
 Shihata, N. (2001) *Neuropathology* 21, 82 92
 Turner, B. J., and Talbot, K. (2008) *Prog. Neurobiol.* 85, 94–134
 Shaw, B. F., and Valentine, J. S. (2007) *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 32, 78–85
- Banko, G. T., Kuta, A., Isasca, A. M., and Fasher, E. M. (2008) Materia. Genome 19, 299–305
 Wang, J., Carano-Yanzman, A., Rodriguez, A., Schsurmann, J. P., Slant, H. H., Cao, X., Gitlin, J., Hart, P. J., and Borchelt, D. R. (2007). Biol Chem.
- 282.345-352
- Marka, 200–332
 Marka, G., and Xu, Z. (2005) Mitochondrive 5, 77–87
 Benzer, A. C., Lynn, M. P., Atkinson, M. B., Chou, S. M., Wilhourn, A. J., Marka, K. E., Culver, J. E., and Fleogler, F. J. (1987) Neurology 37, 738–768
 Jablonka, S., Wixor, S., and Sendiner, M. (2006) J. Neurobiol 58, 272–286
- Kieran, D., Hafarparast, M., Bohnet, S., Dick, J. R., Martin, J., Schiwaro, G., Fuher, E. M., and Greensmith, L. (2005) *J. Cell Biol.* 169, 561–567
 Rao, M. V., and Nizon, R. A. (2003) *Neurochem. Res.* 28, 1041–1047
- Williamson, T. L., and Cleveland, D. W. (1999) Nat. Neurosci. 2, 50-56 19.
- D. Be Vox, K. J., Chapman, A. L., Tennin, D. w. (1997) Vac tradecised and a second second
- Ligon, L. A., LaMonte, B. H., Wallacz, K. E., Weber, N., Kalb, R. G., and Holzbaur, E. L. (2005) Neuropport 16, 533–536
 Zhang, F., Ström, A. L., Fukada, K., Lee, S., Hayward, L. J., and Zhu, H.
- (2007) J. Biol Chem. 282, 16691-16699
- [2307] J. Inst. Chem. 282, 16691–16699
 Ström, A. L., Shi, P., Zhang, F., Gal, J., Kihy, R., Hayward, L. J., and Zhu, H. (2008) J. Biol Chem. 283, 22795–22805
 [24] King, S. M. (2000) Biochim: Risophys. Acta 1496, 60–75
 [25] Pitter, K. K., Shah, P. R., Hummreich, H., Ruso, A., Cotton, J., Annuar, A. A., King, S. M., and Fisher, F. M. (2006) PLoS Genet 2, e1
 [26] V. J., B. (2007) Girl, M. J. (2005) PLoS Genet 2, e1
- Vale, R. D. (2003) Cdl 112, 467–480 Valles, R. B. (2003) Cdl 112, 467–480 Valles, R. R., Williama, J. C., Varma, D., and Barnhart, L. E. (2004) J. Nearobiol. 58, 189–200 26

- robid 58, 189–200
 Yano, H. Luce, F. S. Kong, H. Chuang, J., Arevalo, J., Perez, P., Sang, C., and Chao, M. V. (2001) J. Neurosci 21, EC125
 Pitter, K. K., Fishter, E. M., Gibbons, I. B., Hayn, T. S., Holzhaur, E. L., McIntosh, I. R., Perier, M. E., Schruer, T. A., Yaughan, K. T., Witman, G. B., King, S. M., and Vallee, P. B. (2005) J. Cell Rist 171, 411–413
 Schruer, T. A. (2004) Annu. Rev. Cell Dos. Biol 20, 759–7719
 Hafergarast, M., Klocke, R., Buhrberg, C., Marquarel, A., Ahmad-Annuar, A., Bowen, S., Lall, G., Witherlen, A. S., Hurmmerich, H., Nichokon, S., Morean, P. L. Orezaere, P. Priothy, U. V. Averil, S. Kinskano, S., Morean, P. L. Orezaere, P. Priothy, U. V. Averil, S. Kinskano, S., Morean, P. L. Orezaere, P. Priothy, U. V. Averil, S. Kinskano, S., Morean, P. L. Orezaere, P. Priothy, U. V. Averil, S. Kins, V. B. Ball, S.,
 Ottaman, S. K., Jahrand, D. L., and van der Blick, A. M. (2001) Med. Ried Cell 21, 2245–2256
 Ottaman, S. K., Jahrand, D. L., and van der Blick, A. M. (2001)
 Mc. Biol. Coll, S. (2002), J. Call Davath Childre, Y., Con, Y. Allen, V. L. and

JUNE 11, 2010-VOLUME 285-NUMBER 24

- D., Wattler, S., Wabnitz, P., Dickneitz, C., Lampel, S., Bochme, F., Peraus, G., Popp, A., Rudelius, M., Schlepel, J., Fuchs, H., Hrabe de Angelis, M., Schiavo, G., Shima, D. T., Russ, A. P., Stumm, G., Martin, J. E., and Fisher, E. M. (2003) Science 300, 808-812 32. Hafe
- 33
- Faber, E. M. (201) Neurosci. Lett. 306, 89–92
 Chen, X. J., Levedakou, E. N., Millen, K. J., Wollmann, R. L., Soliven, B., and Popko, B. (2007) J. Neurosci. 27, 14515–14524
- Iliva, H. S., Yamanaka, K., Malkmua, S., Kakinohana, O., Yakoh, T., Mar-naha, M., and Cleveland, D. W. (2008) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 12599–12604
- Tenchert, M., Fischer, D., Schwalenstoerker, B., Habisch, H. J., Böckers, T. M., and Ludelph, A. C. (2006) Exp. Neurol. 198, 271–274
 Gurney, M. E., Pu, H., Chiu, A. Y., Dal Canto, M. C., Polchow, C. Y.,
- Gunney, in: L. & G. H., Chin, L. Hentzi, A., Kwon, Y. W., and Deng, H. X. (1994) Science 264, 1772–1775
 Vande Velde, C., Miller, T. M., Cashman, N. R., and Cleveland, D. W. (2008) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. LLSA. 105, 4022–4027

- (2000) Free Failt Acad. Sci. L.J.A. 100, 4022–4027 30, Pallotti, F., and Larza, G. (2007) Methods Call Biol. 80, 3–44. 40. Arco, V. Garcos, A., de Bovis, B., Hilppi, P., Hendenson, C., Pettmann, B., and delapoprière, O. (1999) J. Mearouxi Res. 55, 119–126 41. Bibland, L. G., Nirralamathar, N., Yip, J., Greenamith, L., and Duchen,
- M. R. (2008) J. Nauvolenn. 107, 1271–1283
 Stevens, J. C., Chin, R., Hendriks, W. T., Brus-Facer, V., van Minnen, J., Mastin, J. E., Jackson, G. S., Grossamith, L., Schiavo, G., and Fisher, E. M. C. (2010) *PLoS ONE 5, eDSA*1
- 43. Guan, K. L., and Dixon, J. E. (1991) Anal Riochem. 192, 262-267
- King, S. H., Barbaros, F., Dilliman, J. F. Sel, Patel-King, S. C. Carson, J. H., and Pfater, K. K. (1996) J. Biol. Chem. 271, 19358–19366
 Brill, I. B., 2nd, and Pfister, K. K. (2000) Methods 22, 307–316
- Pfinter, K. K., Benashski, S. E., Dilman, J. F., 3rd, Patel-King, R. S., and King, S. M. (1998) Cell Motil Cytosoleton 41, 154–167
 Rollier, S., Yamaraka, K., Lohniger, C. S., Copchand, N. G., Jenkira, N. A., Kassiotis, G., Kollias, G., and Cleveland, D. W. (2006) Science 312, 1389–1392
- K. Clement, A. M., Nguyen, M. D., Roberts, E. A., Garcia, M. L., Boiller, S., Rule, M., McMahon, A. P., Doucette, W., Siwek, D., Ferrante, R. J., Brown, R. H., Jr, Jolien, J. P., Goldstein, I. S., and Cleveland, D. W. (2003) Science 302, 113–117
- 49. Yamanaka, K., Boilloe, S., Roberts, F. A., Garcia, M. L., McAlonis-Do Hamanak, V., Chevland, D. W., and Gioldstin, L. S. (2008) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 7594–7599
 Yamanaka, K., Chun, S. J., Belloc, S., Fujimori-Toncas, N., Yamashita, H., Gutmann, D. H., Takahashi, R., Maswa, H., and Cleveland, D. W. (2008)
- Nat. Neurosci 11, 251-253
- Perlion, E., Jenny, G. B., Dina, J. L., Dinit, R., Wallace, K. E., Kalb, R. G., and Holzhaue, E. L. (2009) *J. Neurosci.* 29, 9903–9917
 Hervian, I., Beal, M. F., and Manfredi, G. (2006) *Muscle Nerve* 33, 598–608
- Tierran, I., Ioni, M. T., and Wantenn, G. (2006) minimize verses 35, 208–2000.
 Browne, S. E., Bowling, A. C., Baik, M. J., Gurney, M., Brown, R. H., Ir., and Beal, M. F. (1998) *J. Neurochem.* 71, 281–287
 Mastin, I. J., Lin, Z., Chen, K., Price, A. C., Pan, Y., Swaby, J. A., and Golden, W. C. (2007) *J. Comp. Neurol.* 500, 20–46
 Deng, H. X., Shi, Y., Furukawa, Y., Zhai, H., Fu, R., Liu, E., Gorrie, G. H., Vernakawa, Y., Zhao, Y., Zhai, H., Fu, R., Liu, E., Gorrie, G. H.,
- Khan, M. S., Huang, W. Y., Bigin, E. H., Lukas, T., Dul Canto, M. C., O'Halloran, T. V., and Siddique, T. (2006) Proc. Natl Acad Sci U.S.A 103, 7142–7147

- Morgan, P. J., Ouzageer, R., Prinstley, J. V., Averill, S., King, V. R., Ball, S., Peters, J., Toda, T., Yamamoto, A., Hiraoka, Y., Augustin, M., Korthaua, Peters, J., Toda, T., Yamamoto, A., Hiraoka, Y., Augustin, M., Korthaua,

Cellular/Molecular

Behavioral and Other Phenotypes in a Cytoplasmic Dynein Light Intermediate Chain 1 Mutant Mouse

Gareth T. Banks,1* Matilda A. Haas,5* Samantha Line,6 Hazel L. Shepherd,6 Mona AlQatari,7 Sammy Stewart,7 Ida Rishal,⁸ Amelia Philpott,⁹ Bernadett Kalmar,² Anna Kuta,¹ Michael Groves,³ Nicholas Parkinson, Abraham Acevedo-Arozena,¹⁰ Sebastian Brandner,³⁴ David Bannerman,⁶ Linda Greensmith,²⁴ Majid Hafezparast,⁹ Martin Koltzenburg,2,4,7 Robert Deacon,6 Mike Fainzilber,8 and Elizabeth M. C. Fisher1,4 Department of Neurodegenerative Disease, 25obell Department of Motor Science and Movement Disorders, 2Division of Neuropathology, and 4Medical Research Council (MRC) Centre for Neuromuscular Diseases, University College London (UCL) Institute of Neurology, London WCIN 3BG, United Kingdom, "MRC National Institute for Medical Research, London NW7 IAA, United Kingdom, "Department of Experimental Psychology, University of Oxford, Oxford OXI 3UD, United Kingdom, "UCL Institute of Child Health, London WCIN IEH, United Kingdom, "Department of Biological Chemistry, Weizmann Institute of Science, 76100 Rehovot, Israel, 75chool of Life Sciences, University of Sussex, Brighton BN1 9QG, United Kingdom, and 10MRC Mammalian Genetics Unit, Harwell OX11 ORD, United Kingdom

The cytoplasmic dynein complex is fundamentally important to all eukaryotic cells for transporting a variety of essential cargoes along microtubules within the cell. This complex also plays more specialized roles in neurons. The complex consists of 11 types of protein that interact with each other and with external adaptors, regulators and cargoes. Despite the importance of the cytoplasmic dynein complex, we know comparatively little of the roles of each component protein, and in mammals few mutants exist that allow us to explore the effects of defects in dynein-controlled processes in the context of the whole organism. Here we have taken a genotype-driven approach in mo (Mus musculus) to analyze the role of one subunit, the dynein light intermediate chain 1 (Dync1li1). We find that, surprisingly, an N235Y point mutation in this protein results in altered neuronal development, as shown from in vivo studies in the developing cortex, and analyses of electrophysiological function. Moreover, mutant mice display increased anxiety, thus linking dynein functions to a behavioral phenotype in mammals for the first time. These results demonstrate the important role that dynein-controlled processes play in the correct development and function of the mammalian nervous system.

Introduction

In mammals cytoplasmic dynein 1 is a large complex of proteins whose constituent members are defined by their molecular weights: the heavy chain (encoded by a single gene Dync1h1); the Intermediate chains (Dync1i1, Dync1i2); the light-intermediate Interimetative chains (DyncH2), by http://tic.j. the infini-interimetative chains (DyncH2), by http://tic.hains (DynH1, DynH2, DynH21, DynH2, DynH1, DynH2) (Pfister et al., 2005, 2005; Hook and Vallee, 2006; Levy and Holzbaur, 2006). The stoichiometry of the intact complex is not known exactly, but at its core lies a homodimer of heavy chains, which binds to microtubules en-abling cytoplasmic dynein to move in an ATP-dependent man-

Review Gol. 4, 2010; website Jan. 18, 2011; accepted Jan. 25, 2011. This work was funded by the Webcowe Tent, UE Model al Instanch Gound and Batterbackupy and Stalingford Science Research Gound, the WBOXTER Research and Instaling Metwork funded by the Campona Datas, the Using Research Test, Jane Vielen Foundation and Goupy-Instanding opposine inconsengeneering Research Batter for Research on a Schöspitternia and Specification Science Research and and Research Batter Instance and Hand Bay Yaong Iar graphits. The Dyn: 301 ¹⁰¹² moure line In Instance for Language Batter Meter Andress. ¹⁰⁴ CLE and MARI, contribution quarkly. The ¹⁰⁴ CLE and MARI, contribution quarkly. ¹⁰⁴ De authors of tests or scoreption Research Instance Interdistored.

The other decises as comparing franchistorent. The other decises as comparing franchistorent. The first in brown works of the trough the Tolework Open Coder option. Comparations related to a deformation Elastecht M.C. Robert, Department of Homosologuestative Decase, Mill Control for Beammachist Decase, UCL Institut of Henridgy, Landow WC18 305, UKL - ends c. ShareP prime ad a sub-

DOI:10.1525/INEUROSCI.5244-10.2011 Copyright @ 2011 the authors 0029-6474/11/515485-12515.00/0

ner (Gennerich et al., 2007). The other subunits are thought to maintain the stability of the complex, to modulate its activity, and to interact with accessory and cargo proteins. However, while it has been established that the individual dynein subunits can have complex cell-specific splicing patterns (Pfister et al., 1996a,b; Salata et al., 2001; Ha et al., 2008; Kuta et al., 2010), we know comparatively little regarding the specific functions of the separate subunits

One way to study dynein function is to investigate individual genes/protein mutations, however, in mammals the only DYNC1 (cytoplasmic dynein) mutations so far described are four alleles of mouse Dync1h1, one of which is a knock-out (Harada et al., 1998; Hafezparast et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2007). The point mutants (all detected in phenotype-driven screens) give highly informative phenotypes compared with those seen in knock-out animals and have uncovered roles that are not detected in null animals (Harada et al., 1998; Hafezparast et al., 2003; Kieran et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2007; Banks and Fisher, 2008; Ilieva et al., 2008; Dupuis et al., 2009).

To further investigate the role of individual dynein subunits, we have used a genetic technique, random chemical mutagenesis, and then taken a genotype-driven approach using a mouse with a point mutation in the dynein light intermediate chain 1, DYNCILL1. We chose this subunit because it binds important cargos including pericentrin (Tynan et al., 2000) and Na[‡] chan-

5484 - 1. Neurosci., April 6, 2011 - 31(14)-5483--5494

nels (Zheng et al., 2008), and in Aspergillus DYNC1L11 stabilizes the interaction of heavy and intermediate chains (Zhang et al., 2009). Thus It is likely that dynein light intermediate cha ins play critical roles within the cell and therefore in the organism as a whole. However, at the time of writing no mammalian model of light intermediate chain dysfunction has been published.

We identified and characterized a mouse carrying a point mutation in Dyncilii. We find mutant mice have increased anxiety-like behavior, changes in cortical and peripheral neuro-nal outgrowth and branching, hypotrophy of sensory neurons and electrophysiological defects and at the cellular level defects in Golgt reassembly and endosome sorting and trafficking. Thus this genotype-driven approach, characterizing a mouse with a relatively subtle point mutation, has revealed a range of unsus-pected essential functions dependent on the cytoplasmic dynein omplex.

Materials and Methods

Animal studies Wherever possible, all methods were undertaken blind to mouse geno type, which was decoded after the results were collected. The animal studies were performed under guidance issued by the UK Medical Re-search Council in Responsibility in the Use of Animals for Medical Research (1993) and under license from the UK Home Office.

Heteroduplex screening the MRC Mammalian Genetics Unit ENU

DNA archive The Dyncibi^{verser} mutation arose in an ENU mutagenesis experiment at the MRC Mammalian Genetics Unit, MRC Harwell, UK (Nolan et al. 2000). Briefly, BALB/CANN male mice are treated with ENU which resuits in random point mutations in the sperm of these animals. These males are crossed with C3H/HeH females to produce Fi(C3H/HeH × BALB/cAn/) progeny carrying heterorzygons random point mutations. Genomic DNAs are archived from Fi(C3H/HeH × BALB/cAn/N) males for subsequent screening: sperm samples are archived in parallel for re-derivation of mouse lines. Genomic DNAs from archive were analyzed by betrotopics analysis following the protocols outlined in (Quwalid et al., 2004). Picase see supplemental material (available at www.jneurosci. org) for primer sequences and complete methodology.

Rederivation and genotyping of Dync Ili1 ^{N2557} mouse strain Frozen sperm from the Dync Ili1^{k2157} mutant F1 male mouse w

mutant F1 male mouse was used for in viero fertilization (IVF) with C57BL/6J females: we used 50 two-cell for its view for the time of the set of the

mple: one PCR amplified the wild-type Dynci bit allele only (DLICI WT ward: ATCTCTGGCCGCCAAGGTCG: DLICI WT revense: AG-CACTGGTAGGCOCAGATT) generating a fragment of 427 bp. The sec-ond PCR amplified the Dyncibi^{Penny} allele only (DLICIN235Y forward: TTACCACTGAGCCATCTCTG; DLICIN235Y revense: AGCACTGG-TAGGCCCAGGTA) generating a fragment of 440 bp. Both reaction-talso contained primers to amplify an unrelated DNA fragment of 590 bp from Dync1/2 (control forward: GTTGACAGGATTTAATTGGCC: con-Intel reverse TGTGACAATGGCAACGGTCAG). PCIBs were performed for 35 cycles, annealing temperature 66°C, using MegaMix Gold (Micro-zone) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Products were visualled on a 2% agrosse gel. If the control fragment was absent, the reaction was "failed." If the control fragment was present samples in which the wild-type Dynclili allele and not the Dynclili^{Namy} allele am-plified were groupped as Dynclili^{17/1}; those with the Dynclili^{Namy} allele and not the wild-type allele were scored as Dynclili^{Namy} and

Banks et al. • Denein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse

samples in which both the wild-type allele and the Dync1/11^{ACENDV} allele amplified were genotyped as Dync1/11^{ACENDV+}.

Behavioral tests

Please see supplemental material (available at www.ineurosci.org) for methods for open field behavior, food and water intake, glucose prefer-ence, wheel running, accelerating rotarod, modified SHIRPA, spontane-

ous alternation and water maze. Sponaneous locomour activity. Spontaneous locomotor activity was assessed in transparent plastic capis with two horizontal photocell beams located along the long axis of each cage, during a single 2 h lest session (without habilmation to the test cage). Female mice were used only and were placed individually into the activity cages, and the total number of beam breaks made by each mouse was recorded.

Phys maze. The phys maze had four arms (each 27.5 × 5.5 cm) arranged In a cross formation: two "closed" arms bottlered by 30-cm-high walks and two "open" arms without walks. The maze was elevated 50 cm above the ground and limminated by bright white light. Female mice were used only and were placed at the distal end of a closed arm and their movements were recorded for 5 min. Behavioral analysis was performed using an automated tracking system (Ethovision XT) which measured the time spent in each region, the number of entries to each region, the latency to enter an open arm and the distance traveled.

cases an operation and the unstantic networks. Successive alloys. The successive alleys apparatus consisted of four in-creasingly antiogenic, linearly connected wooden alleys. Each alley was 45 cm in length. The alleys had the following dimensions: alley 1 = 9 cm wide, 29-cm-high walls, painted black: alley 2 = 9 cm wide, 2.5-cm-high wide, 29-cm-high walls, painted black: alley 2 = 9 cm wide, 2.5-cm-high walls, painted gray, alley 3 = 6.7 cm wide, 0.5-cm-high walls, painted white alley 4 = 5 cm wide, 0.3-cm-high walls, painted white. A 2 cm step down led from alley 1 to alley 3, with a further 0.5 cm step down between alleys 3 and 4. The apparatus was elevated 1 m above the floor in a well it laboratory. Female mice used only and ware placed individually at the closed end of Alley 1, facing the wall. Each trial lated for 300 s, during which time the latency to first enter, the total time spent In, and the number of entries into, each section were recorded. Weight Bing. Strength testing was performed using a set of seven methods of the high magnitude set.

weights of linearly increasing mass. Each mouse was held by the tail, and its forepaws were allowed to grasp a ball of write mesh to which a weight was attached female mice were need only. If the mouse lined this weight for 3 s II was tasted on progressively heavier ones. The weight lifting score was calculated from the heaviest weight lifted and the number of seconds

for which the weight was held. *CaeWalk*. Female mice were used only and were allowed to walk spon-taneously up and down the glass CatWalk walkway while images were collected by a video camera placed below. Three crosses of the walkway were analyzed for each animal and the data averaged. A number of pa-rameters were examined, including hoststep sequence, front and hind base of support, regularity, and paw print size, angle and intensity.

Cortical neuron dendrite analysis

Corrical neuron aematus anaysis Ulterine horns were removed from time-mated heterozygous Dynclh¹^{N2IIII}^{N2IIII} at embryonic day 15 (E15) mider anesthesia (Iso-flurane, 2.5 L/min). Approximately 0.5 µl of solution containing en-hanced green fluorescent protein (GFP)-pCIG2 expression plasmid (2 µg/µ) and Fast Green dye was injected into the lateral ventricle using a Jappa) and rate criterin tye was injected into the tatent ventrate using a micropipetic under presenter (Ferntole). Eppendorf). Electroporation paddles were oriented to target GFP incorporation to neurons eventually populating the PFC. Electroporated embryos were placed back into the mother and allowed to develop normally, until either E17 or postnatal days 15 (P15). Embryos harvested at E17 were used to prepare dissociated cortical neuron cultures, according to established methods (Banker and Costin, 1989; briefly, dissocied cortices were trypstitized (0.125%, invit-rogen), dissociated and plated into the wells of poly-L-lysine (0.01%, Sigma)-coated Labtek chamber slides at a density of 1×10^3 cells per chamber. Cultures were maintained in Neurobasal medium with supple ments (b-27, Grotamax and pencililis/steptomycin, invitrogen), until they were fixed at 10 days in vitro (DIV) with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) and Immunolabeled with an antibody to GFP (1:100, Morpho-Sys). Up to 20 GFP-labeled neurons per embryo were imaged using a

Banks et al. • Dynein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse

DeltaVision microscope and Softworks software. Neurolucida software was used to trace photographed neurons and analyze dendritic charac-teristics in wild-type and Dyne: III^{N00009979} neurons. In all cases data ware checked for normal distribution using the D'Agostino and Peanon were checked for normal distribution using the 0 Agostino and Pearson test, then compared for statistical differences using the *i* test on onpara-metric Mann–Whitney U test. Alternatively, GFP-expressing mice at P15 were transcardially per-

fused with 0.9% saline, followed by 4% paraformalidehyde. Brains were removed, posifixed for 1 h in 4% PFA, then vibratome cut coronal sections (100 µm) were imaged using an SPS Multiphoton, Leica confocal system to observe the architecture of the cortex, in Letca contocal system to observe the architecture of the cortex, in particular the organization of layer IU/III projection neurons and theli dendritic arbors. Confocal images were collected using Letca software and were processed using Volocity, NIH imagel, and Photoshop (Adobe) software. Fluorescence intensity was pioted using NIH im-agel, as a measure of GFP-positive neuron position within the neocortex

Conditioning lesion and sensory neuron cultures Mice of either sex were subjected to unilateral sciatic nerve crush at mid-thigh level. Three days after injury, dissociated cultures were pre-pared from the LA-5 donai root gangila (DRGs) (psilateral and con-tralateral to the nerve crush as described previously (Hanz et al., 2003). The dissociated DRGs were plated in DMEM/F12 medium supplemented with N1 and 10% horse serum on laminian-coated glass coversilps at a density of 2-5 neurons/mm². After 20 h cultures were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, stained with anti-NFH (neurofila-ment heavy chain and mumber of branches ore neuron was measured ment heavy chain) and number of branches per neuron was measured using MetaMorph software on digital images captured by ImageX-pressMicro (Molecular Devices) fluorescent automatic microscope at 10× magnification.

Conduction studies and dorsal root ganglion histology Skin-nerve preparation. Animals of either sex, 3–4 months of age, 7 wild-type and 8 Dync1l11^{N2019/02107} littermates were killed by cervical dislotype and 8 Dync/lu^{scensymmer} littermates were killed by cervical disio-cation. There were no obvious gross morphological differences of the nerves on disection. The skin nerve preparation was performed as de-scribed previously (Koltzenburg et al., 1997). The saphenous nerve with the skin of the hind leg attached was dissected free and placed "inside the son of the minol sq attached was dissected free and placed "insole-up" in an organ bath. The preparation was superfixed (15 mi/min) with an oxygen-saturated modified synthetic interstitial fluid sole-tion containing the following (in mw): 125 NaCl, 3.5 KCl, 0.7 MgSO₄. 1.7 NaH_PO_2.0 CaCl, 9.5 soldtim gluconate, 5.5 gpuccose, 7.5 se-crose, and 10 HEPES at a (mean \pm SD) pH of 7.4 \pm 0.05 and a

temperature of 32.0 ± 0.5%C. Recordings of A- and C-fiber sensory nerve compound action poten-tial (SNAP) were made using a low noise custom-made amplifier and HP tial (SNAP) were made using a low noise casion—made amplifier and HP 1 Hz, LP 1 kHz filter setting without a noteh filter. The nerve was sim-ulaid with a fine monopolar steel needle as cathode and the anode placed close by in the organ bath. Values given are mean :: SEM. Statk-tical comparison was made with a nonpatient et test. Moor nerve conductor velocity sundex. Animals of either sex, 4–5 months of age, 5 wild-type and 5 Dync1b/Bearrowarw littermates were studied in vivo. Mice were anesthetized with isoftrarine and situlded using a Viking. Quest EMG machine (generously donaided by CarePasion).

Compound action potentials were recorded from small foot muscles with needle electrodes and 10 Hz HP and 10 kHz LP filters. The recording electrode was inserted perpendicularly through the plantar skin midway between the metatarsal-phalangeal joints and the ankle. The reference electrode was inserted into the haltux. The tibial nerve was stimulated at the ankle and the sciatic nerve at the sciatic notch using a pair of monopolar needle electrodes. Needle EMG was ob-tained with a thin (30 ga, "facial") concentric needle electrode with a recording area of 0.03 mm² from intrinsic foot muscles or the medial gastrocnemius muscle using 10 Hz HP and 10 kHz LP filters. Values given are mean \pm SEM. Statistical comparison with made with a inpaired e test.

Histological analyses of DRGs. Animals of either sex, 3–4 mor age, 4 wild-type and 3 Dynciki^{Memoynetarr} littermates were used littermates were used in this

L Nourosci., April 6, 2011 • 31(14)-5483--5494 • 5485

analysis. Cervical and lumbar DRGs were fixed in a 4% PFA and subse-quently soaked in a sterile 10% sucrose solution (in PBS) for 2 h and then successively transferred to increasing concentrations of 20% sucrose for a further 2 h and finally a 30% solution overnight at 4°C. Cryoprotected lumbar or cervical DRGs were embedded in OCT and section ed on a filmination of carrier and a state of the s

PCP9.5 (a marker for univelinated fibers) (Achtili et al., 2009), Markel cells (using cytokeratin 18), and large myelinated fibers stained for neu-rofilament heavy chain (N52) was undertaken. Sections were double trofilament heavy chain (NS2) was undertaken. Sections were double immunositaned at room temperature following permeabilization with Triton-X and blockade with donkey serum either using a mouse igG1 monocional anti-neurofilament 200 (NS2, Sigma) antibody and a rabbit polycional anti-periphertin antibody (Millipore Bloscience Research Re-agents, AB1530) or using the monse igG1 monocional anti-parvaibumin (235 Swant) or a rabbit polycional antiserum to calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) (1134, Blonel Interartional), Primary antibodies were applied overnight, secondary antibodies were an Alexa Fibtor 488 donkey anti-rabbit tigG (Invitrogen, A21206) and a Cy3 donkey anti-mouse igG (lackon Immunolissearch) and an evided for 2 h. Sildes were monthed (ackson immunoReserch) and applied for 2 h. Sildes were mounted (ackson immunoReserch) and applied for 2 h. Sildes were mounted using a Vectashield mounting media with a muclear DAPI stain and viewed on a Zeise Astophot 2. Images were taken at a 20× fluor objective and captured using appropriate filters.

Data analysi

Dull analysis Cell courses for NFH/pertpherin temposeatuteg. Lumbar and cervical DRGs from each animal were analyzed separately. Captured images were viewed in Adobe Photoshop CS4. A minimum of 260 cell profiles, con-stituting approximately three dorsal root ganglion (DRC) sections, were analyzed for each animal and the number of cell profiles positive for each marker was recorded. Of those profiles showing nuclei, the areas and market was reduced, or those provides solving include, the areas and perimeters of at least 50 cells positive for each market were recorded using a 21-inch LCD (liquid crystal display) digitalizing tablet with Adobe Photoshop software. The mean data from individual animals was then combined so that group data from mutant animals could be com-pared with the data from the wild-type animals.

pared with the data from the wild-type animals. Cell course for parvalbumin/CCRP mumonsubing. As with the NFH/ peripherin immunostalning, the humbar and cervical DRGs were ana-lyzed separately. A minimum of 400 cell profiles were contiled for each animal and areas were recorded for those profiles which showed immu-nomactivity for each marker using the same software as for the NFH/ peripherin counts. The nuclei of paralbumin and CGRP-immunoractive cells were not always visible so the areas of all the immunoractive cell pro-files were measured as opposed to just those profiles that had been sectioned in the mucler clane. in the nuclear plane.

Mouse embryonic fibroblast protocols Creation of mouse embryonic fibroblast. A pregnant female was sacrificed at day 13.5 postcollum by cervical dislocation, embryos were separated and kept in L-15 mediam on ice (invitrogen) before processing. Head and viscori logans were removed and tisenes were mitocat using razor-blades and saspended in 1.5 ml of 0.05% trypsin (invitrogen) in DPBS supplemented with 10 ms MgCL and DNase I (200 U, invitrogen). There was involved at 37°C 20 min transferred (into 4 ml of warm Tisme was incubated at 37°C, 20 min, transferred into 4 mi of warm medium [DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1:100 (v/v) penicil-In/streptomycin]. Remaining pieces of tissue were allowed to settle to the bottom of the tube and cell suspension was transferred into cell culture flasks (Nunc)

Golgt reasonably after disruption with nocodazole. E13 mouse embry-onic fibroblads (MEH) were grown to 70% confinence on rotand cover-slips in 6 well plates in standard DMEM at 37°C, 3% O₂. Standard DMEM was replaced by ke-cold standard DMEM containing 15 mm HEPES, cells were left on lce for 30 min. This was replaced with DMEM containing 10 μ g/mi nocodazole, and cells were incubated at 37°C, 3 h, 3% Os. Nocodazole was washed from the cells 5 times in DMEM and cells Strucy, to 3% O₂, 37°C lineabilitor to recover for 0, 30 and 50 min before being fixed in -20°C methanol, 8 min. The cells were then washed 3 times in PBS containing 0.25% gelatin from coldwater fish skin (PBSC). Samples were stained for Golgi using rabbit polycional anti-giantin (1:

5486 - J. Neuresci, April 6, 2011 - 31(14):5483-5484

1000) (Covance) and cytoskeleton using mouse monocional anti-a-tubulin (1:200) (Millipore): secondary antibodies were Alexa Fluor 546-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:200) (Invitrogen) and Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (1:200) (Invitrogen). Antibodies were diluted in either PISG (anti-giantin) or PIS- (PIS without magnestmi or calcham) for 30 min, room iemperature. Finally, cells were monnied on glass sildes using ProLong Gold antifade mounting me-dium, containing 4°,6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI) (Invitrogen), and allowed to cure for 24 h at room iemperature, then stored at 4°C.

Endosomal trafficking chase of Alexa Fluor-conjugated epidermal

provid factor E13 MEFs were grown to 80% confluence on round coverslips in 6 well plates in standard DMEM at 37°C, 3% O₂ and then washed twice with PBS, without calcium or magnesium (PBS--). Cells were starved for 2 h in starving medium (DMEM, penicilin/streptomycin, and i-glutamine) at 37°C, 3% O₂₅ before stimulation for 10 mln with warmed starving medium containing 8 ng/ml Alexa Fluor 555-conjagated epidermal growth factor (EGF) (Invitrogen) and 0.1% BSA. Cells were washed twice ad starving with ice-cold PBS- and the internalized ECF was chased for 0, 20, and 40 with i.e.-cold PBS— and the Internalized EGF was chased for 0, 20, and 40 min. Samples were then fixed at the given time points with 449 FPA for 15 min, and permeabilized for 5 min 1n 0.1% Triton X-100 and blocked in 2% BSA, 1 h. Samples were then mounted on glass slides using ProLong Cold antitide mounting medium containing DAPI (invitrogen) and al-lowed to cure for 24 h, noom temperature, then stored at 4°C.

Results

Origin and inheritance of Dync1111N255Y mutation

An archive of genomic DNAs from novel mice with random point mutations has been created at the MRC Mammalian Genetics Unit, UK in an N-ethyl-N-urea (ENU) driven mutagenesis program (Nolan et al., 2000). To take a genotype driven approach to understanding dynein subunit function, we screened thi archive for Dyncilii exon 5 since it is one of the largest protei ed this coding exons in the gene and the larger the stretch of DNA screened, the higher the probability that a mutation will be found. We amplified a 248 bp fragment (including complete 170 bp of exon 5), multiplexed at four DNA samples per well. A heteroduplex screen of 1248 amplicons (i.e., 4992 pools) showed a possible mutation in one DNA pool (supplem ental Fig. S1A, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material); sequencing revealed the single mutant DNA sample (supplemental Fig. S1B, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material). Thus in our amplicon we detected 1 mutation per 1.24×10^6 bp, of which 0.85×10^6 bp were protein coding

The DyncIli1 mutation was an A to T change at base pair 795 (cDNA numbering: Mouse Genome Informatics accession number MGI:2135610) causing an asparagine to tyrosine change at the highly conserved residue 235: Dync1li1^{N235Y} (Fig. 1). This mutation was not found in either parental strain, BALB/cAnN or C3H/HeH, confirming it is not a single-

nucleotide polymorphism (nor is it found in C57BL/6). The Dyncifit^{N255} mouse line was rederived by IVF and 4 animals (3 female, 1 male) were used as the founders for our Dync1li1^{N2557} colony. These mice were crossed to C57BL/6J mice and subsequent generations were backcrossed to produce a conand subsequent generations were backcrossed to produce a con-genic strain or intercrossed to produce homozygous animals. At N5, 8 Dync1li1^{N25537+} heterozygous males were crossed with 14 Dync1li1^{N25537+} heterozygous females, producing 37 litters with an average size of 8 pupp per litter. The sex ratio did not vary from normal (143 males, 147 females; $\chi^2 = 0.09$). Homozygous animals were viable and the genotype ratios were not significantly altered from Mendeltan norms (79 wild type, 140 heterozygote,

Banks et al. • Dynein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mous

n	
DVNC1LINESSY	225 LELGADTERM LOLFVLVVC 244
Mus musculus DHNC1LH (mouse)	225 LELGADTUTIER-LOLEVINVO 244
Moreo asplene 0YHC1LI1 (humani	225 LELGADTLENG-LGIPVLVVC 244
Cania familiaria DVNC1LI1 (dog)	225 LFLOADTLINE-LOIPVLVVC 244
Ree Durue DVHC1LI1 (sov)	315 LFLOADTLING-LOWFRLOWC 244
Monochepiths aloneestics DYNCTLI1 (opassure)	330 LFLOADTLTYN-LOVPYLVVC 238
Eaflus galles DCIL1 (chicken)	218 LFLOADTLDOB-LISTPIPPVC 214
Termingoppia gothele DLC-A (selone firsch)	283 LFLOADTLICG-LEIFWAVC 171
Gasterosteus aculastus (WWG1UII (stickleback)	207 LFLGOBITURE-LOIPVVVC 226
Danio ranie DVWC1LIII (pebrafishi)	208 LFLGENTLINE LGLFLVVVC 227
Nensous popicalle 0VHC1LI1 (Ivac)	216 LFLORDTLENG-LGIPPPAVC 225
Drosophile melanogaster DLIC2 (Yult 1b)	NOT LEATERALITE-LOLDOWAY 200
Carnovhabdille riegans DU-1 (nematede)	214 LFLOQUTLINE-CONTRAVVI 233
Distposibiliam disculsione (amorba)	221 PPLEMILING-LEVPILVAC 240
Lancaria bicelor (fungas)	104 LFLOROPTHEMAINFEIVTC 214
PAIn landing	
PERCENTRIN MARINE	
P losp	

Figure 1. Partial sequence and domains of wild-type and mutant DYNCILIT. A, Multiple • Service a summer of optigizantic dynamic light interruption of the system of the Bielli et al. (2001), Hughes et al. (1995), and Tynan et al. (2000).

71 homozygote; $\chi^2 = 2.86$). Homozygotes were fertile—two in-tercrosses of homozygous males and females produced litters of 11 and 7 homozygous pups. We went on to test the mutant mice for phenotypic differ-

ences: all phenotyping was performed blind to genotype on wildtype and homozygous age-, sex-matched littermates. Note that although the backcross generation of mice used varied between ents, all mice within each experiment were of the same experin generation on C57BL/6J.

vioral analysis and histology of brain and spinal cord

To determine whether the Dyncillit mutation plays a role in be-havior, female mice (12 wild type, 11 Dyncillit^{825(Y)/N25(Y} homozygotes, N4) were assessed. We found no difference between genotypes in open field behavior, food and water intake, glucose preference or wheel running (supplemental Pig. S2 A, B, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material). However, when placed in a novel environment Dync1B1/N2550/N2557 mice displayed lower levels of spontaneous locomotor activity than wild-type littermates ($F_{(121)} = 4.33$; p < 0.05) (Fig. 2.A). Next, anxiety was examined using the elevated plus maze. Compared with wild types, $Dymc1Ri^{ACSURG215Y}$ mice had a longer

Compared with wiid types, $Dynclli l^{ndestructor}$ mice had a longer latency to first enter an open arm $(U_{(11,22)} = 29.0; p < 0.05)$, spent less time in the anxiogenic open arms $(U_{(11,22)} = 100.3; p < 0.05)$ and more in the closed arms $(U_{(11,22)} = 13.0; p < 0.01)$ (Fig. 2 B) and made fewer entries to the open arms $(U_{(11,12)} = 103.0; p < 0.05)$ and the closed arms $(U_{(11,12)} = 112.5; p < 0.005)$ (Fig. 2 C). However, the distance moved by the $Dynclli l^{NSINV2SF}$ mice did not differ from that of wild types $(r_{01,01} = 1.5); p < 0.05)$ sec, non-ever, we usuance moved by the Dynchil^{**} mice did not differ from that of wild types $(t_{c11}) = -1.50$; p = 0.15), suggesting that the reduced exploration of the open arms could not be explained by hypoactivity. In addition, Dynchil^{**} Mice displayed significantly increased defecation during the task compared with wild types ($U_{(11,12)} = 28.0$; p < 0.05).

Anxiety was further examined using the successive alleys task (Deacon et al., 2003). Again, Dync1E1942557942557 mice were slower to move into the more anxiogenic second alley (U_(11,12) = mice were 26.0; p < 0.05), spent less time in the second alley $(U_{(11,12)} = 106.0; p < 0.05)$ (Pg. 2D) and made fewer entries into the second alley $(U_{(11,22)} = 110.0; p < 0.01)$ (Pg. 2.B). The small number of animals (4 wild type, 0 Dync1bi/N23579.02357) that Banks et al. • Dynein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse



Figure 2. Behavior of Dync 10 Plant¹⁰ Am¹ finite. **A**, Dync 10 Plant¹⁰ Am¹ mice displayed significantly lower levels of spontaneous locomotor activity compared with wild-type illumnates. **B**, On the elevated plas mase (FMR), the Dync 10 Plant¹⁰ Km² finite spont significantly less time in the open amis and more time in the closed arms. **C**, They also made significantly lewer entries to both the open and closed arms. **D**, On the successive alloys tak (SUC III Plant¹⁰ Km²) mice spont less time in the more antiogenic alleys compared with wild types. **E**, they also made lower entries to these alleys (the Dync 10)^{Ham5} Km² mice did not make any entries to alleys 3 or 4). **F**, footprint analysis using the CatWalk system found that compared with wild types, Dync.10^{Ham5} Km² mice displayed a significantly greater difference between the BOS of their from the logs and a logs due to a relative narrowing of the trent BOS and a widening of the bind BOS; a representative sample from one animal is shown. Green, Bight from floot; dark green, right hind foot; red, left trent both, dark red, left hind foot. Animals walked too right.

ventured beyond the second alley meant that valid analyses could not be performed on alleys 3 and 4. Thus the results of the plus maze and successive alleys tasks suggest that the DyncHil^{13/2537/M2537} mike display Increased anxiety compared with their wild-type littermates.

with their while-type littermates. At 6 months of age the performance of Dync1bi1M255002557 mice on the accelerating rotarod did not differ from that of wild types ($\tau_{211} = 0.47; p = 0.64$). However, Dync1biN255002557 mice tended to be slightly stronger than wild types on a weightlifting test of grip strength ($U_{1112} = 35.5; p = 0.06$) (supplemental Fig. S2C, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material). In addition, examination of gait using the CatWalk analysts system found that the ratio of forepaw base of support (BOS) to hindpaw BOS was significantly reduced in the homozygous mutant animals ($\tau_{221} = 3.21; p < 0.005$) compared with wild-type littermates. This was due to a relative narrowing of the forepaw BOS coupled with an increase in the hindpaw BOS (Fig. 2.F). We performed the modified SHIRPA test (Rogers et al., 1997, 2001), which included further rotarod and grip strength measurements, upon male and female mice up to 52 weeks of age but found no difference between homozygotes and wild-type controls (supplemental material, supplemental Fig. S21, J, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental Fig. S21, available at www.incurosci.org as supplemental Fig. S2D, available at www.incurosci.org as supplemental material, supplemental Fig. S2D-H, available at www.incurosci.org as supplemental material).

Given the behavioral and gait abnormalities, brain and cervical and humbar spinal cord were assessed histologically. Attention was paid to prefrontal cortex (PPC), hippocampus, striatum and cerebellum, but we detected no differences between wild-type and mutant littermates in brain or spinal cord morphology or L.Neurosci., April 6, 2011 • 31(14):5483-5494 • 5487

motor neuron counts in the sciatic motor pool (supplemental material, supplemental Pig. S3A–D, available at www. jneurosci.org as supplemental material).

Cortical neuron dendrite outgrowth and branching As axonal and dendritic development is

As axonal and dendritic development is known to be mediated by cytoplasmic dynein-dependent processes, we investigated the morphology of cortical neurons, including those in the PEC. A GFP expression plasmid was transfected into the cortex of embryos at E15 by in utero electroporation, selectively labeling neurons that would in the developed brain become layer II/III cortical projection neurons. Two days after electroporation dissociated cortical cultures were prepared from fluorescing hemispheres. Ten days later GFP-expressing cells were analyzed to determine patterns of dendritic outgrowth and branching (Flg. 3A). We found the mean dendritic tree length was significantly increased in Dynetici/WastinKessiv.

w sample row one sama third tool. Reimais walked 33.46 µm; Dync1Ei^{N2357002557}, 452.6 ± 34.52 µm; p = 0.0029). Furthermore, individual dendrites terminated significantly further from the soma in Dync1Ei^{N2557002557} neurons

ntficarlly further from the soma in $Dync1B^{12657082557}$ neurons than wild-type controls (Fig. 3Bii wild type, 170.9 ± 4.637 µm; $Dync1B^{12857082557}$, 182.5 ± 4.811 µm; p = 0.0281). Trus homorygous mutant dendrites grew longer and extended further from the soma than those of wild-type animals, which may have implications for correct connectivity between neurons in vivo. Despite these differences in dendritic tree length, wild-type and $Dync1B^{1285708257}$ neurons had the same average number of dendritic trees (supplemental Fig. StA, available at www. ineurosci.org as supplemental material; wild type, 5.405 ± 0.3388; $Dync1B^{1285708257}$, 4.923 ± 0.2807; p = 0.4697) and the trees displayed similar branching patterns: the average number of branch points, or nodes, per dendritic tree wave at statistically different (supplemental Fig. StA, available at www. ineurosci.org as supplemental material; wild type, 3.985 ± 0.3221; $Dync1B^{1285708257}$, 4.236 ± 0.2391; p = 0.4697). In addition, the frequency of nodes per dendritic tree was statistically indistinguishable between wild-type and $Dync1B^{1285708257}$ neurons. This indicates that the variability in branching patterns observed between neurons within each genotype, was consistent between the two genotypes (supplemental Fig. StA, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental Fig. StA, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental availability in branching patterns observed between neurons within each genotype, was consistent between the two genotypes (supplemental Fig. StA), availabile at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental Fig. StA, availabile at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental Fig. StA), availabile at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental Fig. StA), availabile at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental Fig. StA), availabile at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material. Finally, a Sholi analysis showed virtually to the cell body for wild-type and Dync1Bi/N255902557 neuron cubres.

To determine whether dendritic branching and organization defects occur in Dyncibi/N2553972357 neurons in vivo, embryos subjected to electroporation with GFP at E15 were left to develop normally and brains were harvested at P15. In these experiments electroporation was targeted toward the PFC, an area that has been associated with anxiety studies in lesion studies (Deacon et

5488 - J. Neuresci, April 6, 2011 - 31(14):5483-5484

al., 2003). We found mutant phenotypes that could not be observed in in vitro cul-tures: in the PFC of Dync181N2557N2557 animals more neurons that had migrated past their appropriate layer II/III position ind into the uppermost part of the cortex (Fig. 3C,E; quantitation shown in H). More caudally (Fig. 3I,I) there was a marked increase in GFP-labeled neurons in the uppermost layer of the cortex in Dync1li1^{N23527N235Y} mice. Many of these neurons displaced from layer II adopted abnormal orientation in Dyncibi NZESY animals compared with wild types (Fig. 3D, F) and also a proportion within layer II/III showed abnormal orientation (Fig. 3G). Figure 3 shows that this misorientation was characterized by the apical dendrite not projecting radially, toward the pial surface, but instead to varying degrees tangentially. In addition we observed neu-rons with abnormal apical dendrite morphology including thickening of the dendrite and often irregular trajectories (Fig. 3K, arrow).

Adult sensory neuron branching To establish whether the Dync1B1^{N2357} mutation affected neuronal branching in the pertphery we examined neuronal cultures from wild-type and Dync1li1^{N25599N2559} DRGs. We also examined the possibility that the Dync1li1 mutation might affect dyneinbased retrograde injury signaling by per-forming conditioning lesion experiments as described previously (Hanz et al., 2003).

Two wild-type and two Dync1li1^{N255YN255Y} male mice of 2-4months old were used for each experi-ment, and three independent replicates were carried out. Mice were subjected to unilateral sciatic nerve crush at mid-thigh level; 3 d later, dissociated cultures were prepared from L4-5 DRGs tpstlateral and contralateral to the nerve crush. Neurons were fixed after 20 h in culture, stained with anti-NFH, and branching was measured. As shown in Figure 4A, B, in naive conditions NFH-positive sensory neurons from Dync11i1^{N2557N2557} mice had a greater number of branches than wild-

type controls. We found similar results for neurons under injury conditions, although differences were less significant than for naive conditions, apparently due to a more marked injury response in wild-type neurons (47.6% increase in branching after injury, compared with 33.5% increase in the mutants).

To assess nerve branching in developing animals we per-formed whole mount neurofilament immunohistochemistry stry In the limbs of E13.5 animals; we found no significant differ-ence between wild-type and Dynetlii/M255702557 animals in the number of branch points (supplemental material, supplemen-tal Figure S4, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental



Antwested at PTS (post-scucidal) watched with Q. Compared with C. (PP postive cells were nore distributed, with more neurons, reading in the uppermet part of the cortex (arrows). F, The coll body and apical dendrite of neurons located deser to the plait surface in Dync II ^{Name Plann^e} mutants were mis-oriented. G. Neurons in layer 11 of Dync II ^{Name Plann^e} mutants were mis-oriented. G. Incore of inflations, R. Comparison of the proportion of electroportate for our solution in processing of the neuronal measured by hoursecance himsity. J. Higher magnification imaging trans weld-spec orbits in more caudal sections showed med. GPP-positive neurons within layer INLL in contrast to I. (GPP-opressing colds in Dync) Inflation? Section solution much desert to the pialautions. (Final pialaution in the pialaution in the pialaution of the more caudal sections much desert to the pialautions.) an incorrect orientation. Scale bars: A, C, E, I, J, 100 µm; D, F, G, K, 50 µm.

> material) and whole-mount neurofilament staining did not show any obvious abnormalities in the peripheral nervous system of homozygotes at P12.5 (Christiana Ruhrberg, per-sonal communication).

hysiology of sensory neurons and dorsal root

ganglia histology Mice with mutations in the dynein heavy chain 1 subunit have a loss of cutaneous and proprioceptive sensory neurons, and so for comparison we undertook sensory nerve conduction studies of the saphenous nerve on 8 wild-type and 7 DyncHilPM357N02377 homozygous male littermates (3 months of age, N3). Recordings

Banks et al. • Dynein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse

Banks et al. • Dynein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse



were taken of the A (myelinated)- or C (unmyelinated)-fiber SNAPs; we found a small but significant (p < 0.03) reduction of the peak-to-peak amplitude of the A-fiber SNAP from 3.2 \pm 0.3 mV in wild types to 2.5 \pm 0.2 mV in homozygous mutants (Fig. 5A) but no difference in the conduction velocity (wild type, 28.8 \pm 0.8 m/s; Dync1Bi/^{NSISON2SY, 27.1 \pm 1.2 m/s; p > 0.2). With respect to the C-fibers, we found no significant reduction of the peak-to-peak amplitude of the C-fiber SNAP (wild type, 391 \pm 48 μ V; Dync1Bi/^{NSISON2SY, 385 \pm 61 μ V, p > 0.4) and no significant reduction of the conduction velocity (wild type, 0.86 \pm 0.06 m/s; Dync1Bi/^{NSISON2SY, 0.92 \pm 0.04 m/s p > 0.4).}}}

0.58 Loose lines, Dynamic (0.59 Loose lines, p. 9-04). To determine whether the sensory electrophysiological defect in A-fiber SNAP was reflected histologically, DRGs from the cervical and humbar spinal cord were stained for NFH (a marker for myelinated fibers) and peripherin (a marker for thin myelinated and unmyelinated fibers) (sapplemental Pigure S5A, available at www.jneurosct.org as sapplemental material). We found no differences in the NFH- and peripherin-immunoreactive cell profiles in cervical or humbar DRGs of wild-type or mutant animals (supplemental Table S1, available at www.jneurosct.org as sapplemental material). However, analysis of the size distribution of labeled neuronal profiles revealed a significant shift to the left (smaller neurons) in homozygous mutants compared with wild-



Figure 5. Neurophysiological and histological analysis of Open/1078/cm89am⁴ mice. A, Open/1078/cm89am⁴ have mice a significant reduction of the pola-it-pola-amplitude of A-thore compound actionophimila in the software compound action of the set of the pola-0.05.8, (Sam pice of the neuronal profile area distribution of neuroflament-immuneractive meanses (giving rise to large myelinated A-thore; round symbols) and of peripherhimmuneractive cmits (giving rise) of them; sparse symbols) inhumbat docal root ganglia. The coll profilesize in hoth populations is reduced in Open/10^{46,058,014} mice compared with wildhype litemates.

type littermates in lumbar DRG. Changes in cervical DRGs were smaller which is compatible with a length-dependent effect as seen in many neuropathies (Pig. 5B; Table 1). We also stained cervical and lumbar DRGs for calcitonin

We also stained cervical and tumbar DRGs for calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP, a marker of peptidergic nocceptors) and parvalbumin (stains prioprioceptors and mechanoreceptors) (applemental Pag. SSB, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material). Stimilarly, we found no differences in the percentage of CGRP- and parvalbumin-immunoreactive cells in the cervical and lumbar DRGs of wild-type and mutant animals (supplemental Table S2, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material), but there was a significant shift to smaller neurons in homozygous mutants compared with wildtype littermates (Table 2).

We found no loss of epidermal nerve fiber density between wild-type and mutant animals, and no reduction in the number of Merkel cells, whose survival depends on Innervation by mechanoreceptive sensory neurons. Together these findings indicate that there is no distal degeneration of large myelinated or unmyelinated sensory neurons. To establish whether the Dync/Lit/^{1025F} mutation had any effect upon the saphenous nerves of 3 wild types and 3 homozygotes and we found no difference in average fiber size, fiber size distribution, g-ratio, or average axonal diameter (sapplemental material, supplemental Fig. SSC-F, supplemental Table S3, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material).



5490 - J. Neurosci., April 6, 2011 - 31(14):5483-5484

Banks et al. • Dynein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse

Table 1. Cell profile size distribution in cervical and lumbar DRGs for NFH- and peripherin-positive neurons in wild-type and Dynch II Result Result mice

	Cervical		Lumbar	
	Wild type (n — 3)	Dyne 117 ^{Recolf Recolf} (n - 4)	Wildtype (r — 3)	Dync/11 ^{Ran/FRanf} (n - 4)
Total number of NFH-positive profile areas measured	201	286	165	240
Mean NFH cell profile area	739 ± 80 (579-833)	676 ± 37 (568-739)	773 ± 46 (714-864)	680 ± 33 (595-734)
Total number of peripherin-positive profile areas measured	338	496	319	430
Mean peripherin cell profile area	339 ± 32 (279-387)	307 ± 6 (279-323)	351 ± 31 (294-299)	285 ± 18 (245-319)

For mean ± 928 values, the values in parentheses are surges.

 $\begin{array}{l} 0.21\,000 \pm 1.01\,0000, \mbox{ is defined of $(2 > 0.1), \mbox{ bian garanty in the state of the state$

Table 2. Cell profile size distribution in cervical and lumbar DRG for CGRP- and parcalbumin-positive neurons

	Carvical		Lumbar	
	Wild type (n — 3)	$DyneMT^{R_{221}YM_{222}Y}(n-4)$	Wildtype (n — 3)	Dync101 ^{Rans9RansP} (n - 3)
Total number of CGRP-positive profile areas measured	239	315	255	389
Mean CGRP cell profile area	459 ± 69 (378-595)	420 ± 27 (383-498)	485 ± 26 (469-502)	435 ± 26 (395-484)
Total number of parvaibumin-positive profile areas measured	264	785	233	339
Mean parvalbumin cell profile area	508 ± 26 (477-559)	477 ± 21 (416-509)	474 ± 7 (418-578)	378 ± 7 (364-388)

For most = 220 which, for statis is particular to a range. Given by the distribution of the partie mass of control (GP - transmostrative DK - servers is significantly different (p < 0.300, following the distribution of the partie mass of control (GP - transmostrative DK - servers is significantly different (p < 0.300, following the distribution of the partie mass of control (GP - transmostrative DK - servers is significantly different (p < 0.300, following the distribution of the partie mass of control (GP - transmostrative DK - servers is significantly different (p < 0.300, following the distribution of the partie mass of control (GP - transmostrative DK - servers is significantly different (p < 0.300, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the partie (GP - 200, following the distribution of the distress of the distress of the distribution of the distribut

As Dymc1Bi1^{N2352702557} animals have a different gait from wildtype littermates, motor nerve conduction velocity was assessed wild-type and Dymc1Bi1^{N255702557} littermates and we found no differences between genotypes (supplemental material, available at www.jneurosci.org). In aggregate these findings indicate that there is no loss of subpopulations of neurons, but a hypotrophy of all cell types and no dying back neuropathy of motor, or large and small diameter sensory neurons.

Dynein-controlled processes in Dync1li1^{N235Y0/215Y} mouse embryonic fibroblasts We studied the effect of the Dync1li1^{N25Y} mutation on two im-

We studied the effect of the DyncHi N²²³³ mutation on two Important cellular processes known to involve cytoplasmic dynein: maintenance of Golgi Integrity and endosomal movements. Golgi abnormalities have been reported in both DyncHi¹²⁸³ (Hafezparast et al., 2003) and in Drosophila with a mutation in the dynein light intermediate chain (Zheng et al., 2008; Palmer et al., 2009). We analyzed the effect of the DyncHi¹⁴⁸³ Zhuitan in the dynein light intermediate chain (Zheng et al., 2008; Palmer et al., 2009). We analyzed the effect of the DyncHi¹⁴⁸³ Symutation on reassembly of Golgi complex in MEFs, following exposure to nocodazole. We found Golgi reassembly progressed throughout the recovery time and was almost complete in wild-type cells within 50 min, thus there was no significant difference in the ratio of Golgi spots per unit area in wild-type cells at the 50 min time point (p = 0.31) (Pig. 6A, B; supplemental Fig. S6, available at www. jneurosci.org as supplemental material). However, there was a defect in Golgi complex reassembly in DyncHi^{1N251070257} cells, when untreated and treated cells at the 50 min recovery time point were compared (p = 0.008). No statistically significant differences (p = 0.60) were observed in the ratio of Golgi spots per unit area in heteroxygous DyncHi^{1N251074} cells under these two conditions (supplemental Fig. S6, available at www. jneurosci.org as supplemental Fig. S6, available at www.

As dynein is responsible for the trafficking and sorting of endosomes within the cell (Driskell et al., 2007) we investigated the effect of the Dync/IB³/S257 mutation on endosomal dynamics. Wild-type and homozgygous MEFs were pulsed with Alexa Fluor 355-conjugated EGP, then fixed at set time points (Pig. 7A, B), and the number of EGF-positive vesicles in each cell was counted. When we compared the number of EGF-positive vesicles, as a measure of their trafficking to the lysosome for degradation, at 20 and 40 min time points, we observed significant differences between wild-type and homozygous MEFs (p = 0.0032 and p = 0.0007 respectively) which may indicate a slower rate of degradation.

Dynein subunit levels and interactions

Dynami subunit levels and interactions We generated antibodies against wild-type DYNC1L11, and the dynein intermediate chain protein 1, DYNC111 (supplemental material, supplemental Pig. S7, available at www.jneurost.org as supplemental material). To investigate whether the DYNC1L11 mutation affected its stability or expression, or its interactions with other components of the dynein complex, we assessed various cytoplasmic dynein subunit levels in brain from 12-month old wild-type and Dync1Ii¹^{NZENTMZEST} mice and found no differences in individual protein levels, except for a significant increase in the levels of DYNLT3 in Dync1Ii¹^{NZENTMZEST} mice compared with wild-type controls (p = 0.001; supplemental Pig. S8A, B, supplemental Table S4, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material). Communooprecipitation studies indicated DYNC1L11^{NZENT} was still bound within the complex, and also that there was a significant decrease in the amount of coprecipitating DYNLL in mutant samples when compared with wild type (p = 0.000005 supplemental material, supplemental Pig. S8.C-E, supplemental Table S5, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material). We found no differences in the autophagy

EGF

А

Wildtype

Banks et al. - Dynkin Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse



Golgi reassembly in wild-type and Dync 187^{82 on F Ram?} MEFs. A, MEFs were treated Figure 6. with cold (4°C) for 20 min and nocodarole for 3 h, washed and then allowed to recover at 37°C with the (F-1) for Julian and noncoccurse for 9, weared and then answed to receive at 37-7. for the times indicated, Golgi are shown in red, sytiskielion in green (s--tubulin) and nucki in blue (DMP). The scale bar represents 39, an. **8**, the total number of discrete spots and the total area of Golgi complex were measured to calculate the table of spots/total area per cell-5 cells per genetype were assessed. In wild type and heteroxy gaus cells, after 50 min of receivery, the Goigi complex has reformed and is not significantly different from that in untreated cells. However, in the Dync III ^{Ham Share} from xygous mutant cells, the Goigi complex has a significant detect in recovery after 50 min compared with untreated cells and treated wild-type and heteroxygous cells at the same time point

marker LC3 II or in the cellular localization of DYNC1L11 or its cargo RAB4 between wtld-type and mutant animals in cortical neurons (supplemental material, supplemental Fig. S8 $F\!-\!K$, available at www.jneurosci.org as supplemental material).

Discussion

We have identified and characterized a novel mouse line carrying an ENU-derived mutation causing an asparagine to tyrosine change in DYNC1L11 at highly conserved residue 235. This is the first published mammalian mutant of a dynein light intermo chain and allows us to assess aspects of dynein function that have not been highlighted thus far in the available mouse models of dynein dysfunction. Dync181782517N2557 homozygote mice show increased analety-like behavior and altered gait in behavioral tests and have neurons with altered morphologies and electro-physiological properties. The Dync1li1^{N2557} mutation changes Golgi formation and endosomal trafficking, and the level expression and association of two other subunits of the dynein complex.

Our behavioral studies reveal that Dyncili1N285Y/N285Y hoozygotes display greater levels of anxiety-like behavior than wild-type littermates on both the elevated plus maze and successtve alleys task. Although these tasks can be influenced by changes In baseline levels of locomotor activity, the two groups did not differ in the distance traveled on the elevated plus maze, suggest-ing that the reduced exploration of the open arms by the

EGF Merged Ē Ē в 300 Wildtype
 Dync IN Passes Roses 200 100 Timepoint (m)

Figure 7. Endosomal trafficting chase of Alexa Fluor SSS-conjugated EGF in wild-type and Ojmc/107^{60x176}WEFs, A, MEFs were pulsed with EGF for 10 min and chased at 37°C for the times indicated. EGF is shown in red, cytoskeleton (=-tubulin) in green and nuclei in blue Figure 7. Endos Dync 107^{82 m1590}2017 (DAP). The will per geodype per time point were assessed. Solie bar, 30 μm , 8, The number of GG-positive vescies per cell in wild-type and homorpous. MHS: all p, 21, and 40 min time points. All time wild-type and Dync 10 $^{\rm MOMRM}$ for manyous matter cells have similar numbers of vescies, however, after 22 and 40 min.Dync 10 $^{\rm MOMRM}$ for manyous matter cells have similar to the homorpole. significantly more vesicles remaining than wild-type cells.

Dync1li1^{N25579N2557} mice could not be explained by hypoactivity, and no hypoactivity was found in wheel running tests. Despite this, it is difficult to conclusively disassociate anxiety and locomotor activity as these two factors are closely linked (reduced locomotor activity potentially may result from increased anxiety as well as potentially acting as a confound in the measurement of anxiety) (Milner and Crabbe, 2008). Because of this difficulty, defection was used as a non-locomotor measure of anxiety (DeFries et al., 1978). The increased defecation observed in Dynclin^{N2557N2557} mice during behavioral testing supports the hypothesis that these animals display increased levels of anxiety

Dync1li1^{N2557/N2557} homozygotes have defects in cortical pro jection neuron morphology and the laminar positioning of this neuronal population, which indicates a migration defect affecting the cortex and prefrontal cortex. Alterations in neuronal morphology in the medial PFC have been found to be induced by chronic stress (Goldwater et al., 2009), as well as anxiety (Pascual and Zamora-León, 2007). Stress linked neuronal migration de-fects have also been observed in the hippocampus (Keays et al., 2007; Scobie et al., 2009) and basolateral amygdala (Kudo et al., 2007; Carim-Todd et al., 2009). A number of other mouse models with PPC-related behavioral deficits show defects in neuronal ology or migration. However, linking behavior and migramorph tion defects is complex, for example migration defects observed in this study are similar to those in the LmxIa (dreher) mutant mouse (overmigration of layer II neurons into layer I), but the two mouse lines show markedly different behavioral pheno-types—dreher mice show circling behavior, balance abnormali-



5492 - J. Neurosci., April 6, 2011 - 33(14):5483-5484

ties, hyperactivity and deafness, none of which we see in Dync1li1^{N2557/N2557} homozygotes) (Costa et al., 2001).

Dyncliff¹¹ the non-morphysics (Costa et al., 2001). Dynein is involved in neuronal migration through its interactions with LIS1 (Tisat et al., 2007). Lis1 mutant mice have severe defects in neuronal migration in the brain, including in the same cortical regions disrupted in Dynclifi³²⁵⁵⁰⁹²⁵⁵⁷ homozygotes (Hirotsane et al., 1998). However, Lis1 mutant mice do not show changes in anxiety (Paylor et al., 1999) suggesting the interesting possibility that neuronal defects observed in Dynclifi³²⁵⁵⁰⁹²²⁵⁵⁷ mice may be due to interactions with pathways other than those regulated by LIS1.

We note that importins, transported by cytoplasmic dynein (Perry and Fatnzilber, 2009), are tnvolved in synapse-to-nucleus signaling downstream of NMDA receptors (Thompson et al., 2004; Dieterich et al., 2008; Jeffrey et al., 2009), and NMDA receptors are important mediators of anxiety (Barkus et al., 2010). It is possible the Dynclii NZSSY mutation affects importin transport in response to NMDA receptor activation, thus altering anxtely in these mice.

Previous mouse studies have shown DYNC1H1 plays an important role in prioprioception and sensory neuronal function (Chen et al., 2007; Iliva et al., 2008). Similarly the Dync1il^{N2157} mutation alizers the firing properties, neuron stze and morphology of sensory nerves. Thus as sensory nerve deficts have been found now in mouse models with mutations in two different cytoplasmic dynet nutbunts, possibly DRG neurons are more reliant on dynein-mediated processes than other neuron populations. Cell type specificity may be due to different cargos transported by dynein within the different cells—studies in Drosophils show the dynein light intermediate chain interacts with a class of degenerit/ epithelial sodhum channels (Zheng et al., 2008) that in mammals appear to be found exclusively in DRG (Benson et al., 2002). Mutation of the light intermediate chain in Drosophila cause

Mutation of the light intermediate chain in Drosophila cause dendritic and axonal defects in neurons, such as branching defects and a reduction of the dendritic arbor (Satoh et al., 2008; Zheng et al., 2008). However, these neuronal phenotypes differ from those found in the present study: in Drosophila mutations in the light intermediate chain cause a reduction in the length and number of dendrite branches (Satoh et al., 2008; Zheng et al., 2008), whereas the Dync181^{NDESWNC357} mice have an increase in dendrite length in cortical neurons (with no changes in branching) and an increase in the number of dendrite branches in DRG neurons. These differences may arise because the reported Drosophila mutations cause loss of function, while the Dync181^{NDESWNC357} may be a novel gain of function.

The light intermediate chains play an essential role in endosomal dynamics in cells through their interactions with the RAB protein family (Bielli et al., 2001; Satoh et al., 2008; Zheng et al., 2008). Studies of the cytoplasmic dynein light intermediate chain in Drosophila suggest the cellular machinery controlling dendrite branching is transported in endosomes and Golgf outposts (Satoh et al., 2008; Zheng et al., 2008). Our data from the Dync1li^{1N2557} mutation support this view to some extent: we found the Dync1li^{1N2557} mutation reduces the trafficking of Golgf fragments and endosomes. However, while branching defects were observed in DRG neurons in Dync1li^{1N2557}/mike, we found no such defects in cortical neurons or in the peripheral nerves in the developing limb. In contrast, the cortical neurons of Dync1li^{1N2557}/m2557^T mice showed other morphological abnormalities such as increased dendrite outgrowth. These results imply that dynein-mediated processes may mediate different aspects of neuronal morphology in different neuronal populations.

Banks et al. • Dynein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse

We also note that the DyncHi1^{N2557} mutation lies at the periphery of a known binding site for pericentrin. The primary function of pericentrin is thought to be the control of the mitotic spindle and the assembly of the centricle. Interestingly, a recent study of Cep120 (a centricle localized protein) hypothesized that defects in centricle formation may lead to alterations in neuronal migration (Mahjoub et al., 2010). Furthermore, there is also evidence to suggest that percentrin may play a role in cillogenesis (Myyoshi et al., 2006) and that ependymal cilia are responsible for directing CSF flow (Lang et al., 2006). Because abnormal CSF flow is linked to gait abnormalities [for example, in the human condition, normal pressure hydrocephalus (Gideon et al., 1994)], it is possible that the DyncHi1^{N2557} mutation causes abnormalties in pericontrin localization/function that affect cilia and CSF flow, and thus locomotion in this mouse. Future studies of the DyncHi1^{N2557} mutation should look at the interaction between the mutated light-intermediate chain 1 and pericentrin.

Dynchi T mitration show at the interaction between the mutated light-intermediate chain 1 and pericentrin. In Dynch T^{ACSUVA2557} mice our quantified Western blot stadles indicate increased levels of DYNLT3. We cannot tell whether this light chain lies within the complex or not from our westerns, but our immunoprecipitation experiments reveal that while the interaction of the intermediate chains in the core complex is maintained, (1) the increased DYNLT3 levels were not incorporated into the complete complex, and (2) there is a reduction in binding of the DYNLL light chains. Carrently there is no evidence of a direct interaction between the dynein light intermediate and light chains. Instead the light chains are thought to interact with the intermediate chains within the core complex. It is possible the $Dynch in N^{2257}$ mutation alters the confirmation of the intermediate chains in the complex and this change affects the association of the light chains.

Our knowledge of the roles of the individual cytoplasmic dynein subunits comes from studies in nonmammalian organist and in transfected cell lines, with the exception of the heavy chain, for which four mutant alleles are known in mouse: (1) a gene init with four mutant anders are known in mouse. (1) & gene targeted knock-out; the point mutants (2) Legs at odd angles (Dync1h1^{last}) and (3) Cramping 1 (Dync1h1^{Dar}); (4) a 9 bp cod-ing deletion Sprawling (Dync1h1^{Swi}) (Harada et al., 1998; Hafez-parast et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2007). Homozygous knock-out (null) mice die early in embryogenesis and there is no reported phenotype for heterozygous knock-outs (Harada et al., 1998). In contrast Dync1h1^{Lae}, Dync1h1^{Car1} and Dync1h1^{Sw1} heterozygotes have major defects in the proprioceptive system and locom abnormalities (homozygotes die in embryogenesis/at birth) (Harada et al., 1998; Hafezparast et al., 2003; Kieran et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2007; Banks and Fisher, 2008; Ilieva et al., 2008; Duputs et al., 2009). We note that the phenotype of the Dync1li1^{N2257} mouse strain is different from that of the four heavy chain mutants, particularly with respect to behavior. The heavy chain and Dync1li1^{N2557} mutants all give rise to defects in Golgi reassembly (Hafezparast et al., 2003) and EGF trafficking (Hafezparast et al., 2003; our unpublished data) both of which are known to be dynein-dependent processes. However, heterozy-gous Dyncihi^{Lae'+} mice develop an obvious gait abnormality gous *Dynchri* inne versøp av overegen bestgutikaant de-fects in rotarod and grip-strength, none of which we find in the *Dynclli* 1^{N23570N257} mutants at comparable ages (Hafezparast et al., 2003). There are also significant reductions in axon numbers in the saphenous nerve of $DyncIhI^{loa/+}$ mice and more profound neurophysiological changes in nerve conduction properties com-pared with the Dync1bi1^{N25/DVR2557} mutants (AlQatari et al., 2009). We note that we did not find significant alterations in peripheral nerve branching at E13.5, whereas this was see in both

Banks et al. • Dynein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse

heterozygous and homozygous Dync1h1120 mutants. A deeper comparison of the different subunit mutants at the cellular level would shed more light on the role of specific subunits, versus the entire complex, and here we clearly show phenotypes that have not been described before for in any of the heavy chain mutants. We note that Ort-McKenney, Vallee and colleagues have recently shown altered processivity of dynein with the Dyncihi^{Lau} heavy chain mutation (Ort-McKenney et al., 2010), such a change is unlikely in the Dyncibil^{NZSY} light intermediate chain mutation, which would presumably explain the somewhat different pheno-

types of mutant mice, although this needs to be investigated. Here we have used freely available mouse genetics resource ourcesto take a focused genotype-driven approach, working with a point mutation likely to be more informative than a knock-out, to analyzing one more of the 11 cytoplasmic dynein subunit proteins and have uncovered diverse roles at the level of the wh organism, nervous system and cell. The Dync1B1^{N2SSY} mouse mouse has opened up new avenues for investigation of the roles of cytoplas-mic dynein and its individual components, and gives new insight into the functioning and architecture of the mar naltan nervous system.

References

- Activity Farler, Construction, Construction, China R., Tucci V., Groves M., Nickols CD, Schurn KL, Kendall R, Cader MZ, Talbot K, van Minmen J, Burgusa RW, Brancher S, Martini FE, Koltzmburg M., Green-mith L, Nolan PM, et al. (2009) A novel mouse model with a point Immin L, Ivoan JWA, et al. (2007) A noves mouse mouse mouse mouse mouse mouse mouse mouse mouse with a point mutation in glycyl-HRNA. Ney methates (Garay) has sensory and motor phenotypes and profoundly reduced enzyme activity in homozygota. Dis Mod Mech 2:359–373.
 AlQatari M, Vastari N, Bross-Facer V, Groven M, Greensmith L, Fuher EMC, Koltzenburg M (2003) Mutations of the cytoplasmic dynein heavy chain gene Dyne. In cause a severe sensory neuropathy. J Peripher New Syst 14 (S2):56.
- (Secon Banker G, Goslin K (1998) Culturing nerve cells. Cambridge, MA: Massa-
- Jianker G, Goain K (1998) Culturing nerve cells. Cambridge, Mr.C. Masachuseth Innibitute of Technology. Banks GT, Fisher EM (2008) Cytoplasmic dynain could be key to understanding neurodagneration. Genome Biol 9:214. Barkus C, McHugh SJ, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH, Rawlins IN, Bannorman DM (2010) Hippocampal NMDA receptors and anxiety: at the interface between cognition and emotion. Eur J Pharmacol 62:649–56. Benson CJ, Xie J, Wenmie JA, Prisz MP, Hens JM, Wehh MJ, Snyder PM (2000) Historenzelinizen G DEGC/BEC Loubrait form Mich acuted drive.

- naon CJ, Ate J, Weimme JA, Price MP, Homa JM, Weihb MJ, Snyder PM (2002) Heteronultimers of DEG/ENAC unbains form H-t-gated char-nels in mouse sensory neurons 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:2338–2343. di A, Thörnqvist PO, Hendrick AG, Finn R, Fitzgerald K, McCaffroy MW (2001) The small GTPase RabAA interacts with the central region of cy-toplasmic dynain light intermediate chain-1. Biochem Biophys Res Com-mun 281:1141–1153. doi: Total J. Beth XC: Endenmi C. Yana-Baser S. End. D. Barrick CA. Bidli A. Th

- toplasmic dynain light intermediate chain-L. Biochem Biophys Res Communa 281:1414-153.
 Garim-Todd L, Bath KG, Fulgenzi G, Yanpallessar S, Jing D, Barrick CA, Becker J, Buckley H, Dorsey SG, Lee FS, Tassnolla L (2009) Endogenous truncated Trikl: Th receptor regulatin neuronal complexity and Trikl binase receptor function in vivo. J Neurosci 29:678-685.
 Chen XJ, Levedakou EN, Millen KJ, Wellmann HL, Soliven B, Popko B (2007) Proprioceptive sensory neuropathy in mice with a mutation in the cytoplasmic dynain heavy chain 1 gmc. J Neuronci 27:14515-14524.
 Centz G, Harding B, Copp AJ (2001) Neuronal migration defects in the Dreher (Lanz Ia) mutant mouse role of disorders of the glial limiting membrane. Cereb Certex 11:488-505.
 Deacon RM, Penny C, Rawlins IN (2003) Effects of medial prefrontal cortex cytotoxic lasions in mice. Behav Beain Res 139:139-155.
 Defreis JC, Carvois MC, Thomas EA (1978) Response to 30 generations of adection for open-field activity in laboratory mice. Behav Genet 82-13.
 Defreis JC, Karpova A, Mikhaylova M, Zodonova I, Kongi J, Landwehr M, Kreutz M, Smalla KH, Bichler K, Landgraf P, Reismer C, Gondelinger EM, Zundrastter W, Spilker C, Soidenbecher CJ, Ganeddinger EM, Zundrastter W, Spilker C, Soidenbecher CJ, Ganeddinger EM, Kenetz M, Smalla KH, Bichler K, Landgraf P, Reismer C, Gondelinger EM, Zundrastter W, Spilker C, Soidenbecher CJ, Ganeddinger EM, Kreutz M, Smalla KH, Wichler K, Landgraf P, Reismer CJ, Bonckern TM, Zundrastter W, Spilker C, Soidenbecher CJ, Ganeddinger EM, King ME, Kinder K, Landgraf P, Reismer CJ, Ganeddinger EM, Kreutz M, Smalla KH, Wichler K, Landgraf P, Reismer CJ, Ganeddinger EM, Kreutz M, Smalla KH, Wichler K, Landgraf P, Reismer CJ, Bonckern TM, Zundrastter W, Spilker C, Soidenbecher CJ, Ganeddinger EM, Kreutz M, Smalla KH, Wichler K, Landgraf P, Reismer CJ, Bonckern TM, Zundrastter W, Spilker C, Soidenbecher CJ, Ganeddinger EM, Kreutz M, Marton V, Woodman PG (2007) Dynein is

L Nourosci., April 6, 2011 • 31(14):5483-5494 • 5493

- r sorting and the morphogenesis of early endosomes. Nat Cell Biol 9:113-120
- Bed 9:113-120. pairs L, Fergani, Braunstein KE, Eschbach J, Holl N, Rene F, Gonzatez De Aguilar JL, Zoerner B, Schwalenstocker B, Ludolph AC, Loeffler JP (2009) Mice with a mutation in the dynein heavy chain 1 gene display sensory neuropathy but lack motor neuron disease. Exp Neurol 2007 102 102 rich A. Carter AP, Reck-Peterson SL, Vale RD (2007) Fe
- Gemerich A, Carter AP, Reck-Peterson SL, Vale RD (2007) Force-induced bidrectional stepping of optoplasmic dynamic. Cdl 31:452-365.
 Gideon P, Stählberg F, Thomasen C, Gjerris F, Sørensen PS, Henriksen O (1994) Cerebrospinal fluid flow and production in patients with normal pressure hydrocephalus attuicid by MRL Neuroenciology 82:210-215.
 Goldwater DS, Pavilder C, Hunter RG, Bloss EB, Hof PR, McEwen ES, Neuroscience PA, Neurosci A, State S, Neurosci A, State S, State S Morrison IH (2009) Structural and functional alterations to rat me-dial prefrontal cortex following chronic restraint stress and recovery. Neuroscience 164:798-808.
- Neuroscience 164/798–808.
 Ha J, Lo KW, Myers KR, Carr TM, Hummi MK, Rascul BA, Segal RA, Pfinter KK (2008) A neuron-papelific cytoplasmic dynein isoform preferentially transports TrkB signaling endosomen. J Cell Biol 181:1027–1039.
 Haferparan M, Klocke R, Rahrberg C, Marquard A, Ahmad-Annuar A, Bowen S, Lali G, Witherden AS, Hummerich H, Nicholon S, Morgan C, Chang D, Baler M, Marcha C, Lang M, Bale S, Lang M, Chang M, Sang A, Sang M, Chang M, Lang M, Chang M, Lang M, Lang
- PJ, Orzager R, Prinsfey JV, Averill S, King VR, Ball S, Peters J, T T, Yamamoto A, Hiraoka Y, et al. (2003) Mutations in dynein i motor neuron degeneration to defects in retrograde transport. Scie 200409. link
- motor neuron degeneration to detecta in retrograde transport. Science 300-808–812. 327, Perloon E, Willis D, Zheng JQ, Massarwa F, Huerta JI, Koltzenburg M, Kohler M, van-Minnen J, Twiss JL, Fainzilber M. (2003). Azoplaamic rtins enable retrograde injury signaling in lesioned nerve. Neuron 40.1095-1104
- Harada A, Takai Y, Kanai Y, Tanaka Y, Nonaka S, Hirokawa N (1998) Golgi ome dispersion in cells lacking cytop J Call Biol 141-51-59.
- otsune S, Fleck MW, Gambello MJ, Bix GJ, Chen A, Clark GD, Ledbetter Hirotanne S, Fleck MW, Gambello MJ, Bit GJ, Linen A, Laire GJ, Konsener DH, McElain CJ, Wynnhaw-Boris A (1998) Graded reduction of Pafahlbl (Lin1) activity results in neuronal migration defects and early embryonic lethality. Nat Genet 19:333–339.
 Hook P, Vallee RB (2006) The dynein family at a glanos. J Cell Sci 119:4369–4371.
 Hughes SM, Vaughan KT, Herskovits JS, Vallee RB (1995) Molecular anal-wir 4a: extendamic dynein latit intermediate chain reveals homology to the sense of the sense o

- Haghen SM, Vaughan KT, Herskovin JS, Vallee RB (1995). Molecular anal-yni of a cytoplasmic dyenis light intermediate chain reveals homology to a family of ATPanea. J Cell Sci 108:17–24.
 Hew HS, Yaramasha K, Malfamur S, Kakinohana O, Yalah T, Marnala M, Cleveland DW (2008) Mutant dynein (Loa) triggers propriocoptive atom loss that extends survival only in the SODI ALS model with highest motor neuron death. Proc Nail Acad Sci U S A 105:12999–12604.
 Jeffrey RA, Ching TH, O'Dell TJ, Martin KC (2009) Activity-dependent an-choring of importin alpha at the syrapse involves regulated binding to the cytoplasmic tail of the NR1-1a subunit of the NMDA receptor. J Neurosci 29:15613–15620.
- 29:15613-15620. Ke
- 29:1503-3-15620 ayn DA, Tan G, Poirier K, Huang GJ, Siebold C, Cleak J, Oliver PL, Fray M, Harvey RJ, Molniz Z, Pitton MC, Dear N, Valdar W, Brown SD, Davies KE, Rawinn JN, Gowan NJ, Nolan P, Chelly J, Fints J (2007) Mutations in alpha-tubulin cause abromal neuronal migration in mice and lissen-cephaly in humans. Cell 128:453–57.
- eephaly in humann. Gell 122:45–57. Kieran D, Hafezparast M, Bohnert S, Dick JR, Martin J, Schiavo G, Fuher EM, Greenmith L (2005). A mutation in dynein reacues azonal transport defects and extends the bliespan of ALS mice. J Cell Biol 169:561–567. Kolzamburg M, Stucky CL, Lewin GR (1997). Receptive properties of mouse sensory nearons innervating hairy skin. J Neurophysiol 78:1841–1830. Kudo T, Fujii T, Ikogami S, Inokuchi K, Takapama Y, Richaer Y, Nishhara S, Toppyschi A, Takahashi S, Takhuana K, Yuana S, Narimatua H (2007). Mice lacking alphal 3-fucosyltransferase IX demonstrate disappearance of Lewis x structure is brain and increased anxiety-like behaviors. Glyco-biology 17:1–9.
- of LOWE 2 HPUGHER IN DPAIN AND INFORMED BEAMY SAME CHARMONS, SUPAR-biology 17-1-9. Kuta A, Deng W, Morni El-Kadi A, Banka GT, Hafeparant M, Pfiater KK, Fisher EM (2010) Mouse cytoplasmic dynamic intermediate chanic idea ification of new isoforms, alternative splicing and tissue distribution of transcripts. PLoS One 5x11682.
- ususcripta, PLOS UNE SETIOG. Lang E, Song B, Davidson W, MacKenzie A, Smith N, McCaig CD, Harmar AJ,Shen S (2006) Expression of the human PACI receptor leads to dose-dependent hydrocephalus-related abnormalities in mice. J Clin Invest 116:1924–1934.

5494 - J. Neurosci., April 6, 2011 - 31(14):5483-5494

- Levy JR, Holzbaur EL (2006) Cytoplasmic dynein/dynactin function and dynfanction in motor neurons. Int J Dev Neurosci 24:103–111. Mahjoub MR, Xie Z, Stearna T (2010) Cep120 is asymmetrically localized to
- the daughter centriole and is essential for centriole assembly. J Cell Biol 191:331-346.
- 191:331-346. Miler LC, Crabbe JC (2008) Three marine anxiety models: results from multiple inbred strain comparisons. Genes Brain Behav 7:496–505. Miyoshi K, Onishi K, Asanuma M, Miyazaki I, Dize-Corrales FJ, Ognwa N (2006) Employesic expression of perioentrin suggests universal roles in editogenesis. Dev Genes Evol 216:537–542.
- chtogenou. Der Genes Evol 21(253)-542.
 Nolan PM, Peters J, Striven M, Rogers D, Hagan J, Spurr N, Gray IC, Vinor L, Brooker D, Whitehill E, Washbourne R, Hough T, Geenaway S, Hewitt M, Lia X, McGermack S, Fickford K, Selley R, Wells C, Tymowka-Lalame Z, et al. (2000) A systematic, genome-wide, phenotype-driven mutagenesis programme for gene function studies in the mouse. Nat Genet 25:440-443.
- Genet 25:440–43. Ori-McKenney KM, Xu J, Grous SP, Vallee RE (2010) A cytoplasmic dynein tail mutation impairs motor processivity J. Nat Gell Biol 12:1228–1234. Palmer KJ, Hughes H, Stephens DJ (2009) Specificity of cytoplasmic dy-nein suburitis in discrete membrane-trafficking steps. Mol Biol Gell 20:2885-2899.
- Pascual R, Zamora-León SP (2007) Effects of neonatal maternal deprivation and postwaring environmental sectors and postwar Icaa A, Zamon-Leon W (2007) Enecutor resonauti maternia deprovation and postwaning mivironmental complexity on dendritic morphology of prefrontal pyramidal neurons in the rat. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars) 67:471–479.
- Paylor R, Hirotsune S, Gambello MJ, Yuva-Paylor L, Crawley JN, Wynahaw Paytor K, Hirothune S, Gambello MJ, Uwa-Paytor K, Czawicy JN, Wymhaw-Boria A (1999). Impaired learning and motor behavior in heteroxygous Pathal b1 (Lin1) mutant mice. Learn Mem 6:521–537. Perry IB, Fainzilber M (2009) Nuclear transport factors in neuronal func-tion. Semin Cell Dev Biol 20:600–606. Phinter KK, Sulata MW, Dillman JF 3rd, Terre E, Lye RJ (1996a). Identifica-tion. Seminer MW, Dillman JF 3rd, Terre E, Lye RJ (1996a). Identifica-
- tion and developmental regulation of a neuron-specific subunit of cyto-
- non and developmental regulation of a neurosciptumic dynamic repro-plannic dynamic. Mol Biol (2017:331-343).
 Pinter KK, Salata MW, Dilman JF 3rd, Vaughan KT, Vallee RB, Torre E, Lye ID (1996b) Differential expression and phosphorylation of the 74-kDa intermediate chain of cytoplasmic dynamic nucleurod neurons and glia. J Biol Chem 271:1087–1084.
- J Biol Chem 271:1687–1634.
 Pfiner KK, Fisher EM, Gibson IR, Haya TS, Holzhuur EL, McIntosh JR, Porter ME, Schroor TA, Vaughan KT, Witman GB, King SM, Valler RB (2005) Cytoplasmic dynein normendatur. J Cell Biol 171:411–413.
 Pfinter KK, Sah PR, Harmserich H, Ikua Ar, Cotton J, Annuer AA, King SM,

Banks et al. • Dynein Light Intermediate Chain Mutant Mouse

- Bankert Z. + Opnen Light Intermediate Guin Mutant Moze
 Fisher EM (2006) Genetic analysis of the cytoplasmic dynain subunit families. PLoS Genet Zet.
 Quasalid MM, Hugill A, Dear N, Vicor L, Wells S, Hormer E, Fuller S, Weedon J, McMath H, Woodman P, Edwards D, Gampbell D, Rodger S, Carey I, Roberth A, Glemister P, Lalannez Z, Parkinson N, Coghill EL, McKeone R, et al. (2004) A gane-driven ENU-based approach to generating an alldic aerics in any gane. Marmo Genome 15:2835–391.
 Bogers DC, Tasher EM, Breven SD, Peters J, Hunter AJ, Martin JE (1997) Behavioral and functional analysis of mouse phenotype SHIBPA, a pro-posed protocol for comprehensive phenotype assessment. Marmo Ge-nome & 2711–713.
 Rogers DC, Peters J, Martin JE, Ball S, Nichelsen SJ, Witherden AS, Hafez-paratt M, Latcham J, Robinson TL, Quilter CA, Faher EM (2001) SHIBPA, a protocol for behavioral assessment: walidation for longitudinal study of neurological dynfunction in micro. Neurosci Lett 306:497–92.
 Salata MW, Dilman F 3rd, Lye RJ, Prister KK (2001) Growth factor rega-lation of cytoplasmic dynesin intermodiate chain subaumit expression pre-ording neurite extension. J Neuroaci Re 55:608–416.
 Satoh D, Sato D, Tasyama T, Saito M, Ohkara H, Rolls MM, Ishikawa F, Uemura T (2008) Spatial control of branching within dendritic arborn by dynein-dependent transport of BabS-endosemen. Nat Cell Biol 10:1164–1171.
 Soziok KN, Hall BL, Wike SA, Klemenhagen KC, Fuji Kuriyama Y, Chenh A, Hen B, Shapa A (2009) Kennel JM, Kennel MC, Luin K, Chenha J, Hen B, Shapa A (2009) Kennel MC, Luin K, Schan A, Hen B, Shapa A (2009) Kennel MC, Kennel MC, Luin K, Schan A, Hen B, Shapa A (2009) Kennel MC, Kennel MC, Luin K, Schan A, Hen B, Shapa A (2009) Kennel MC, Kennel MC, Luin K, Kohan A, Hen B, Shapa A (2009) Kennel MC, Kennel MC, Luin K, Kohan A, Hen B, Shapa A (2009) Kennel MC, Hen B, Kennel MC, Luin K, Kennel MC, Hen B, Kennel MC, Kennel MC, Hen B, Kennel MC, Ken

- 10:1164–1171.
 Scobie KN, Hall BL, Wilke SA, Klemenhagen KC, Fuji-Kuriyama Y, Ghosh A, Hen R, Sahay A (2009) Kruppel-like factor 9 in necessary for late-phase neuronal maturation in the developing dentate gyrus and during adult hippocampal neurogeneonic 1. J. Neurosci 29:9875–9887.
 Thompson KR, Otis KO, Chen DY, Zhao Y, O'Dell TJ, Martin KC (2004) Synapse to nucleus signaling during long-term synaptic platfolicity a role for the classical active nuclear import pathway. Neuron 44:997–1009.
 Tasi JW, Brenner KH, Valles KB (2007). Daal subcollular roles for LISI and domain to midd neuronal minimism in two heating times. Net Neuronci.
- in in radial neuronal migration in live brain tissue. Nat Neuro 10-970-979
- Tynns SH, Purobit A, Donsey SJ, Vallee RB (2000) Light intermediate chain I define a functional subfraction of cytoplasmic dynain which binds to pericartine. J Biol Chem. 275:32763-32768.
 Zhang J, Li S, Muaa S, Zhou H, Xiang X (2009) Dynein light intermediate
- di chain in Aspergillus nidulars is coential for the interaction between heavy and intermediate chains. J Biol Chem 284:34760-34768. Zh